

# The sites of extreme turbulent dissipation in the diffuse interstellar medium: structure & properties

Georgios Momferatos

#### ▶ To cite this version:

Georgios Momferatos. The sites of extreme turbulent dissipation in the diffuse interstellar medium : structure & properties. Galactic Astrophysics [astro-ph.GA]. Université Paris Sud - Paris XI, 2015. English. NNT : 2015PA112020 . tel-01249578

### HAL Id: tel-01249578 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01249578

Submitted on 4 Jan 2016

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





## UNIVERSITÉ PARIS-SUD

École Doctorale 127 - Astronomie & Astrophysique d'Île de France Laboratoire d'Étude du Rayonnement et de la Matière dans l'Astrophysique Observatoire de Paris

DISCIPLINE : PHYSIQUE

### Thèse de doctorat

Soutenue le 23/1/2015 par

## Georgios Momferatos

### The sites of extreme turbulent dissipation in the diffuse interstellar medium: structure & properties

Thierry Passot : rapporteur Wolfram Schmidt : rapporteur Katia Ferrière : examinateur Sebastien Galtier : président du jury Pierre Lesaffre : directeur Guillaume Pineau des Forêts : co-directeur Edith Falgarone: invitée Andrea Ciardi : invité ποταμοῖσι τοῖσιν αὐτοῖσιν ἑμβαίνουσιν ἕτερα καὶ ἕτερα ὕδατα ἐπιῥῥεῖ· καὶ ψυχαὶ δὲ ἁπὸ τῶν ὑγρῶν ἀναθυμιῶνται.

Ηρακλείτειοι αφορισμοί, 12Β.

Στην μνήμη της μητέρας μου.

#### Aknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank Pierre Lesaffre, Edith Falgarone and Guillaume Pineau des Forêts for their invaluable help and support during the writing of this thesis. I am also grateful to Maryvone Gerin, director of the Laboratoire de Radioastronomie and Michel Pérault, director of LERMA and my colleagues in the laboratory for providing an excellent working environment. I would also like to thank my family: my father Kostas and my sisters Amalia, Myrto and Eleni for their moral support. Next, I would like to thank Nicolas and Nadia Behr for their invaluable support during the most difficult parts of the writing of the thesis. Last but not least, I would like to thank my good friends Tarina Laspopoulou and Cédric Goubert for being there for me.

#### Abstract

Turbulent energy dissipation is a key process in the cold interstellar medium (ISM), not only on the road to star formation but also as a source of suprathermal energy able to open new chemical routes, otherwise inactive at the low gas temperature. Such routes are required, though, to explain the high abundance of species such as  $CH^+$  and  $SH^+$  observed in the ISM. In this context, the space-time intermittency of energy dissipation is particularly relevant because it drives injection of suprathermal energy in the ISM locally far above the average level. The detailed characteristics of the spatial distribution and the geometrical properties of the energy dissipation rate can provide valuable inputs to chemical models.

We study them here with the aid of direct numerical simulations with unprecedented dedication to resolve the dissipation processes numerically. As the sonic Mach number in the diffuse interstellar medium can take values in a wide range, we bracket the possible physics by considering two categories of decaying turbulence models. On the incompressible extreme, we perform pseudo-spectral simulations of viscous and resistive magnetohydrodynamics, with a particular emphasis on ambipolar diffusion due the ion-neutral drift. On the compressible extreme we consider grid-based (Godunov) simulations of isothermal resistive and viscous magnetohydrodynamics where our focus is on numerical dissipation.

Our incompressible simulations show that ambipolar diffusion leads to force-free magnetic fields at small scales. As a result, the typical scale of ion-neutral friction heating is displaced to large scales in the inertial range, much greater than dimensional analysis would predict. The structures of high dissipation are spatially coherent sheets, each with a single nature of dissipation (viscous, ohmic or ambipolar). We reveal their statistical scaling laws and compute their intermittency exponents.

We show that compressible simulations are subject to a lot of numerical dissipation: in our set up, less than half of the total dissipation is accounted for by the physical terms, the rest is produced by the numerical scheme. We design a method to recover locally the energy lost in the scheme and we use it to examine the sheet-like structure of the dissipation field as in our incompressible simulations. We show that numerical dissipation prevents us to assess the nature of dissipative structures. For instance, although we confirm previous results that physical dissipation in shearing sheets rapidly dominates over shocks, the balance could be reversed if numerical dissipation were shock dominated.

Finally, we examine the efficiency of various observational tracers to characterize the structures of high dissipation. In particular, we find that increments of molecular line centroid velocity or of polarization Stokes parameters correlate very well on the plane of the sky with specific structures of high dissipation. We also compute the intermittency exponents measured for these tracers and find they span a broad range of possible values. At last, we mix the Fourier phases to demonstrate the crucial role of coherence in producing the filamentary structure of observable maps of increments such as recently produced by the Planck collaboration.

## Contents

1	The	diffuse interstellar medium	<b>11</b>
	1.1	Components	11
	1.2	Phases	12
	1.3	Classification of clouds	13
	1.4	Energy content	14
	1.5	Chemistry in the diffuse ISM	14
		1.5.1 Molecules in the diffuse ISM	14
		1.5.2 Energy dissipation and molecular chemistry	15
		1.5.3 Different natures of dissipation	16
	1.6	Models of turbulent dissipation	17
<b>2</b>	Turl	ulence	19
	2.1	Introduction	19
	2.2	Governing equations	21
		2.2.1 Incompressible models	21
		2.2.2 Compressible models	28
	2.3	Statistical theory	31
		2.3.1 Statistical formulation of the turbulence problem	31
		2.3.2 Ensemble averaging	32
		2.3.3 Moments	32
		2.3.4 Statistical symmetries	33
		2.3.5 Structure functions	34
		2.3.6 The ergodic hypothesis	34
		2.3.7 Kinematic relations	34
		2.3.8 Spectral quantities	36
		2.3.9 Dynamical relations	37
	2.4	Phenomenology	39
		2.4.1 Incompressible hydrodynamic turbulence: the Kolmogorov [1941a]-Obukhov [1941]	
		theory (K41) $\ldots$	39
		2.4.2 Incompressible magnetohydrodynamic turbulence	41
		2.4.3 Compressible turbulence	41
	2.5	Intermittency	42
		2.5.1 Self-similarity and intermittency	42
		2.5.2 The refined similarity hypothesis	44
		2.5.3 Scaling properties of the dissipation field	45
		2.5.4 Models of intermittency	46
3	Nun	erical Methods	53
	3.1	Spectral Methods	53
		3.1.1 Principles	53
		3.1.2 Dealiasing	54
		3.1.3 Time integration	55

		3.1.4 The code ANK	56
		3.1.5 Resolution and convergence	57
	3.2	Godunov Methods	58
		3.2.1 Conservative form of the governing equations	59
		3.2.2 Principles of the method	60
		3.2.3 The Riemann problem	61
		3.2.4 Riemann solvers for magnetohydrodynamics	62
		3.2.5 The code DUMSES	63
<b>4</b>	Ene	rgy dissipation in ambipolar diffusion magnetohydrodynamics	67
	4.1	Abstract	67
	4.2	Introduction	67
	4.3	The equations	69
		4.3.1 Ambipolar drift	69
		4.3.2 Incompressible MHD	69
		4.3.3 Reynolds numbers	70
		4.3.4 Lengths scales associated with AD	71
	4.4	The simulations	72
		4.4.1 Method	72
		4.4.2 Initial conditions	$72^{-1}$
		4 4 3 Parameters	73
		4.4.4 Power-spectra	74
	45	The dissipation field	76
	1.0	4.5.1 Total dissipation	76
		4.5.2 Probability distribution function	76
		4.5.3 Power-spectrum	77
		4.5.4 Spatial structure	79
	4.6	Intermittency and structures of high discipation	81
	4.0	4.6.1 Structure functions	81
		4.6.2 Extraction of structures	85
		4.6.2 Comparison with UP10	87
		4.0.5 Comparison with OR10	01
	47	Concluding remarks	90
	4.1		91
5	Ene	rev dissipation in compressible turbulence	97
0	5.1	Introduction	97
	5.2	Physical dissipation in DUMSES	98
	5.3	Time evolution	99
	$5.0 \\ 5.4$	The density field	102
	5.5	The dissipation field	102
	0.0		100
6	Con	aparison with observations	109
	6.1	Introduction	109
	6.2	Qualitative link with structures of high dissipation	111
	6.3	Quantitative link with structures of high dissipation	112
	6.4	Intermittency exponents: importance of initial conditions	118
	6.5	Importance of coherence	121
		-	
Α	Nu	nerical dissipation in Godunov methods	131

## List of Tables

$1.1 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.3$	Classification of interstellar cloud types (from Snow and McCall [2006]), see text for notation. Energy densities in the local interstellar medium (from Draine [2011]) Comparison of molecular column densities for different types of shocks (J-type and C-type) at the same level of energy dissipation (units: $cm^{-2}$ )	13 14 17
4.1	Parameters of the simulations. N: linear resolution, L: integral length scale at the peak of dissipation (pd), $\lambda$ : Taylor microscale (pd), $l_d$ : dissipative scale (pd), $Re_{\lambda}$ : Taylor microscale Reynolds number $U\lambda Re$ (pd), $Re$ : kinetic Reynolds number, $Re_m$ : magnetic Reynolds num-	
4.9	ber, $Re_a$ : AD Reynolds number	74
4.2	sets of points having a value of the total dissipation two standard deviations above mean value.	90
4.3	Characteristics of various components of the ISM. Dimensions are recovered from our simulations by assuming $L \simeq 2.5$ , $\ell_a^* \simeq 0.6$ and $u_0 \simeq \sqrt{3}.U_a$ where $U_a$ is the line-of-sight r.m.s. Alfvén velocity. The quantity $\gamma \rho_i$ is computed by assuming the ions are essentially C <sup>+</sup> ions with a number density $n_i = 10^{-4} n_{\rm H}$ .	95
5.1	Parameters of compressible numerical simulations. N: linear resolution. $M_s$ : rms sonic Mach number. $M_a$ : rms Alfvénic Mach number. $\nu$ : viscosity coefficient (in units $l_0 u_{\rm r.m.s.}$ with $L_{\rm box} = 2\pi l_0$ and $u_{\rm r.m.s.}$ is the <i>initial</i> r.m.s. velocity). $\eta$ : physical resistivity. Re: kinetic Reynolds number. $Re_m$ : magnetic Reynolds number	98
A.1	Adjusted viscosity of shocks with constant $\nu$ , constant $\mu$ or no viscosity at all. In the case without viscosity, it is the adjusted constant $\nu_f$ which is given, as it fits the shock profile much better. The percentages in parenthesis give the difference between the total irreversible heating as recovered from the method 1 and the theoretical one.	133

## List of Figures

1.1	Comparison of heating rates and temperature in two different types of shock: J-shock and C-shock. The x axis is the distance from the first integration point	15
1.2	Abundances of $OH, H_2O, HCO^+$ and CO inside a J-shock	16
2.1	Examples of turbulent flows. <i>Top left</i> : Classical laboratory experiment of homogeneous isotropic turbulence generated behind a grid [Corke et al., 1982]. <i>Top right</i> : Phytoplankton bloom reveals turbulent ocean currents, an example of geophysical turbulence [Signorini and McClain, 2009]. <i>Bottom left</i> : Turbulence in the interstellar medium as revealed by the gradient of linear polarization [Gaensler et al., 2011]. <i>Bottom right</i> : Current density magnitude in a high resolution numerical experiment of homogeneous isotropic magnetohydrodynamic turbulence [G. Momferratos, unpublished].	20
2.2	Streamwise velocity component recorded by a hot-wire anemometer in a classical wind tunnel experiment of homogeneous isotropic turbulence behind a grid [Sreenivasan, 1991]	32
2.3	Schematic representation of the energy cascade process (from Ecke [2005])	40
2.4	Viscous dissipation rate along a fixed line from a $1024^3$ incompressible magnetohydrodynamics simulation with initial condition based on the ABC flow. The snapshot shown is at the temporal peak of total (ohmic + viscous) dissipation [G. Momferratos, unpublished]	42
2.5	A realization of one-dimensional Brownian motion. "Wiener process zoom". Licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 3.0 via Wikimedia Commons	43
2.6	Pdf of the longitudinal velocity increment from a high resolution incompressible hydrodynam- ical simulation for various separations $r_n = 2^n \Delta x$ , $\Delta x$ being the distance between grid points in the simulations. (from Ishihara et al. [2009])	44
2.7	Comparison of experimental data with the predictions of the structure function scaling expo- nents of various intermittency models (from Anselmet et al. [2001]).	51
3.1	Absolute value of the error in the conservation of kinetic energy and kinetic helicity in incom- pressible ideal hydrodynamics.	57
3.2	Absolute value of the error in the conservation of total energy, cross-helicity and magnetic helicity in incompressible ideal magnetohydrodynamics.	58
3.3	Energy spectra from two identical hydrodynamic simulations, one well-resolved with $k_{max}l_d = 2.0$ (black line) and another under-resolved with $k_{max}l_d = 0.5$ (red dashed line)	59
3.4	The wave fan	62
3.5	One-dimensional shock test results: DUMSES with Lax-Friedrichs solver. <i>Blue</i> : $\rho$ . <i>Green</i> : $B_y$ . <i>Red</i> : $v_x$ . <i>Cyan</i> : $v_y$ . To be compared with Kim et al. [1999], figure 1a (reproduced as figure 3.6 here)	64
3.6	Tilted shock test results: figure 1a from Kim et al. [1999]. Upper left: $\rho$ . Upper middle: $B_y$ . Upper right: $B_z$ . Lower left: $v_x$ . Lower middle: $v_y$ . Lower right: $v_z$	64
3.7	Tilted shock test results: DUMSES with Lax-Friedrichs solver. Upper left: $\rho$ . Upper middle: $B_y$ . Upper right: $B_z$ . Lower left: $v_x$ . Lower middle: $v_y$ . Lower right: $v_z$	65

4.1	Compensated kinetic (top) and magnetic (bottom) energy spectra for OT runs 10, 12 and 14 at the temporal peak of dissipation. The assumed limits of the inertial and dissipation ranges are shown in dashed vertical lines. The vertical blue and red dashed-dotted lines with square symbols correspond to the expected AD critical wavenumber $k_a$ (see equation (4.5)) in runs 12 and 14, respectively
4.2	Time evolution of volume integrated dissipation rates for the OT runs 10, 12 and 14. Solid lines show the Ohmic plus viscous dissipation which we use to define peak dissipation
4.3	Log-normal core and power-law tail fit for the pdf of the total dissipation (Run 12 AD - OT). The core follows a log-normal distribution with mean $\mu_l \simeq -4.27$ and standard deviation $\sigma_l \simeq 1.03$ while the tail follows a power-law with exponent $-\tau \simeq -2.61$ . Vertical lines show the mean value (red) and thresholds located at 1 (black), 2 (green) and 3 (blue) standard deviations above the mean value.
4.4 4.5	Cumulative probability density function of the total dissipation for run 12 (AD - OT) 78 Compensated dissipation spectra for run 12 (AD-OT, $Re_a = 100$ ). Blue solid line: AD dissipation, red dashed line: Ohmic dissipation, green dotted line: viscous dissipation. We plot $ke_{\epsilon}(k)$ in a log-lin plot, so that the area under the curve over any interval shows directly the amount of power inside this interval. We mark the position of the maximum value of $ke_{\epsilon_a}$ , at $k = k_a^* = 2\pi/\ell_a^*$ , and the position of $k = k_a$
4.6	Power spectra of $\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b}$ for high resolution runs 10,12 and 14. The field becomes force-free at small scales when the strength of the AD is increased
4.7	Color maps of a slice of the dissipation fields, run 10 (MHD - OT). Red: Ohmic dissipation, green: viscous dissipation. All snapshots are taken at the peak of dissipation
4.8	Same as Figure 4.7, Run 12, (AD - OT, $Re_a = 100$ ) with blue: ambipolar diffusion heating 80
4.9	Same as Figure 4.7, Run 14, (AD - OT, $Re_a = 10$ )
4.10	Compensated plot $S_z^{\pm}(r)/r$ for the OT runs 10,12 and 14
4.11	ESS velocity field structure function exponents for ABC runs 9-11-13
4.12	ESS velocity field structure function exponents for OT runs 10-12-14
4.13	ESS magnetic field structure functions for ABC runs 9-11-13.
4.14	ESS magnetic field structure functions exponents for OT runs 10-12-14
4.15	Inertial range structures extracted from the dataset corresponding to the peak of dissipation of Run 12 (AD - OT). They are defined as connected sets of points having values of the total dissipation three standard deviations above the mean value. Each little sphere has a 2-pixels diameter, ie: about the size of the viscous (or equivalently Ohmic) dissipation length 860
4.16 4.17	One of the largest structures extracted from run 12
4.18	Scaling exponents for structures extracted based on the Ohmic dissipation (red circles), com- parison with results of UR10 (blue squares). Upper panel: Inertial range exponents for our Run 10 (MHD-OT) compared with the corresponding Run III of UR10. Lower panel: Dis-
	sipative range exponents for the same runs. Thick error bars are three-sigma error brackets. Thin red error bars estimate the systematics related to the choice of the boundaries of the inertial and dissipative ranges as well as the bin size for the definition of the pdfs: see text for details
4.19	We look at the subset of pixels above a given threshold of total dissipation in run 12 (AD-OT, $Re_a = 100$ ) at the dissipation peak. For each value of the threshold, we plot the fraction of the total energy dissipation on this subset versus the volume of this subset (black curve). We also give the fraction of the total dissipation on this subset for each nature of dissipation (red:
4.20	Comparison of scaling exponents with three-sigma error bars between pure MHD (red circles) and AD MHD (green squares $Re_a = 100$ and blue triangles $Re_a = 10$ ) - ABC Runs 9,11,13 . 92
4.21	Same as Figure 4.20 but for the OT Runs 10,12,14
4.22	Scatter plots of the ratio $\varepsilon_o/\varepsilon_t$ versus the ratio $\varepsilon_a/\varepsilon_t$ for AD-OT runs 12 and 14 94

5.1	Time evolution of the ratio of kinetic to magnetic energy $E_k/E_m$ . Time is in units of $l_0/u_{\rm r.m.s.}$ . Blue: OT initial condition $M_s = 0$ (incompressible). Green: OT initial condition $M_s = 1$ . Red: OT initial condition $M_s = 4$ . Dashed lines: same colors for ABC initial condition	99
5.2	Time evolution of total physical and numerical heating rates. Blue: $M_s = 0$ (incompressible). Green: $M_s = 1$ . Red: $M_s = 4$ . Solid lines: total heating rate $-\dot{E}_{tot}$ (see text). Dashed lines: physical heating rate $\langle \varepsilon_{phys} \rangle$ . Diamonds: total heating rate $\langle \varepsilon_{corr} \rangle$ as recovered by method 1 of the appendix (see text). Left: ABC initial condition. Right: OT initial condition.	100
5.3	Time evolution of the ratio of viscous to total physical dissipation rates $\langle \varepsilon_v \rangle / (\langle \varepsilon_v \rangle + \langle \varepsilon_o \rangle)$ . Blue: $M_s = 0$ (incompressible). Green: $M_s = 1$ . Red: $M_s = 4$ . Solid lines: OT initial conditions. Dashed lines: ABC initial conditions.	101
5.4	Time evolution of the ratio of dilatational to total viscous dissipation rates (vortical plus dilatational) $\langle \varepsilon_{vc} \rangle / (\langle \varepsilon_{vc} \rangle + \langle \varepsilon_{v\omega} \rangle)$ . Green: $M_s = 1$ . Red: $M_s = 4$ . Solid lines: OT initial conditions. Dashed lines: ABC initial conditions.	102
5.5	Density cuts for runs 1-4. Top left: Run 1 ( $M_s = 1$ , ABC). Top right: Run 2 ( $M_s = 1$ , OT). Bottom left: Run 3 ( $M_s = 4$ , ABC). Bottom right: Run 4 ( $M_s = 4$ , OT).	103
5.6	Column density (i.e. density field integrated over the whole cube) maps for runs 1-4. Top left: Run 1 ( $M_s = 1$ , ABC). Top right: Run 2 ( $M_s = 1$ , OT). Bottom left: Run 3 ( $M_s = 4$ , ABC). Bottom right: Run 4 ( $M_s = 4$ , OT).	104
5.7	Pdfs of the density and column density. Green: OT initial condition, $M_s = 4$ . Red: ABC initial condition, $M_s = 1$ . Cyan: ABC initial condition, $M_s = 4$ . Left: Pdf of the density. Right: Pdf of the column density.	104
5.8	Dissipation color-maps for runs 1-4, integrated over 1/64th of the box. Red: Ohmic dissipation. Green: viscous dissipation. Top left: Run 1 ( $M_s = 1$ , ABC). Top right: Run 2 ( $M_s = 1$ , OT). Bottom left: Run 3 ( $M_s = 4$ , ABC). Bottom right: Run 4 ( $M_s = 4$ , OT)	105
5.9	Color map of Ohmic, viscous dilatational and viscous rotational dissipation integrated over 1/64th of the box. Red: Ohmic dissipation. Green: viscous rotational dissipation $\varepsilon_{v\omega}$ . Blue: viscous dilatational dissipation $\varepsilon_{vc}$ . Top left: Run 1 ( $M_s = 1$ , ABC). Top right: Run 2 ( $M_s = 1$ , OT). Bottom left: Run 3 ( $M_s = 4$ , ABC). Bottom right: Run 4 ( $M_s = 4$ , OT)	106
5.10	Color map of Ohmic, viscous and numerical dissipation. Red: Ohmic physical dissipation. Green: viscous physical dissipation $\varepsilon_{vc}$ . Blue: viscous numerical dissipation $\varepsilon_v^{\text{corr.}} + \varepsilon_o^{\text{corr.}} - (\varepsilon_v + \varepsilon_o)$ . Top left: Run 1 ( $M_s = 1$ , ABC). Top right: Run 2 ( $M_s = 1$ , OT). Bottom left: Run 3 ( $M_s = 4$ , ABC). Bottom right: Run 4 ( $M_s = 4$ , OT).	107
5.11	Pdf $\mathcal{P}(\log_{10} \varepsilon_{\text{corr.}})$ of the total dissipation. Blue: $M_s = 0$ (incompressible). Green: $M_s = 1$ . Red: $M_s = 4$ . Left: ABC initial condition. Right: OT initial condition.	107
6.1	CVIs based on the ${}^{12}CO(J = 2 - 1)$ line observed in the Polaris Flare. <i>Left:</i> Normalized pdfs measured over variable lags expressed in units of 15" (upper right corner of each panel). Dashed red lines are Gaussian pdfs of same dispersion (given in km.s <sup>-1</sup> at the bottom of each panel). <i>Right:</i> Spatial distribution of the azimuthally averaged CVI for a lag $l = 4 \times 15$ ". The color scale gives the values of the velocity increments in km.s <sup>-1</sup> . The largest values (blue lange) of CVI are associated to the tails of its pdf. From Hilv Plant et al. [2009a]	111
6.2	Map of the polarization angle dispersion function $S$ at 353 GHz with 1 deg resolution and for lag $\delta = 30'$ . The map is shown in $\log_{10}$ scale over the range 0.1 deg $< S < 70$ deg. Only sky regions where the S/N on $S$ is larger than 3 are shown (see Planck Collaboration Int. XIX,	111
6.3	2015, in press, A & A)	112 113
6.4	For an integration depth of 1/8th of the box. <i>Top left</i> : Dissipation field. Red: Ohmic dissipation. Green: viscous dissipation. Blue: ambipolar diffusion dissipation. <i>Top right</i> :	
	$\operatorname{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$ . Bottom left: $\partial Q$ . Bottom right: $\partial \psi$ .	114

6.5	For an integration depth over the whole box. Top left: Dissipation field. Red: Ohmic dissipation. Green: viscous dissipation. Blue: ambipolar diffusion dissipation. Top right: $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$ .	115
6.6	Bottom left: $\delta Q$ . Bottom right: $\delta \psi$	115
6.7	box. Bottom left : Projection over the whole box	116
6.8	Efficiency of $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$ as a function of the lag $l$ , for a contour level of 0.5. Red line: projection over the whole box. Green dotted line: projection over 1/8th of the box. Blue dashed line:	111
6.9	projection over $1/64$ th of the box	117
6.10	ambipolar diffusion dissipation	118
6.11	Green dotted line: $\delta U$ . Red dashed line: $\delta Q$ . Greed dash-dotted line: $\delta \psi$	119
6.12	(their maximum value is set to $1/l$ ). Top left: $\mathcal{P}_l(\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon})$ . Top right: $\mathcal{P}_l(\delta U)$ . Bottom left: $\mathcal{P}_l(\delta Q)$ . Bottom right: $\mathcal{P}_l(\delta \psi)$ . $\ldots$ Structure functions $S_p^{\text{CV}_{\varepsilon}}(l)$ as a function of lag (left), and computed using ESS, with $S_3^{\text{CV}_{\varepsilon}}(l)$	120
6.13	taken as a reference structure function ( <i>right</i> ). Vertical lines in the left panel denote the extent of the intertial range in the simulation	121
6.14	incompressible runs. <i>Bottom</i> : compressible runs (at $512^3$ resolution). The black thin line is $p/3$ , commonly referred to as K41. The diamonds correspond to the generalised She-Lévêque model with $g = 3$ and $C = 1$ . The only exponents observed to date are those of Hily-Blant et al. (2008), displayed here as blue triangles. They happen to be very close to $g = 3$ and $C = 2$ . Color-map of the energy dissipation field in the case of weak phase mixing. Red: Ohmic dis-	122
6 15	sipation. Green: viscous dissipation. Blue: ambipolar diffusion dissipation. A.D. dissipation dominates the rest (see text).	124
0.10	Color-map of the church discipation field.	124
0.10	Color map of the weighted controld velocity increment CVI (x 1) for a log 1. 2 prejected	124
0.17	Coordinate or the weighted centroid velocity increment $\nabla v_{1_{\mathcal{E}}}(\mathbf{x}, t)$ for a lag $t = 3$ , projected over the whole box	194
6.18	Color-map of the weighted increment $\delta \psi(\mathbf{x}, l)$ for a lag $l = 3$ , projected over the whole box.	124
6.19	Pdf of the weighted centroid velocity increment $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{x}, l)$ projected over the whole box for	
<i>c</i> 00	various lags $l$	124
0.20	and without phase mixing (full curves).	125
A.1		132

### Chapter 1

### The diffuse interstellar medium

The interstellar medium (ISM), defined as the gas and dust that lies between the stars in a galaxy, is a complex multi-component system, and a place where a wide range of physical processes take place. In this introductory chapter we provide a very brief description of the ISM, focusing mainly on its diffuse component. For a comprehensive treatment of general ISM physics, the reader is referred to the classic book of Spitzer [1998], the recent book of Draine [2011], as well as the review articles of Ferrière [2001] and Cox [2005].

#### **1.1** Components

The ISM is a very important component of every galactic ecosystem. Stars, the other most important component, are formed by gravitational collapse of the densest regions of the ISM. Their stellar winds during their lifetime or their supernovae explosions and planetary nebulae at the end of their life-cycle are able to enrich the ISM with elements heavier than helium (metals), thus building up a complex chemical environment in which a rich variety of molecules is present. As a galaxy evolves, the ISM is converted to stars which in turn enrich it with metals. Part of the ISM may also leave the galaxy in the form of galactic winds while conversely in-falling gas from the intergalactic medium may add to the ISM.

A broad definition of the ISM as *everything* in the galaxy that lies between the stars would include several constituents. Following the beautiful and inspiring text of Draine [2011]:

- Interstellar gas: Gas-phase ions, atoms or molecules with a nearly thermal velocity distribution.
- Interstellar dust: Small solid particles with diameter in general less than  $\sim 1 \ \mu m$ , or very large molecules.
- **Cosmic rays:** Electrons, protons or heavier nuclei with kinetic energies much larger than the thermal energy, often in the relativistic regime.
- Electromagnetic radiation: Photons from various sources such as the cosmic microwave background, stellar photo spheres, radiation emitted by interstellar ions, atoms or molecules, thermal emission by dust particles that have been heated by starlight, free-free emission from interstellar plasma, synchrotron radiation from relativistic electrons, gamma rays emitted in nuclear transitions and  $\pi^0$ decays.
- Interstellar magnetic field: The magnetic field produced by electric currents in the ISM. This field guides the cosmic rays and in some parts of the ISM it is strong enough to be dynamically important.
- The gravitational field: The field due to the ISM gas, stars, stellar remnants and dark matter. In the densest regions of the ISM, the gas-phase contribution leads to self-gravitating clouds.
- **Dark matter:** The extent to which this component interacts with baryons in a non-gravitational way is currently unknown.

Although the ISM accounts for most of the volume of a galaxy, its estimated mass fraction does not exceed 15 % of the total mass of the galactic disk in the case of the Milky Way. If dark matter is included, the contribution of the ISM is as low as 0.5 %. This mass fraction is distributed 99 % in the gas phase and 1 % in dust. The density distribution of the ISM is highly inhomogeneous, with half of the mass contained in high-density regions occupying only 1-2 % of the total volume.

The chemical composition of the ISM in the Milky Way is estimated to be 90.8 % by number (70.4 % by mass) of hydrogen, 9.1 % (28.1 %) helium and 0.12 % (1.5 %) of metals [Spitzer, 1998]. About 60 % of the interstellar hydrogen is in the form of neutral H atoms, 20 % is in the form of H<sub>2</sub> molecules and the remaining 20 % is ionized. A significant fraction of the heavier elements is locked inside dust grains, but the depletion factor may vary significantly between different elements as well as between different regions of the ISM. On average, the most abundant metals such as C, N, and O are depleted by a factor of ~ 1.2 - 3, while elements such as Mg, Si or Fe can have depletion factors as large as ~ 10 - 100.

#### 1.2 Phases

The ISM is not a homogeneous medium, on the contrary it is organized in several phases with distinct physical characteristics. Again following Draine [2011] and many others, the interstellar medium can be divided into the following phases:

- The hot ionized medium: This phase, also called the coronal gas, consists of gas that has been heated to temperatures of the order of  $10^6$ K by shock waves originating from supernova explosions. The primary ionization mechanism is collisional ionization, with ions such as OIV present. The hot ionized medium fills a significant fraction, almost 50 %, of the total ISM volume. Typical number densities in this phase are of the order of  $4 \times 10^{-3}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>.
- HII gas: In this phase, hydrogen is photoionized by ultraviolet radiation from hot O-type stars. The photoionized gas may be dense material from a nearby cloud (HII region) or lower density intercloud medium (diffuse HII or warm ionized medium). The temperature is of the order of 10<sup>4</sup>K while the number density can vary greatly from 0.3 to 10<sup>4</sup>cm<sup>-3</sup>.
- Warm HI: Gas heated to temperatures of the order of 10<sup>4</sup>K, but remaining in atomic form. A characteristic scale for the number density of this phase is 0.6cm<sup>-3</sup>. This phase fills a significant fraction of the total volume, perhaps as high as 40 %.
- Cool HI: Often referred to as the cold neutral medium (CNM), this phase consists of predominantly atomic gas at temperatures  $T \sim 10^2$ K and number densities  $n_H \sim 30$ cm<sup>-3</sup>. The volume fraction of this phase is of the order of 1 %.
- Diffuse molecular gas: In this phase, the physical conditions are similar to those of cold HI clouds  $(T \sim 50 \text{K}, n_H \sim 10^2 \text{cm}^{-3})$ , but the column densities are high enough for hydrogen to be in predominantly molecular form.
- Molecular clouds: These clouds are gravitationally bound and have temperatures in the range of 10 to 50 K and number densities in the range of 10<sup>3</sup> to 10<sup>6</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>.

Early models of the interstellar medium [McKee and Ostriker, 1977] classified interstellar matter into three phases: the cold neutral medium (CNM), the warm phase which comprises of the warm ionized medium (WIM) and the warm neutral medium (WNM), and the hot ionized medium (HIM). In these models, the cold neutral medium is considered as a collection of clouds, while the hot ionized medium is considered as an intercloud medium. The warm phase is considered as a boundary layer between the clouds and the intercloud medium. These three phases were thought to be in approximate pressure equilibrium with each other.

The cold neutral medium comprises a variety of clouds characterized by a wide range of physical conditions. Observationally, the densest clouds which are most protected from ultraviolet radiation are referred to as dense clouds, dark clouds or molecular clouds. The most tenuous clouds which are fully exposed to starlight are usually called diffuse clouds. Clouds between these two extremes have been called translucent clouds. The above classification has not been fully consistent in the literature though.

Cloud type	Diffuse atomic	Diffuse Molecular	Translucent	Dense Molecular
Definition	$f_{\rm H_2}^n < 0.1$	$f_{\rm H_2}^n > 0.1, \ f_{\rm C^+}^n > 0.5$	$f_{\rm C^+}^n < 0.5, \ f_{\rm CO}^n < 0.9$	$f_{\rm CO}^n > 0.9$
$A_V$ (minimum)	0	$\sim 0.2$	$\sim 1-2$	$\sim 5-10$
Typ. $n_{\rm H} ~({\rm cm}^{-3})$	10-100	100-500	500-5000?	$> 10^4$
Typ. $T$ (K)	30-100	30-100	15-50?	10-50
Observational	UV/Vis	UV/Vis IR abs	Vis (UV?) IR abs	IR abs
techniques	HI 21 - cm	mm abs	$\rm mm~abs/em$	mm em

Table 1.1: Classification of interstellar cloud types (from Snow and McCall [2006]), see text for notation.

#### **1.3** Classification of clouds

Snow and McCall [2006] have proposed a systematic classification of interstellar clouds based on predominant form of hydrogen and carbon. Let the number density of a particular element be denoted by n, for example  $n_{\rm H}$  for hydrogen. This number density corresponds to the total number of nuclei in a cubic centimeter, whatever their molecular form. For hydrogen,  $n_{\rm H} \simeq n({\rm H}) + 2n({\rm H}_2)$ . For the case of carbon, most nuclei are found in the form of C<sup>+</sup>, C or CO, so we can approximately write  $n_{\rm C} \simeq n({\rm C}^+) + n({\rm C}) + n({\rm CO})$ . The fraction of an atom's nuclei that is found in a particular form is referred to as  $f^n$ , for example  $f^n_{\rm C}$  for neutral carbon. The classification proposed by Snow and McCall [2006] is shown in table 1.1.

Diffuse atomic clouds are the most tenuous regions of the neutral interstellar medium. The low column densities of these clouds make them essentially fully exposed to starlight. The predominant form of hydrogen is neutral atomic, since most of molecular hydrogen is photo-dissociated by starlight. Atoms with ionization potentials lower than hydrogen, of which carbon is a notable case, are almost fully ionized, providing abundant electrons. The paucity of molecules due to photo-dissociation implies that very little chemistry happens in these clouds. Diffuse atomic clouds typically have a fairly low total number density  $n \sim 10 - 100 \text{ cm}^{-3}$  and temperatures in the range 30 - 100K.

In diffuse molecular clouds, the interstellar radiation field is sufficiently attenuated, at least in the individual wavelengths that dissociate H<sub>2</sub>, so that the local fraction of hydrogen in molecular form  $f_{\rm H_2}^n$  becomes substantial (> 0.1). However, the interstellar radiation field is still strong enough to photo-ionize any atomic carbon present and dissociate any CO, so that carbon remains predominantly in the form of C<sup>+</sup> ( $f_{\rm C+}^n > 0.5$ ). In steady state, diffuse molecular clouds must necessarily be surrounded by layers of diffuse atomic gas, which provide the shielding of radiation. Thus, most sightlines that cross a diffuse molecular cloud will also cross diffuse atomic gas. The presence of abundant H<sub>2</sub> in diffuse molecular clouds activates certain chemical routes that lead to formation of molecules such as CO, CH, CN, C<sub>2</sub> and C<sub>3</sub> which are visible in UV/visible absorption, CO and H<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup> which are visible in the infrared, and HCO<sup>+</sup>, OH and C<sub>2</sub>H which are visible at millimeter wavelengths. Diffuse molecular clouds typically have densities that range from 100 – 500 cm<sup>-3</sup> and temperatures that range from 30 – 100 K.

In a translucent cloud, the increased attenuation of the interstellar radiation field allows carbon to begin the transition from ionized atomic (C<sup>+</sup>) to neutral atomic (C) and molecular (CO) form. The chemistry is qualitatively different than in a diffuse molecular cloud, both because of the decreased electron fraction and the presence of the highly reactive C atoms. Translucent clouds are defined as clouds where  $f_{C^+}^n < 0.5$  and  $f_{CO}^n < 0.9$ . This definition reflects the fact that C<sup>+</sup> is no longer the predominant form of carbon, but also differentiates a translucent cloud from a dense molecular cloud, where the carbon is almost exclusively in CO form. In steady state, a translucent cloud is surrounded by diffuse molecular cloud material, which is in turn surrounded by diffuse atomic cloud material in an onion-like structure.

If the visual extinction is further increased, carbon becomes almost completely molecular ( $f_{\rm CO}^n \sim 1$ ), defining the regime of dense molecular clouds. There is again a qualitative difference in chemistry, as the electron abundance is very low, with cosmic-ray ionization being the dominant source, and the reactive C is replaced by the very stable CO. Again, dense molecular cloud material is found surrounded by translucent material in an onion-like structure. These clouds are often self-gravitating, with densities n at least  $10^4$  cm<sup>-3</sup> and kinetic temperatures in the range of 10 - 50 K. Chemistry in dense molecular clouds is very rich, as most of the 130 currently known interstellar molecules were found through observations in such clouds.

#### **1.4** Energy content

The following section is, again, closely inspired by Draine [2011]. In the interstellar medium, energy is found in a number of forms: turbulent kinetic energy of the gas motions  $\frac{1}{2}\rho u^2$ , magnetic energy  $\frac{1}{8\pi}B^2$ , cosmic ray kinetic energy  $u_{CR}$ , thermal energy  $\frac{3}{2}nkT$ , and energy of the interstellar radiation field, which can be further subdivided in the cosmic microwave background, far-infrared emission form dust and starlight. It is a remarkable fact that in the local interstellar medium, all these forms of energies have comparable energy densities in the range of 0.2 - 2 eV cm<sup>-3</sup>, as can be seen in table 1.2.

Although the equality of the energy density of the cosmic microwave background with the other energy densities could be coincidental, the other energy densities are coupled by dynamical processes which lead to equipartition, as the following examples show. First, the turbulent energy density of the gas motion  $1/2\rho u^2$  is coupled to the magnetic energy density  $B^2/8\pi$  through the equations of magnetohydrodynamics describing the turbulent motion of an ionized gas threaded by a dynamically important magnetic field. More specifically, the magnetic field feeds back on the velocity field through the Lorentz force in the momentum equation, whereas in turn the turbulent velocity field continuously stretches and distorts magnetic field lines (see section 2.2). Next, if the cosmic ray energy density were much higher than the magnetic energy density, the galactic magnetic field would not be able to confine the cosmic rays inside the galactic disk; they would freely escape into intergalactic space. This negative feedback limits cosmic ray energy density to a level comparable to the energy density of the galactic magnetic field.

Component	Energy density $u \; (eV \; cm^{-3})$
Cosmic microwave background $(T_{CMB} = 2.725 \text{ K})$	0.265
Far-infrared radiation form dust	0.31
Starlight $(h\nu < 13.6 \text{ eV})$	0.54
Thermal energy $3/2nkT$	0.49
Turbulent kinetic energy $1/2\rho u^2$	0.22
Magnetic energy $B^2/8\pi$	0.89
Cosmic rays	1.39

Table 1.2: Energy densities in the local interstellar medium (from Draine [2011]).

The interstellar medium is constantly in a state far from thermodynamic equilibrium, and what allows it to remain in such a state is the constant input of free energy in the form of starlight, kinetic energy from supernovae ejecta and infall from the intergalactic medium. Ultimately, all of this free energy escapes the galaxy in the form of photons propagating in the cold extragalactic sky.

#### 1.5 Chemistry in the diffuse ISM

Despite the very low number densities in the diffuse ISM, since the 1930s and the advent of high-resolution optical spectroscopy there has been strong evidence of a rich molecular chemistry [Eddington, 1926, Swings, 1938]. These then-newly discovered spectral lines where attributed to molecules such as CN and CH<sup>+</sup>. Today, a rich variety of molecules have been detected in interstellar space [Tielens, 2013]. In this section, we provide a brief review of the paths leading to the formation of molecules in the diffuse ISM.

#### 1.5.1 Molecules in the diffuse ISM

Gas in the diffuse ISM is in a very dilute and cold state (table 1.1). Collisions are thus very infrequent, with inelastic collisions being even less frequent. Prior to the discovery of interstellar molecular lines mentioned above, chemistry was thought to take little part in the physics of the diffuse ISM. However, even if collisions are very infrequent, they can still lead to the formation of molecules if the time scales involved are large enough.

One important factor in interstellar molecular chemistry is dust, since  $H_2$  is known to form in the surface of dust grains, which act as reaction catalysts [Draine, 2011]. The presence of  $H_2$  opens the possibility of a variety of reactions to take place. In these reactions, a proton is removed from the  $H_2$  molecule by an inelastic collision with an atom or ion X and it is replaced by it in the product:

$$H_2 + X \to HX + H. \tag{1.1}$$

These reactions however often have activation barriers of several thousand K, depending on the reactant X [Lesaffre et al., 2013]. This raises the question of how these molecules are formed in such a dilute and cold medium.

One possible formation route is the sequence of reactions

In this sequence, the formation of  $H_3^+$  requires a strong ionizing source such as cosmic rays or irradiation. Another possible route is to have a heating source which is able to raise the temperature, at least locally, to values above the activation barrier of the reaction 1.1. This heating source can be provided by hydrodynamic processes such as shocks and turbulent dissipation.

#### 1.5.2 Energy dissipation and molecular chemistry





As an example of how shocks can lead to molecule formation, consider a 10 km s<sup>-1</sup> J-type steady state shock, figure 1.1. In such a shock, viscous friction raises the gas temperature to values as high as 4300 K, which is well above the 2980 K activation barrier of the reaction

$$H_2 + O \to OH + H. \tag{1.3}$$

The presence of OH allows the formation of other molecules through the reaction

$$OH + H_2 \to H_2O + H \tag{1.4}$$

which has an activation barrier of 1490 K and

$$C^+ + H_2O \to HCO^+ + H \tag{1.5}$$

followed by

$$\mathrm{HCO}^{+} + \mathrm{e}^{-} \to \mathrm{CO} + \mathrm{H.} \tag{1.6}$$

This sequence of reactions is illustrated in figure 1.2.

The heat released by viscous friction allows to open formation routes strong enough to balance the photodissociation reactions, which would otherwise destroy the molecules for the standard irradiation conditions of the diffuse ISM (these irradiation conditions are included in the model shown in figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2: Abundances of OH, H<sub>2</sub>O, HCO<sup>+</sup> and CO inside a J-shock.

#### 1.5.3 Different natures of dissipation

The irreversible processes which convert ordered energy (magnetic or kinetic) into heat can be of different nature. For instance, in the J-type shock above, viscous friction is the main actor. But magnetized shocks come in an other flavor: in C-type shocks, charges tied to the magnetic field and the neutrals species have different velocities and it is the ambipolar friction between the ions and neutrals which is the main heating process.

The heating rate is usually much smaller (cf. figure 1.1), so it takes a longer time and length scale to dissipate the energy flow which enters the shock: viscous friction makes much smaller structures than ambipolar heating for the same energy dissipated (both shocks on the figure have same velocity and magnetic field). As a result, the temperature inside a C-type shock is much smaller. But the velocity difference between the two fluids provides extra energy in the frame in which neutral-ion reactions take place: the effective temperature for neutral-ions reactions is raised by the velocity drift.

For instance, the effective temperature, which is defined as

$$T_{eff}[H_2, C^+] = T_r + T_s$$
 (1.7)

where

$$T_r = \frac{\mu_n T_n + \mu_i T_i}{\mu_n + \mu_i} \tag{1.8}$$

is the ion-neutral kinetic temperature and

$$\frac{3}{2}k_B \frac{1}{2}\mu_{in}(u_i - u_n)^2 \tag{1.9}$$

is the contribution of the relative macroscopic kinetic energy of the ionized and neutral particles, is plotted in figure 1.1.  $\mu_n$  is the atomic weight of the neutrals,  $\mu_i$  the atomic weight of the ions and  $\mu_{in} = \mu_i \mu_n / (\mu_i + \mu_n)$ . It reaches a maximum of 4550 K and allows the reaction

$$C^+ + H_2 \to CH^+ + H \tag{1.10}$$

which has an endothermicity of 4640 K to proceed. This opens the subsequent chain of

$$CH^{+} + H_{2} \rightarrow CH_{2}^{+} + H$$

$$CH_{2}^{+} + H_{2} \rightarrow CH_{3} + H_{2}$$

$$(1.11)$$

which then produces  $CH^+$  by dissociative recombination of  $CH_3^+$ .

The comparison of the chemistry between the two types of shock at the same velocity shows (table 1.3) that there is a clear composition difference depending on the nature of the dissipation, for a given dissipated energy:

species:	СН	CO	OH	CH <sup>+</sup>	$H_2O$	HCO <sup>+</sup>	$CH_3^+$
N(J):	$1.34 \times 10^{13}$	$3.36 \times 10^{13}$	$3.48 \times 10^{13}$	$7.77 \times 10^{10}$	$4.36 \times 10^{13}$	$1.69 \times 10^{11}$	$4.80 \times 10^{12}$
N(C):	$9.29 \times 10^{13}$	$2.67\times10^{13}$	$6.35 \times 10^{12}$	$2.88 \times 10^{12}$	$6.71 \times 10^{11}$	$5.50 \times 10^{11}$	$9.49 \times 10^{13}$

Table 1.3: Comparison of molecular column densities for different types of shocks (J-type and C-type) at the same level of energy dissipation (units:  $cm^{-2}$ ).

#### **1.6** Models of turbulent dissipation

We have focused here on the example of shocks, but many other ways of dissipating energy exist, such as current sheets or vortices, for example. The turbulent dissipation region (TDR) model of Godard et al. [2009] is an attempt to model the effects of turbulent energy dissipation on ISM chemistry using the magnetized Burgers vortex as a building block. This model yields a different chemical signature compared with the chemical signature of models based on J and C-type shocks.

The current thesis aims at understanding better the local structure of dissipation in magnetohydrodynamic turbulence, through the statistical study of the geometrical and dynamical characteristics of structures of high dissipation, as they are observed in numerical simulations.

### Chapter 2

### Turbulence

Turbulence<sup>1</sup> is an ubiquitous state of fluid flow in which the flow variables, such as velocity or temperature, exhibit complex variation in both space and time. It is a phenomenon widely observed in both terrestrial environments such as the atmosphere and the oceans and extraterrestrial environments such as stellar interiors, the ISM and the intra-cluster medium in galaxy clusters (figure 2.1). An important difference between terrestrial and astrophysical turbulence is that while terrestrial turbulence is always a flow of a neutral fluid, such as water or air, astrophysical turbulence almost always concerns the motion of an ionized fluid threaded by a dynamically important magnetic field. Turbulence in the ISM is an important example of astrophysical turbulence, and has significant consequences on ISM physics and chemistry.

In this chapter we will attempt a self-contained presentation of the vast turbulence problem, with particular emphasis on issues relevant to energy dissipation and intermittency. After a brief introduction to the general problem, we will present the governing equations before proceeding to a summary of the statistical theory of turbulence followed by a presentation of the phenomenological theories of the inertial range. After a section on intermittency, we conclude this chapter with a section on interstellar turbulence.

#### 2.1 Introduction

Turbulent flows lie at the interface between order and chaos: although individual realizations of an experiment flow variables can exhibit chaotic variation, there often exists predictable behavior in the statistical sense, if a sufficiently large number of physical experiments is considered. This important property has led to the development of a statistical theory, which is fundamentally based on the notion of an ensemble average: an experiment is repeated a large number of times in such a way that although the initial and boundary conditions are macroscopically identical, small perturbations in them lead to a sample of turbulent flow fields from which an average can be extracted. In practice, the ensemble average is often replaced with an average with respect to space or time, assuming a corresponding ergodic hypothesis.

This variability between different experiments with macroscopically identical initial conditions is known as sensitive dependence on initial conditions and is a signature of chaotic dynamics of nonlinear systems. This phenomenon has been studied extensively in the context of low-dimensional dynamical systems typically described by ordinary differential equations. Turbulence, being a phenomenon extended in both space and time, has in principle an infinite number of degrees of freedom and is the prototypical example of spatiotemporal chaos, where a very large number of degrees of freedom interact non-linearly.

But how much are these degrees of freedom excited, as a function of their characteristic scale? Contrary to other complex phenomena studied in statistical physics, in turbulence there is no clear-cut separation of scales. Energy as a function of scale is rather characterized by a continuous spectrum, which can be accounted for by simple phenomenological assumptions. Turbulence is thus a multiscale phenomenon, where different degrees of freedom, each having a specific scale, interact with each other to produce a continuous energy spectrum.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>From the ancient greek word "  $\tau \acute{u}\rho\beta\eta$ ".



Figure 2.1: Examples of turbulent flows. *Top left*: Classical laboratory experiment of homogeneous isotropic turbulence generated behind a grid [Corke et al., 1982]. *Top right*: Phytoplankton bloom reveals turbulent ocean currents, an example of geophysical turbulence [Signorini and McClain, 2009]. *Bottom left*: Turbulence in the interstellar medium as revealed by the gradient of linear polarization [Gaensler et al., 2011]. *Bottom right*: Current density magnitude in a high resolution numerical experiment of homogeneous isotropic magnetohydrodynamic turbulence [G. Momferratos, unpublished].

This interaction between structures at different scales leads to the phenomenological picture of the *energy* cascade. Energy is injected at large scales, either by a driving force or by appropriate boundary conditions. At scales much smaller than the energy containing scale, but still large enough so that viscosity is unimportant, nonlinear interaction between modes transfer energy from large to small scales in a conservative way; this range of scales is called the *inertial range*. Finally, energy reaches scales small enough such that viscosity cannot be neglected, and is dissipated into heat there; this range of scales is known as the dissipative range.

Energy dissipation is however not uniformly distributed in space and time, but is characterized by strong localized bursts alternating between larger quiescent regions. This property of fluid turbulence, known as *intermittency*, has important theoretical as well as practical consequences. On the theoretical side, it is capable of modifying the phenomenological picture based on the energy cascade in a nontrivial way. On the practical side, the intermittency of the energy dissipation rate is capable of heating the interstellar medium above the threshold of certain important chemical reactions, thus activating new chemical routes.

#### 2.2 Governing equations

#### 2.2.1 Incompressible models

#### **Hydrodynamics**

Incompressible turbulence in a neutral fluid is governed by the Navier-Stokes equation [Landau and Lifshitz, 1987]

$$\partial_t \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \,\mathbf{u} = -\nabla \tilde{p} + \nu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u} \tag{2.1}$$

together with the incompressibility condition

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0. \tag{2.2}$$

In the above, **u** is the velocity field and  $\nu = \mu/\rho$  is the kinematic viscosity, with  $\mu$  the dynamic viscosity and  $\rho$  the constant mass density.  $\tilde{p} = p/\rho$  is the actual pressure p divided by the density.

If the velocity is rescaled by a reference velocity U, spatial coordinates are rescaled by a reference length L and the time coordinate is rescaled by L/U, the Navier-Stokes equation remains unchanged except from the substitution of the viscosity  $\nu$  with the inverse of the Reynolds number

$$\nu^{-1} \to Re = \frac{UL}{\nu}.\tag{2.3}$$

Two flows in domains which are geometrically similar are identical if their Reynolds number are equal. From a physical point of view, the Reynolds number measures the relative importance of the nonlinear advection term  $(\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u}$  with respect to the viscous term  $\nu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u}$ . A flow with low Reynolds number is a smooth laminar flow dominated by viscosity. As the Reynolds number is increased, successive instabilities take place and the laminar flow gradually transitions to turbulence. A flow with very high Reynolds number, presumably an asymptotic state, is known as *fully developed turbulence*.

The quadratic nonlinear term, the second term on the left hand side of equation (2.1), can be identified as the source of the complexity of turbulence. As we will see below, this term is responsible for the interactions that take place between different scales of the flow.

In incompressible flows, the pressure  $\tilde{p}$  is not a true dynamical variable, but simply an agent enforcing the incompressibility condition. This can be seen by taking the divergence of equation (2.1), keeping in mind that the velocity field is solenoidal. One gets the following Poisson equation for the pressure

$$\nabla^2 \tilde{p} = -\partial_i u_j \partial_j u_i = -\partial_i \partial_j (u_i u_j) \tag{2.4}$$

where the equivalence of the two forms of the source term on the right hand side follows from the incompressibility condition (2.2).

The Poisson equation (2.4) is an elliptic equation, and this has the important consequence that a local change in the velocity field is propagated instantaneously across the whole flow field through the pressure term. In physical terms, this corresponds to an infinite sound velocity.

Using standard vector identities, one can rewrite the Navier-Stokes equation in rotational form

$$\partial_t \mathbf{u} + \boldsymbol{\omega} \times \mathbf{u} = -\nabla \left( \tilde{p} + \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{u}^2 \right) + \nu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u}$$
 (2.5)

where  $\boldsymbol{\omega} = \nabla \times \mathbf{u}$  is the vorticity, a measure of the local rotation rate of the fluid. Taking the curl of this equation, one obtains an evolution equation for the vorticity  $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ 

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{\omega} = \nabla \times (\mathbf{u} \times \boldsymbol{\omega}) + \nu \nabla^2 \boldsymbol{\omega} \tag{2.6}$$

which is equivalent to

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{\omega} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\omega} = \frac{D \boldsymbol{\omega}}{Dt} = (\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} + \nu \nabla^2 \boldsymbol{\omega}.$$
 (2.7)

Thus, as the vorticity vector is transported, it is stretched by velocity gradients and diffused by viscosity. Indeed, let us consider a line L moving with the fluid and let  $\delta \mathbf{l}$  be an element on this line. If  $\mathbf{v}$  is the velocity of the fluid at the one end of the line, say  $\mathbf{x}$ , the velocity at  $\mathbf{x} + \delta \mathbf{l}$  is  $\mathbf{v} + (\delta \mathbf{l} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}$ . Thus in a time interval dt, the line element  $\delta \mathbf{l}$  changes by  $dt(\delta \mathbf{l} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}$ . Therefore

$$\frac{D\delta \mathbf{l}}{dt} = (\delta \mathbf{l} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} \tag{2.8}$$

and, if we neglect viscous effects, the evolution of the vectors  $\delta l$  and  $\omega$  are given by identical formulae. It follows that if these two vectors are initially in the same direction, they will remain parallel, and the ratio of their moduli will remain constant. If we define the vortex lines as the integral curves of the vorticity field, i.e. the solutions of the system of ordinary differential equations

$$\frac{d\mathbf{r}}{dt} = \boldsymbol{\omega}(\mathbf{r}, t) \tag{2.9}$$

two fluid particles will always be on the same vortex line, and the value of  $|\omega|$  will be proportional to the distance between the particles.

This vortex-stretching process is the fundamental mechanism for the transfer of energy from large to small scales in three-dimensional incompressible hydrodynamic turbulence. It is also the primary source of difference between three-dimensional and two-dimensional turbulence, as the term  $(\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}$  is identically zero in the latter case, the vector  $\boldsymbol{\omega}$  being by definition perpendicular to the plane where the vector  $\mathbf{u}$  lies.

It is possible to investigate the role of the nonlinear term on scale interactions by considering the Navier-Stokes equation (2.1) in Fourier space:

$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}) = \int \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k}) \exp(i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}) \, d\mathbf{k}.$$
 (2.10)

By this transformation, the velocity field is decomposed into plane waves of wavevector  $\mathbf{k}$ , which are completely localized in wavenumber space. It is the most simple way to separate the different contributions to the velocity field coming from different scales and study their interactions. The Fourier coefficients are given by

$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}) \exp(-i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}) \, d\mathbf{x}.$$
 (2.11)

By applying the Fourier transform (2.11) to the Navier-Stokes equation (2.1) and using equation (2.4) to eliminate the pressure term, one can derive the following spectral form

$$\partial_t u_i(\mathbf{k}) + \nu k^2 u_i(\mathbf{k}) = k_i P_{ij}(\mathbf{k}) \int_{\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{p} + \mathbf{q}} u_i(\mathbf{q}) u_j(\mathbf{p}) \, d\mathbf{p} d\mathbf{q}$$
(2.12)

where the projection operator

$$P_{ij}(\mathbf{k}) = \delta_{ij} - \frac{k_i k_j}{k^2} \tag{2.13}$$

appears when removing the pressure by use of the Poisson equation (2.4). The presence of this projection operator ensures the conservation of incompressibility.

The scale interaction mediated by the nonlinear term is now evident in the right hand side of equation (2.12). The nonlinear term, which is local in physical space, is non-local in Fourier space, effectively a convolution integral. Two perturbations with wavevectors  $\mathbf{p}$  and  $\mathbf{q}$  interact to excite a perturbation with wavevector  $\mathbf{k}$ , but only if these three wavevectors form a triangle:  $\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{p} + \mathbf{q}$ . Although this form of the Navier-Stokes equation clearly shows the existence of scale interactions, it provides no information on their locality or non-locality in scale. It also provides no information on the direction of such interactions, ie. if there is, on average, a flow of energy from large to small scales or the converse.

In the ideal limit where viscosity tends to zero, the dynamics of the fluid is governed by the Euler equation

$$\partial_t \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \,\mathbf{u} = -\nabla \tilde{p}, \qquad \nabla \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0.$$
 (2.14)

The incompressible Euler equation (2.14) is compatible with the following symmetries [Frisch, 1995]:

- Space translations:  $g_{\rho}^{space}: t, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{u} \to t, \mathbf{r} + \rho, \mathbf{u}, \quad \rho \in \mathbb{R}^3.$
- Time translations:  $g_{\tau}^{time}$ :  $t, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{u} \to t + \tau, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{u}, \quad \tau \in \mathbb{R}.$
- Galilean transformations:  $g_{\mathbf{U}}^{Gal}: t, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{u} \to t, \mathbf{r} + \mathbf{U}t, \mathbf{u} + \mathbf{U}, \quad \mathbf{U} \in \mathbb{R}^3.$
- Parity  $\mathbf{P}: t, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{u} \to t, -\mathbf{r}, -\mathbf{u}$ .
- Rotations  $g_{\mathbf{A}}^{rot}: t, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{u} \to t, \mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{u}, \qquad \mathbf{A} \in \mathrm{SO}(\mathbb{R}^3).$
- Scaling  $g_{\lambda}^{scal}$ :  $t, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{u} \to \lambda^{1-h} t, \lambda \mathbf{r}, \lambda^{h} \mathbf{u}, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{R}, \ h \in \mathbb{R}^{+}.$

where SO( $\mathbb{R}^3$ ) is the groups of rotations in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . When the viscosity is equal to zero, the Euler equations possess an infinite number of scaling groups labeled by a scaling exponent h. When the viscosity is finite, the Navier-Stokes equation (2.1) allows only h = -1. This value corresponds to the similarity principle of fluid dynamics: in this case, the scaling transformations  $g_{\lambda}^{scal}$  leave the Reynolds number unchanged.

The Euler equation (2.14) possesses two invariant quantities: the first is kinetic helicity

$$H_k = \int_V \mathbf{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega} \, dV \tag{2.15}$$

and the second is kinetic energy

$$E_k = \int_V \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{u}^2 \, dV \tag{2.16}$$

which is quadratic and positive-definite. Quadratic invariants are particularly important because they remain invariants if the fields are developed in Fourier series and then truncated at a finite wavenumber.

In the Navier-Stokes case where viscosity is finite, kinetic energy is dissipated locally at the rate

$$\varepsilon = \frac{\nu}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \left( \partial_i u_j + \partial_j u_i \right)^2.$$
(2.17)

The mean value of the energy dissipation rate is equal to

$$-\dot{E}_k = \frac{1}{V} \int_V \varepsilon(\mathbf{r}) \ d^3 \mathbf{r} = \nu \Omega \tag{2.18}$$

where  $\Omega$  is the enstrophy

$$\Omega = \int_{V} \boldsymbol{\omega}^2 \, dV. \tag{2.19}$$

The positive definite quadratic invariant  $E_k$ , concentrated at the energy containing scale  $L_i$ , where it is ejected by either a driving force or boundary conditions, is dissipated at the rate  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle$ . By examining the form of the viscous term in Fourier space

$$\nu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}) \to -\nu |\mathbf{k}|^2 \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k}) \tag{2.20}$$

it is easy to see that for  $\nu$  small enough, dissipation occurs at small scales  $l_d \ll L_i$ . Thus for  $\nu$  small enough, there exists a range of scales  $l_d \ll l \ll L_i$  where both viscosity and boundary condition or injection effects are absent, and energy is conserved by nonlinear interactions; this range of scale is called the *inertial range*. The range of scales where viscosity dissipates kinetic energy is called the *dissipative range*.

The kinetic helicity  $H_k$  is a measure of the topological complexity or the knottedness of vortex lines [Moffatt and Tsinober, 1992]. In the ideal limit (zero viscosity), it is exactly conserved. It is not a positive definite quantity and, for a non-zero viscosity it is dissipated at the rate

$$-\dot{H}_k = \nu \int_V \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot (\nabla \times \boldsymbol{\omega}) \, dV. \tag{2.21}$$

There is also an important local conservation law in ideal incompressible hydrodynamics, the law of conservation of circulation [Landau and Lifshitz, 1987]

$$\frac{d\Gamma}{dt} = 0 \tag{2.22}$$

where  $\Gamma$  is the velocity circulation

$$\Gamma = \int_C \mathbf{u} \cdot d\mathbf{l} \tag{2.23}$$

considered around a closed contour C moving with the fluid, whose element is  $d\mathbf{l}$ . The law of conservation of circulation can be recast in terms of the vorticity

$$\Gamma = \int_{A} \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot d\mathbf{S} \tag{2.24}$$

where A is a surface enclosed by the contour C and  $d\mathbf{S}$  is an element of this surface. This form of the law of conservation of circulation is closely related to vortex stretching: if the flow is such that the area of the surface A is greatly reduced, the modulus of the vorticity  $|\boldsymbol{\omega}|$  can reach very high values.

#### Magnetohydrodynamics

The interstellar medium is an ionized gas threaded by the galactic magnetic field, whose energy density is comparable with the energy density corresponding to the motion of the gas itself. Thus, the magnetic field is dynamically important and a model describing its interaction with the gas motion is called for. Incompressible magnetohydrodynamics describes the motion of a completely ionized incompressible fluid threaded by a magnetic field. The equations of incompressible magnetohydrodynamics can be derived from the Maxwell and Navier-Stokes equations under the assumptions of incompressibility and non-relativistic fluid velocities [Landau and Lifshitz, 1960].

$$\partial_t \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \,\mathbf{u} = -\nabla \tilde{p} + \mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b} + \nu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u}$$
  
$$\partial_t \mathbf{b} = \nabla \times (\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{b}) + \eta \nabla^2 \mathbf{b}$$
(2.25)

together with the two solenoidal conditions

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0 \qquad \nabla \cdot \mathbf{b} = 0 \tag{2.26}$$

where  $\mathbf{b} = \mathbf{B}/\sqrt{4\pi\rho}$  is the Alfvén velocity with **B** the magnetic field,  $\mathbf{j} = \nabla \times \mathbf{b}$  is the current density,  $\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b}$  is the Lorentz force and  $\eta$  is the resistivity. Although the induction equation (the second of equations (2.25)) is linear in **b** the system is strongly non-linear because of the coupling of the two equations through the Lorentz force  $\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b}$  on the right hand side of the momentum equation. In analogy with the term  $(\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}$  in the momentum equation, the advection term  $\nabla \times (\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{b})$  is responsible for the stretching of magnetic field lines which leads to interaction between structures at different scales.

If the equations of magnetohydrodynamics are written in non-dimensional form, then in addition to the kinetic Reynolds number  $UL/\nu$  there also appears the magnetic Reynolds number

$$Re_M = \frac{UL}{\eta} \tag{2.27}$$

replacing the inverse of the resistivity  $\eta$  in the induction equation. Here, as previously, U is a characteristic velocity scale and L a characteristic length scale. The magnetic Reynolds number measures the relative importance of advection versus diffusion in the dynamics of the magnetic field. In a flow with low magnetic Reynolds number, magnetic field dynamics is dominated by Ohmic diffusion whereas in the case of a high magnetic Reynolds number, it is dominated by advection and stretching.

The presence of both a viscosity and a resistivity in the equations of magnetohydordynamics, two quantities which have the same dimensions, introduces one more non-dimensional number, the magnetic Prandtl number

$$Pr = \frac{\nu}{\eta}.$$
(2.28)

This number measures the relative importance of viscosity with respect to resistivity. In a fluid with large magnetic Prandtl number, viscous diffusion of the velocity field is much stronger than Ohmic diffusion of the magnetic field.

Just as in the case of the vorticity equation of incompressible hydrodynamics (2.6), the induction equation can be developed in the form

$$\partial_t \mathbf{b} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{b} = \frac{D \mathbf{b}}{Dt} = (\mathbf{b} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} + \eta \nabla^2 \mathbf{b}$$
 (2.29)

which shows that the magnetic field is stretched by velocity gradients as it is transported. An essential difference in the dynamics of the vectors **b** and  $\boldsymbol{\omega}$  is that the magnetic field is an independent vector, whereas the vorticity is a function of the velocity field:  $\boldsymbol{\omega} = \nabla \times \mathbf{u}$ .

Using standard vector identities, the Lorentz force on the right hand side of the momentum equation can be developed into

$$\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b} = (\mathbf{b} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{b} - \nabla\left(\frac{\mathbf{b}^2}{2}\right)$$
(2.30)

where the first term corresponds to the contribution of magnetic field line tension and the second term corresponds to an isotropic magnetic pressure.

In the ideal limit where both viscosity and resistivity are equal to zero, the equations of ideal magnetohydrodynamics

$$\partial_t \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} = -\nabla \tilde{p} + \mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b}$$
  
$$\partial_t \mathbf{b} = \nabla \times (\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{b})$$
(2.31)

possess three invariant quantities. The first is total energy, which is the sum of kinetic and magnetic energy

$$E_t = E_k + E_m,$$
  
with  $E_k = \int_V \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{u}^2 \, dV$   
and  $E_m = \int_V \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{b}^2 \, dV.$  (2.32)

Total energy is a positive definite quantity, and is dissipated at the rate

$$-\dot{E}_t = \nu \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}^2 \rangle + \eta \langle \mathbf{j}^2 \rangle \tag{2.33}$$

The first part is viscous dissipation, while the second part is Ohmic dissipation, essentially Joule heating. An important difference between viscous and Ohmic dissipation is that in the case of Ohmic dissipation, both global and local values are given by the same formula  $\eta \mathbf{j}^2$ , whereas in the case of viscous dissipation  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle = \nu \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}^2 \rangle$  but  $\varepsilon(\mathbf{x}) \neq \nu(\boldsymbol{\omega}(\mathbf{x}))^2$  locally. This is because the velocity field is a true vector, whereas the magnetic field is a pseudo-vector defined as the curl of the vector potential Uritsky et al. [2010].

The second conserved quantity is magnetic helicity

$$H_m = \int_V \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{b} \ dV \tag{2.34}$$

where  $\mathbf{a}$  is the vector potential defined by

$$\mathbf{b} = \nabla \times \mathbf{a}.\tag{2.35}$$

In analogy with kinetic helicity, magnetic helicity is a measure of the topological complexity ("knottedness") of magnetic field lines [Moffatt, 1978]. It is not a positive definite quantity, and it is dissipated at the rate

$$-\dot{H}_m = \eta \int_V \mathbf{j} \cdot \mathbf{b} \ dV. \tag{2.36}$$

The last conserved quantity is the cross-helicity

$$H_c = \int_V \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{b} \, dV. \tag{2.37}$$

The cross-helicity is a measure of the correlation (alignment in the mean sense) between the velocity and the magnetic field. As will be shown below, if this correlation is perfect the non-linearity of the equations is completely switched off. It is not a positive definite quantity and it is dissipated at the rate

$$-\dot{H}_c = \frac{\nu + \eta}{2} \int_V \mathbf{j} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega} \, dV.$$
(2.38)

In analogy with the conservation of velocity circulation in ideal incompressible hydrodynamics, ideal incompressible magnetohydrodynamics possess the local conservation law of magnetic flux

$$\frac{D\Phi}{Dt} = 0 \tag{2.39}$$

where the magnetic flux  $\Phi$  is defined as

$$\Phi = \int_{A} \mathbf{B} \cdot d\mathbf{S} \tag{2.40}$$

where A is a surface moving with the fluid and  $d\mathbf{S}$  is an element of this surface.

The equations of magnetohydrodynamics (2.25) can be written in a more symmetric form by introducing the Elsässer variables

$$\mathbf{z}^{\pm} = \mathbf{u} \pm \mathbf{b}.\tag{2.41}$$

It is then a matter of simple algebra to transform equations (2.25) into

$$\partial_t \mathbf{z}^{\pm} + \left(\mathbf{z}^{\mp} \cdot \nabla\right) \mathbf{z}^{\pm} = -\nabla \tilde{P} + \nu^+ \nabla^2 \mathbf{z}^{\pm} + \nu^- \nabla^2 \mathbf{z}^{\mp}$$
(2.42)

where  $\tilde{P} = \tilde{p} + 1/2\mathbf{b}^2$  is the total pressure and  $\nu^{\pm} = (\nu \pm \eta)/2$ . In the presence of a mean magnetic field the nonlinear term  $(\mathbf{z}^{\mp} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{z}^{\pm}$  represents counter-propagating Alfvén wave-packets, which play an important role in the physics of magnetohydrodynamic turbulence. These are transverse waves propagating in both directions along magnetic field lines with the velocity  $\mathbf{B}_0/\sqrt{4\pi\rho}$ , where  $\mathbf{B}_0$  can be either a global mean field or a local average field.

The Elsässer form (2.42) of the equations of incompressible magnetohydrodynamics reveals two important properties. The first is that the nonlinearity is completely switched off in the case where the velocity is aligned (or anti-aligned) with the magnetic field. Indeed, if  $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{b}$  then  $\mathbf{z}^- = 0$ , whereas if  $\mathbf{u} = -\mathbf{b}$  then  $\mathbf{z}^+ = 0$  and the equations (2.42) become linear. The second is that if a mean magnetic field  $\mathbf{B}_0$  is present, it appears with a plus sign in the variable  $\mathbf{z}^+$  and with a minus sign in the variable  $\mathbf{z}^-$ , and thus cannot be removed by a Galilean transformation. This is in contrast with incompressible hydrodynamics, where the form of the nonlinear term allows a mean velocity field to be removed.

#### Ambipolar diffusion magnetohydrodynamics

Many diffuse clouds are characterized by extremely low ionization fractions. Although the magnetic field remains dynamically important in these clouds, the classical model of incompressible magnetohydrodynamics is not sufficient to describe the evolution of their gaseous component. The most complete description of the incompressible motion of a partially ionized gas is the two-fluid model, which comprises of one momentum and continuity equation for the neutral component, another pair of equations for the ion component and the induction equation for the magnetic field

$$\partial_{t}\rho_{n} + \nabla \cdot (\rho_{n}\mathbf{u}_{n}) = 0$$

$$\rho_{n}(\partial_{t}\mathbf{u}_{n} + (\mathbf{u}_{n} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}_{n}) = -\nabla p_{n} + \mu_{n}\nabla^{2}\mathbf{u}_{n} + \gamma\rho_{i}\rho_{n}(\mathbf{u}_{n} - \mathbf{u}_{i})$$

$$\partial_{t}\rho_{i} + \nabla \cdot (\rho_{i}\mathbf{u}_{i}) = 0$$

$$\rho_{i}(\partial_{t}\mathbf{u}_{i} + (\mathbf{u}_{i} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}_{i}) = -\nabla p_{i} + \rho_{i}(\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b}) + \mu_{i}\nabla^{2}\mathbf{u}_{i} + \gamma\rho_{i}\rho_{n}(\mathbf{u}_{i} - \mathbf{u}_{n})$$

$$\partial_{t}\mathbf{b} = \nabla \times (\mathbf{u}_{i} \times \mathbf{b}) + \eta\nabla^{2}\mathbf{b}.$$
(2.43)

Here,  $\mathbf{u}_n$  is the neutral velocity,  $p_n$  is the neutral pressure,  $\mu_n$  is the neutral dynamic viscosity,  $\rho_n$  is the neutral density and  $\gamma$  is the coefficient of ion-neutral friction. The corresponding quantities of the ionized component appear with the index *i*, and  $\mathbf{b} = \mathbf{B}/\sqrt{4\pi\rho_i}$  is the Alfvén velocity, with **B** the magnetic field. Because the neutrals do not interact directly with the magnetic field, the Lorentz force only appears in the ion momentum equation and in the induction equation, the magnetic field is transported by the ion velocity.

For low ionization fractions  $\rho_i/\rho_n$ , one can neglect ion inertia and viscosity, and the ion momentum equation becomes

$$\rho_i(\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b}) - \nabla p_i = \gamma \rho_i \rho_n(\mathbf{u}_n - \mathbf{u}_i). \tag{2.44}$$

Substituting this expression in the neutral momentum equation and in the induction equation one gets

$$\partial_t \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} = -\nabla \tilde{p} + \mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b} + \mu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u}$$
  

$$\partial_t \mathbf{b} = \nabla \times (\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{b}) + \alpha \nabla \times ((\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b}) \times \mathbf{b}) + \eta \nabla^2 \mathbf{b}, \qquad \alpha = (\gamma \rho)^{-1}.$$
(2.45)

The above approximation is known as the strong coupling approximation or the single fluid approximation. The new velocity  $\mathbf{u}$  is the center-of-mass velocity, which is approximately equal to the neutral velocity for low ionization fractions

$$\mathbf{u} = \frac{\rho_n \mathbf{u}_n + \rho_i \mathbf{u}_i}{\rho_n + \rho_i} \simeq \mathbf{u}_n \tag{2.46}$$

while the density  $\rho$  is equal to the sum of the two components

$$\rho = \rho_n + \rho_i \simeq \rho_n \tag{2.47}$$

The nonlinear diffusion term  $\alpha \nabla \times ((\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b}) \times \mathbf{b})$  that appears in the induction equation is the ambipolar diffusion term. It is third order in the magnetic field and second order in spatial derivatives. Physically, it expresses the diffusion of magnetic field lines due to the ion-neutral drift.

If the equations of ambipolar diffusion magnetohydrodynamics are written in non-dimensional form, then in addition to the kinetic and magnetic Reynolds numbers, there also appears, in front of the ambipolar diffusion term, the ambipolar diffusion Reynolds number

$$Re_a = \frac{L\gamma\rho_i}{U} = \frac{L}{l_a} = \frac{T}{t_a}$$
(2.48)

where U is a characteristic velocity scale, L is a characteristic length scale, T = L/U while  $l_a$  and  $t_a$  are the characteristic length and time scales of ambipolar diffusion. The ambipolar diffusion Reynolds number measures the relative importance of ambipolar diffusion with respect to advection. In a flow with a low ambipolar diffusion Reynolds number the magnetic field dynamics is dominated by the ion-neutral drift, whereas the limit  $Re_a \to \infty$  corresponds to ordinary magnetohydrodynamics.

Note that Zweibel and Brandenburg [1997] constructed the ambipolar diffusion Reynolds number of eddies of length scale  $\ell$  and velocity U based on the AD diffusion coefficient:  $R_{AD}(\ell) = \ell U / \lambda_{AD} = \ell / \ell_{AD}$  where  $\ell_{AD} = U t_a / \mathcal{M}_a^2$  with  $\mathcal{M}_a = U / c_a$ . Zweibel and Brandenburg [1997] then argue that only eddies of length scales below  $\ell_{AD}$  should be affected by AD. We prefer to get a similar estimate by comparing the Fourier amplitudes of the AD e.m.f.  $(Re_a^{-1}(\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b}) \times \mathbf{b} \to Re_a^{-1}kb^3)$  and the inertial e.m.f.  $(\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{b} \to ub)$  in the induction equation (2.25). Wave numbers above the critical wave number

$$k_a = Re_a \sqrt{\langle u^2 \rangle} / \langle b^2 \rangle \tag{2.49}$$
should be AD dominated. We hence define  $\ell_a = 2\pi/k_a$  accordingly, as the length scale below which AD should be effective.

Similarly, we can estimate the length scale below which the strong coupling approximation breaks down by comparing the magnitude of the neglected inertial term  $D_t \rho_i \mathbf{u}_i$  to the coupling term  $\rho_n (\mathbf{u}_n - \mathbf{u}_i)/t_a$ . Assuming that  $\mathbf{u}_n$ ,  $\mathbf{u}_i$  and  $\mathbf{u}_n - \mathbf{u}_i$  all share the typical magnitude u, we then get a critical wavenumber  $k_{\text{two-fluids}} \simeq \rho_n / \rho_i / l_a$  above which the strong coupling approximation fails and the two-fluids approximation is needed. Provided  $\rho_i / \rho_n$  is small (it is typically lower than  $10^{-3}$  in the interstellar medium, for example if the main charges are C<sup>+</sup> ions), the strong coupling approximation breaks down at scales much smaller than the typical AD diffusion scale. Other authors [Oishi and Mac Low, 2006b, Padoan et al., 2000] have claimed that the strong coupling approximation breaks down as soon as  $\ell < \ell_{\text{AD}}$  or  $R_{\text{AD}} < 1$ , where the ions inertia does not appear explicitly. But Fig. 1 of Li et al. [2006] shows a C-shock computed with the two-fluid approximation (solid) compared to an analytical solution (dashed) using the strong coupling approximation, and the agreement is perfect. We hence believe that the strong coupling approximation is a very good one in the low ionized ISM where  $\rho_i / \rho_n \ll 1$ , even in cases where  $R_{\text{AD}} > 1$ .

The introduction of the ambipolar diffusion term in the equations of ideal incompressible magnetohydrodynamics breaks the conservation of total energy and cross-helicity, but not the conservation of magnetic helicity. This is because this term is written in the form

$$AD = \nabla \times (\mathbf{u}_{AD} \times \mathbf{b}) \,. \tag{2.50}$$

The above form also guarantees the conservation of magnetic flux: although ambipolar diffusion is a dissipative process, it is unable to reconnect field lines.

# 2.2.2 Compressible models

The wide range of sonic Mach numbers observed in the interstellar medium implies that there exist areas where the incompressible models are not applicable. In a weakly compressible flow, density perturbations grow as the square of the sonic Mach number:  $\Delta \rho / \rho \propto M_s^{22}$ . Flows with sonic Mach numbers up to about 0.3 can perhaps be approximated as incompressible, but flows with  $M_s \sim 0.5$  and above certainly cannot. Given that in the interstellar medium, the range of observed sonic Mach numbers is roughly 0.1 to 10 [Elmegreen and Scalo, 2004], there certainly exist regions for which the incompressible models are completely inappropriate. In this subsection, we will present the compressible models which are capable of describing high sonic Mach number flows where shock waves are present.

## Hydrodynamics

In compressible hydrodynamics, the law of conservation of mass is expressed by the continuity equation [Landau and Lifshitz, 1987]

$$\partial_t \rho + \nabla \cdot (\rho \mathbf{u}) = 0 \tag{2.51}$$

which, by expanding the divergence, can be written in the equivalent form

$$\partial_t \rho + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \rho + \rho \nabla \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0 \tag{2.52}$$

or, in terms of the material derivative of the density

$$\frac{D\ln\rho}{Dt} = -\nabla \cdot \mathbf{u}.\tag{2.53}$$

Written in terms of the specific volume

$$v = \frac{1}{\rho} \tag{2.54}$$

the above equations reveals the physical significance of the divergence of the velocity:

$$\frac{1}{v}\frac{Dv}{Dt} = \nabla \cdot \mathbf{u} \tag{2.55}$$

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ In the following, we will use the symbol  $\propto$  to express proportionality whithin a constant of order unity.

Positive divergence corresponds to an increase of the specific volume (dilatation) while negative divergence corresponds to a decrease (compression).

The conservation of momentum is expressed by the Navier–Stokes equation

$$\rho(\partial_t \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}) = -\nabla p + \mu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u} + \left(\zeta + \frac{1}{3}\mu\right) \nabla \nabla \cdot \mathbf{u}$$
(2.56)

where  $\mu$  is the coefficient of shear dynamic viscosity and  $\zeta$  is the coefficient of bulk viscosity, which models the viscous processes that take place because of changes in the specific volume of the gas. The bulk viscosity coefficient expresses the inability of the gas to adjust its density to rapid pressure changes as a result of a transfer of kinetic energy to internal degrees of freedom, such as rotational of vibrational molecular degrees of freedom [ZelDovich and Raizer, 2012]. Thus,  $\zeta$  is identically zero for a monoatomic gas which has no internal degrees of freedom. It is also zero for an isothermal gas, since in this case the density is a one-to-one function of the pressure. Below, we will take  $\zeta$  equal to zero unless otherwise noted. Our starting point will thus be the following momentum equation

$$\rho(\partial_t \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}) = -\nabla p + \mu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u} + \frac{\mu}{3} \nabla \nabla \cdot \mathbf{u}$$
(2.57)

which is valid for a monoatomic gas with an arbitrary equation of state, or a (polyatomic or monoatomic) isothermal gas.

The system of equations of continuity (2.51) and momentum (2.57), which comprises four scalar equations, contains five unknowns, namely the three components of the velocity  $\mathbf{u}$ , the pressure p and the density  $\rho$ . Thus, one more relation is needed to close the system. Such a relation is provided by the ideal gas law

$$\rho = (\gamma - 1)\rho e \tag{2.58}$$

where  $\gamma = c_p/c_v$  is the ratio of specific heats and e is the internal energy per unit mass.  $c_p = dQ/dT|_p$  is the specific heat at constant pressure and  $c_v = dQ/dT|_v$  is the specific heat at constant volume. The ideal gas law calls for an additional partial differential equation for the internal energy

$$\partial_t \left(\frac{1}{2}\rho \mathbf{u}^2 + \rho e\right) = -\nabla \cdot \left(\rho \mathbf{u} \left(\frac{1}{2}\rho \mathbf{u}^2 + h\right) - \mathbf{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} - \kappa \nabla T\right)$$
(2.59)

where  $h = e + p/\rho$  is the enthalpy,

$$\sigma_{ij} = \mu \left( \partial_i u_j + \partial_j u_i - \frac{2}{3} \partial_k u_k \delta_{ij} \right) + \zeta \partial_k u_k \delta_{ij}$$
(2.60)

is the viscous stress tensor, T is the temperature and  $\kappa$  is the coefficient of thermal diffusion. For a calorically perfect gas the temperature is related to the energy by

$$e = c_v T \tag{2.61}$$

and to the enthalpy by

$$h = c_p T. (2.62)$$

In compressible hydrodynamics, density, velocity and pressure perturbations travel at the finite isentropic speed of sound

$$c = \sqrt{\gamma RT} \tag{2.63}$$

where  $R = c_p - c_v$  is the universal gas constant.

The local heating rate due to viscosity is given by

$$\varepsilon = \sigma_{ij} \partial_i u_j. \tag{2.64}$$

If isothermality (T = const) is assumed, pressure is proportional to density:

$$p = c_i^2 \rho \tag{2.65}$$

where

$$c_i = \sqrt{RT} \tag{2.66}$$

is the constant isothermal sound speed, at which perturbations travel. In this case, the energy equation is redundant, since the pressure is a function of the density alone.

If viscous processes are neglected, the dynamics of the ideal gas is governed by the Euler equations

$$\partial_t \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u} = -\frac{\nabla p}{\rho}.$$
(2.67)

The continuity equation (2.51) remains unchanged, and energy conservation is best expressed though the entropy equation

$$\partial_t S + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) S = 0 \tag{2.68}$$

where the entropy of an ideal gas is defined as

$$S = c_v \ln T - R \ln \rho. \tag{2.69}$$

Taking the curl of the Euler equation, we have

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{\omega} = \nabla \times (\mathbf{u} \times \boldsymbol{\omega}) + \frac{1}{\rho^2} \nabla \rho \times \nabla p \tag{2.70}$$

The last term on the right hand side is the baroclinic term which represents generation of vorticity by density gradients. For a barotropic gas, of which an isothermal gas is a special case,  $p = f(\rho)$  and  $\nabla \rho$  is parallel to  $\nabla p$  and the baroclinic term is zero. Thus for an isothermal gas the vorticity transport equation is identical to the one describing an incompressible fluid.

For the compressible Euler equation (2.67), the kinetic energy

$$E = \int_{V} \frac{1}{2} \rho \mathbf{u}^2 \, dV \tag{2.71}$$

is an invariant, but contrary to incompressible ideal hydrodynamics, the kinetic helicity is not conserved in the general case, except in the case of a barotropic gas. The same applies for the law of conservation of circulation.<sup>3</sup> An isothermal gas possesses the same invariants as an ideal incompressible fluid: kinetic energy and kinetic helicity, but in this case the kinetic energy is not a quadratic invariant, because of the presence of the density.

For the compressible Navier-Stokes equation the conserved quantity is the total energy  $e + \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathbf{u}^2 \rangle$ , which involves the internal energy of the gas.

#### Magnetohydrodynamics

Magnetic fields remain dynamically important in the regions of the interstellar medium where the gas flow is highly compressible, and the equations of compressible hydrodynamics are not sufficient to describe the physics of such regions. The equations of compressible magnetohydrodynamics describe the motion of a fully ionized magnetized compressible gas, again under the assumption of non-relativistic fluid velocities. The continuity equation is not modified by the presence of the magnetic field

$$\partial_t \rho + \nabla \cdot (\rho \mathbf{u}) = 0. \tag{2.72}$$

In the momentum equation, magnetic field feedback on the velocity field is represented by the addition of the Lorentz force  $\mathbf{J} \times \mathbf{B}$  on the right hand side of the momentum equation

$$\rho(\partial_t \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u}) = -\nabla p + \mathbf{J} \times \mathbf{B} + \mu \nabla^2 \mathbf{u} + \left(\zeta + \frac{1}{3}\mu\right) \nabla \nabla \cdot \mathbf{u}.$$
(2.73)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The conservation of kinetic helicity and the law of conservation of circulation require, in the most general case, that  $\nabla p/\rho$  can be written as a gradient of a function  $Q(p,\rho)$ .

The induction equation is not modified with respect to incompressible magnetohydrodynamics

$$\partial_t \mathbf{B} = \nabla \times (\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{B}) + \eta \nabla^2 \mathbf{B} \tag{2.74}$$

whereas the energy equation takes the form

$$\partial_t \left( \frac{1}{2} \rho \mathbf{u}^2 + \frac{\mathbf{B}^2}{8\pi} + \rho e \right) = -\nabla \cdot \left( \mathbf{u} \left( \frac{1}{2} \rho \mathbf{u}^2 + h \right) + \mathbf{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} - \kappa \nabla T + \frac{1}{4\pi} \mathbf{B} \times (\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{B}) - \frac{\eta}{4\pi} \mathbf{B} \times (\nabla \times \mathbf{B}) \right).$$
(2.75)

Again, this system of equations must be supplemented by an equation of state, which can be the ideal gas law or the assumption of isothermality.

If the effects of viscosity, resistivity and heat conduction are neglected, the system of ideal compressible magnetohydrodynamics reads

$$\partial_t \rho + \nabla \cdot (\rho \mathbf{u}) = 0$$
  

$$\rho(\partial_t \mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{u}) = -\nabla p + \mathbf{J} \times \mathbf{B}$$
  

$$\partial_t \mathbf{B} = \nabla \times (\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{B})$$
(2.76)

In the absence of dissipative processes and assuming isothermality, the total energy

$$E = \int_{V} \frac{1}{2}\rho \mathbf{u}^2 + \frac{\mathbf{B}^2}{8\pi} \tag{2.77}$$

is conserved. Magnetic helicity is also conserved because the induction equation (2.74) is identical to that of incompressible magnetohydrodynamics and it is easy to check that the cross-helicity is also conserved. The dissipation rates for the two helicities are identical to the ones corresponding to incompressible magnetohydrodynamics, with **J** replacing **j**, while the dissipation rate for the total energy is given by the sum of viscous dissipation (2.64) and Ohmic dissipation  $\eta$  **J**<sup>2</sup>.

# 2.3 Statistical theory

As experimental flow visualizations indicate, turbulence is a phenomenon that lies at the interface between order and chaos. The deterministic approach to the turbulence problem has certainly a lot to offer at the level of the mathematical study of solutions to equations of hydrodynamics and magnetohydrodynamics [Gallavotti, 1992, Foias et al., 2002], or the modeling of transition to turbulence by low-dimensional dynamical systems [Manneville, 2004]. The statistical approach, starting with the pioneering work of Reynolds [1883],Keller and Friedmann [1924] and Taylor [1935] has led to important predictions on the properties of fully developed turbulence. In this section, we will attempt a concise presentation of the statistical theory of turbulence. For a more complete exposition, the reader is referred to the classic books of Batchelor [1953], Monin and Yaglom [2007a] and Monin and Yaglom [2007b], as well as the modern books by Frisch [1995] and Lesieur [1997].

# 2.3.1 Statistical formulation of the turbulence problem

In a turbulent flow, the flow variables such as the velocity field<sup>4</sup> exhibit erratic, complex behavior in both space and time. As an example, figure 2.2 shows the streamwise velocity component as recorded by a hot-wire anemometer in a classical wind tunnel experiment of homogeneous isotropic turbulence behind a grid. Two realizations of a turbulent flow under macroscopically identical initial conditions will produce two velocity fields that are completely different in their details. The turbulent velocity field is modeled as a stochastic vector field

$$\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}, t, \varpi) \tag{2.78}$$

where the stochastic argument  $\varpi$  represents the identity of a particular experiment. At least formally, the turbulence problem corresponds to the following: Given the statistical properties of the stochastic vector

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In the following we will use the velocity field as an example when we refer to general properties of turbulence.

field  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}, t, \varpi)$  at t = 0, predict its statistical properties for t > 0. [Batchelor, 1953, Monin and Yaglom, 2007a]. A rigorous formulation of this problem is possible [Vishik and Fursikov, 1988], but rather intricate and to remote from the physics of turbulence. In the context of this thesis, we will not work with the general stochastic vector field  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}, t, \varpi)$  but with its moments.



Figure 2.2: Streamwise velocity component recorded by a hot-wire anemometer in a classical wind tunnel experiment of homogeneous isotropic turbulence behind a grid [Sreenivasan, 1991].

# 2.3.2 Ensemble averaging

Macroscopically identical realizations are found in practice to possess many reproducible properties. These properties are revealed if one considers an *ensemble* of realizations of the turbulent field under the same initial and boundary conditions. Then, instead of focusing on the details of individual realizations one considers properties averaged over the ensemble. This process is known as *ensemble averaging* [Monin and Yaglom, 2007a], and it is symbolized by angle brackets within this section. For example, the ensemble-averaged energy dissipation rate  $\varepsilon$  is symbolized by  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle$ . Mathematically, the ensemble average corresponds to the expectation value of the stochastic variable with respect to the stochastic argument  $\varpi$ 

$$\langle X \rangle = E(X(\varpi)). \tag{2.79}$$

#### 2.3.3 Moments

The expectation value of a random variable, say the value of the x-component of the velocity at a particular point  $\mathbf{x}_1$  and time  $t_1$ , can be expressed as an integral with the aid of the probability density function

$$E(u_x(\mathbf{x}_1, t_1)) = \int u p_1^{(\mathbf{x}_1, t_1)}(u) \ du.$$
(2.80)

Intuitively,  $p_1^{(\mathbf{x}_1,t_1)}(u) \, du$  is the probability of the random variable  $u_1(\mathbf{x}_1,t_1)$  to have a value in an interval of length du around u. One can define similarly the n-dimensional joint probability density function

$$p_{i_1i_2...i_n}^{(\mathbf{x}_1,t_1)(\mathbf{x}_2,t_2)...(\mathbf{x}_n,t_n)}(y_1,y_2,...,y_n)$$
(2.81)

which expresses the joint probability density of the values of the random variables

$$u_{i_1}(\mathbf{x}_1, t_1), u_{i_2}(\mathbf{x}_2, t_2), \dots, u_{i_n}(\mathbf{x}_n, t_n).$$
(2.82)

In principle, one has complete information on the statistics of a turbulent flow only if all possible probability distributions for any value of n and any configuration of space-time points  $(\mathbf{x}_n, t_n)$  and indices  $i_n$  are known. In practice however, such detailed knowledge is not possible, and one has to concentrate on lowerorder information. Such information is provided by the moments of the stochastic vector field  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}, t, \varpi)$ , which are defined as

$$M_{p_1p_2...p_n}^{i_1i_2...i_n}(\mathbf{x}_1, t_1, \mathbf{x}_2, t_2, ..., \mathbf{x}_n, t_n) = \langle u_{i_1}^{p_1}(\mathbf{x}_1, t_1) u_{i_2}^{p_2}(\mathbf{x}_2, t_2) ... u_{i_n}^{p_n}(\mathbf{x}_n, t_n) \rangle$$
(2.83)

where the sum  $m = p_1 + p_2 + ... + p_n$  is called the order of the moment.

# 2.3.4 Statistical symmetries

In practice, it is not always possible to build an ensemble of identical experiments, physical or numerical. If the turbulent flow possesses a *statistical symmetry*, one can replace ensemble averaging by time or space averaging invoking a corresponding ergodic hypothesis. In addition, the presence of the statistical symmetry is able to simplify moment relations considerably.

A turbulent flow is said to be spatially homogeneous, or simply *homogeneous* if its statistical properties do not depend on the position vector  $\mathbf{x}$ . Let us use the correlation tensor of the velocity field as an example,

$$B^{ij}(\mathbf{x}, t, \mathbf{x}', t') = \langle u_i(\mathbf{x}_1, t_1) u_j(\mathbf{x}_2, t_2) \rangle$$

$$(2.84)$$

keeping in mind that what holds for the correlation tensor holds for any moment. It is obvious that if the statistical properties of the turbulence do not depend on position, then the correlation tensor cannot depend on  $\mathbf{x}$  and  $\mathbf{x}'$  separately, but only on their difference  $\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}$ :

$$B^{ij}(\mathbf{x}, t, \mathbf{x}', t') = B^{ij}(\mathbf{r}, t, t'), \qquad \mathbf{r} = \mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}.$$
(2.85)

Similarly, if the statistical properties of the turbulence do not depend on time, the flow is said to be statistically stationary, or simply *stationary*. This implies that the correlation tensor depends only on the difference between the two time arguments  $\tau = t' - t$ .

$$B^{ij}(\mathbf{x}, t, \mathbf{x}', t') = B^{ij}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}', \tau), \qquad \tau = t' - t.$$
(2.86)

Last, if the statistical properties of the turbulence are invariant under rotations, the flow is said to be statistically isotropic or simply *isotropic*. In this case, the correlation tensor cannot depend on the direction of  $\mathbf{r}$ , but only on its magnitude r.

$$B^{ij}(\mathbf{x}, t, \mathbf{x}', t') = B^{ij}(r, t, t'), \qquad r = |\mathbf{x}' - \mathbf{x}|.$$
(2.87)

Isotropy implies homogeneity but not conversely. An example is axisymmetric turbulence, where all statistical properties are invariant under rotations about a specific axis. This flow is necessarily homogeneous but clearly anisotropic.

In many cases, global homogeneity and isotropy is an assumption that does not correspond to the actual physics of the flow. A very useful relaxed assumption is that of local homogeneity and isotropy. This assumption is based on the concept of a random field  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x},t)$  that is not necessarily homogeneous but has homogeneous increments. This means that the statistical properties of the random field

$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}, t) - \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}, t) \tag{2.88}$$

do not depend on the specific point  $\mathbf{x}$  but only on the vector  $\mathbf{r}$ , and perhaps the time t. If, in addition, all statistical properties depend only on the magnitude of  $\mathbf{r}$  and not its direction, the field is called locally isotropic. It is important to note that the statistical properties of a locally homogeneous random field  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x})$  do depend on  $\mathbf{x}$  in general; the field is not necessarily homogeneous. Only its increments are guaranteed to have statistics independent of position.

# 2.3.5 Structure functions

There is no obvious simplification for the moments of a locally homogeneous field, thus it is natural to consider the structure functions, which are moments of the increments

$$S_{p_1p_2...p_n}^{i_1i_2...i_n}(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, ...\mathbf{r}_n) = \langle (u_{i_1}(\mathbf{x_1} + \mathbf{r_1}) - u_{i_1}(\mathbf{x_1}))^{p_1} (u_{i_2}(\mathbf{x_2} + \mathbf{r_2}) - u_{i_2}(\mathbf{x_2}))^{p_2} ... (u_{i_n}(\mathbf{x_n} + \mathbf{r_n}) - u_{i_n}(\mathbf{x_n}))^{p_n} \rangle.$$
(2.89)

Because of the homogeneity of the increments, the structure functions depend only on the vectors  $\mathbf{r}_n$  and not on the  $\mathbf{x}_n$ . If in addition the field is locally isotropic, the structure function depends only on the magnitudes  $r_n$ .

# 2.3.6 The ergodic hypothesis

One can use the assumption of stationarity to replace ensemble averages with time averages, or the assumption of statistical homogeneity to replace ensemble averages with space averages. By performing this replacement, one invokes an *ergodic hypothesis* which for the case of stationarity is

$$\langle X \rangle = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T X(t) \ dT.$$
(2.90)

Isotropy cannot be used in this sense, because it is not possible perform a rotation by an infinite amount [Frisch, 1995]. In the case of turbulence, no proof of the ergodic hypothesis has been achieved, although it is strongly supported by experiment [Monin and Yaglom, 2007a].

# 2.3.7 Kinematic relations

Under the assumptions of isotropy and incompressibility, it is possible to obtain certain simplified expressions for the moments as well as the structure functions Landau and Lifshitz [1987], Monin and Yaglom [2007b]. In particular, the correlation tensor can be expressed as

$$B^{ij}(r) = (B^{LL}(r) - B^{NN}(r))\frac{r_i r_j}{r^2} + B^{NN}(r)\delta_{ij}$$
(2.91)

where the longitudinal correlation function is defined by

$$B^{LL}(r) = \langle u_L(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r})u_L(\mathbf{x})\rangle \tag{2.92}$$

with  $u_L(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{r}}$  the component of the velocity along the vector  $\mathbf{r}$ , a signed quantity. Similarly, the transverse correlation function is defined by

$$B^{NN}(r) = \langle u_N(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r})u_N(\mathbf{x})\rangle \tag{2.93}$$

where  $u_N(\mathbf{x})$  is the component of the velocity component in an arbitrary direction transverse to  $\mathbf{r}$ . In addition, incompressibility implies

$$B^{NN}(r) = B^{LL}(r) + \frac{r}{2} \frac{dB^{LL}(r)}{dr}$$
(2.94)

The third order moment<sup>5</sup>

$$B^{ij,l}(\mathbf{r}) = \langle u_i(\mathbf{x})u_j(\mathbf{x})u_l(\mathbf{x}+\mathbf{r})\rangle$$
(2.95)

is particularly important because, as it will be seen below, it represents nonlinear energy transfer. In isotropic turbulence, it can be written as

$$B^{ij,l}(r) = \frac{B^{LL,L}(r) - B^{NN,L}(r) - 2B^{LN,N}(r)}{r^3} r_i r_j r_l + \frac{B^{LN,N}(r)}{r} (\delta_{jl} r_i + \delta_{il} r_j) + \frac{B^{NN,L}(r)}{r} \delta_{ij} r_l \quad (2.96)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>In this chapter, we will follow the naming convention of moments in homogeneous turbulence where the indices of the components that correspond to the position  $\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}$  follow a coma.

where

$$B^{LL,L}(r) = \langle u_L(\mathbf{x})^2 u_L(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) \rangle,$$
  

$$B^{NN,L}(r) = \langle u_N(\mathbf{x})^2 u_L(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) \rangle$$
  
and 
$$B^{LN,N}(r) = \langle u_L(\mathbf{x}) u_N(\mathbf{x}) u_N(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) \rangle.$$
(2.97)

The third order moments are related due to the constraint of incompressibility:

$$B^{NN,L}(r) = -\frac{1}{2}B^{LL,L}(r), \quad B^{LN,N}(r) = \frac{1}{2}B^{LL,L}(r) + \frac{r}{4}\frac{dB^{LL,L}(r)}{dr}.$$
(2.98)

The above relations can be obtained under the sole assumptions of isotropy and incompressibility. They are kinematic relations and the Navier-Stokes equation is not used in their derivation [Monin and Yaglom, 2007b].

Two important length scales can be defined in terms of the longitudinal correlation function  $B^{LL}(r)$ . The first is the integral length scale defined by

$$L_i = \frac{\int_0^\infty B^{LL}(r) \, dr}{B^{LL}(0)}.$$
(2.99)

The integral length scale provides an estimate of the maximum spatial extent over which correlations exist in a turbulent flow. A turbulent flow with a large integral length scale exhibits larger-scale correlations in comparison with a flow having a smaller integral length scale. The second length scale is the Taylor microscale defined by

$$\lambda = \left(-\frac{B^{LL}(0)}{2(B^{LL})''(0)}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(2.100)

It expresses the rate of decay of the longitudinal correlation function near the origin. The smaller the Taylor microscale, the more rapid is the decrease of the correlation function near the origin. The Taylor microscale can also be expressed in terms of the kinetic energy and the mean energy dissipation [Monin and Yaglom, 2007b]

$$\lambda = \left(\frac{15\nu E}{\langle \varepsilon \rangle}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(2.101)

For a locally isotropic field, the simplified relations for the structure functions are completely analogous to the relations (2.91,2.96) for the moments of an isotropic field. In particular the second order structure function tensor can be written as

$$S^{ij}(r) = (S_2^L(r) - S_2^N(r))\frac{r_i r_j}{r^2} + S_2^N(r)\delta_{ij}$$
(2.102)

where

$$S_2^L(r) = \langle \delta u_L(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{r}) \rangle = \langle (u_L(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - u_L(\mathbf{x}))^2 \rangle$$
  
and  $S_2^N(r) = \langle \delta u_N(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{r}) \rangle = \langle (u_N(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - u_N(\mathbf{x}))^2 \rangle$   
(2.103)

are the longitudinal and transverse second order structure functions respectively. Due to the incompressibility constraint, they are related by

$$S_2^N(r) = S_2^L(r) + \frac{r}{2} \frac{dS_2^L(r)}{dr}.$$
(2.104)

If the turbulence is globally isotropic, the second order structure functions are obviously related to the correlations by

$$S_2^L(r) = 2(B^{LL}(0) - B^{LL}(r)), \quad S_2^N(r) = 2(B^{NN}(0) - B^{NN}(r)).$$
(2.105)

where

$$B(0) = B^{LL}(0) = B^{NN}(0) = \frac{\langle \mathbf{u}^2(\mathbf{x}, t) \rangle}{3}$$
(2.106)

The third order structure tensor

$$S^{ijl}(r) = \langle (u_i(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - u_i(\mathbf{x}))(u_j(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - u_j(\mathbf{x}))(u_l(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - u_l(\mathbf{x})) \rangle$$
(2.107)

can be written as

$$S^{ijl}(r) = (S_3^L(r) - 3S_3^{LNN}(r))\frac{r_i r_j r_l}{r^3} + S_3^{LNN}(r)\left(\frac{r_i}{r}\delta_{jl} + \frac{r_j}{r}\delta_{il} + \frac{r_l}{r}\delta_{ij}\right)$$
(2.108)

where

$$S_{3}^{L}(r) = \langle (u_{L}(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - u_{L}(\mathbf{x}))^{3} \rangle, \quad S_{3}^{LNN}(r) \langle (u_{L}(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - u_{L}(\mathbf{x}))(u_{N}(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - u_{N}(\mathbf{x}))^{2} \rangle.$$
(2.109)

For a solenoidal velocity field,

$$S_3^{LNN}(r) = \frac{1}{6} \left( S_3^L(r) + r \frac{dS_3^L(r)}{dr} \right)$$
(2.110)

Again, the above relations follow directly from the assumptions of incompressibility and isotropy, with no input from the dynamical equations.

## 2.3.8 Spectral quantities

The definition of the Fourier representation of a homogeneous random field

$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}) = \int \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k}) e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \, d\mathbf{k}$$
(2.111)

presents a particular difficulty: because the definition of a homogeneous field implies that it cannot decay at infinity, the Fourier coefficients are not ordinary random functions but random distributions [Frisch, 1995]. An alternative formulation in terms of Fourier-Stieltjes integrals is possible [Batchelor, 1953, Monin and Yaglom, 2007b], involving only ordinary random functions, but this formulation is more cumbersome in actual calculations. Here, we will adopt the first approach. The Fourier coefficients are defined by

$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}) e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \, d\mathbf{x}.$$
 (2.112)

The Fourier transform of the correlation tensor with respect to the separation  $\mathbf{r}$  defines the spectral tensor  $F^{ij}(\mathbf{k})$ 

$$B^{ij}(\mathbf{x}) = \int F^{ij}(\mathbf{k})e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}} d\mathbf{r}.$$
 (2.113)

Now,  $B_{ii}(0) = \langle \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x})^2 \rangle$  thus

$$\frac{1}{2} \langle \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x})^2 \rangle = \int \frac{1}{2} F^{ii}(\mathbf{k}) \, d\mathbf{k}$$
(2.114)

The above relation shows that the spectral tensor provides a measure of the energy associated with a particular wavevector  $\mathbf{k}$ . It is often useful to consider the energy associated with a particular wavenumber  $k = |\mathbf{k}|$ :

$$\frac{1}{2} \langle \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x})^2 \rangle = \int_0^\infty E(k) \ dk \tag{2.115}$$

where the energy spectrum E(k) is defined by integrating the spectral tensor over all angles in wavevector space

$$E(k) = \int_{|\mathbf{k}|=k} \frac{1}{2} F^{ii}(\mathbf{k}) \ d\mathbf{k} = 2\pi k^2 F^{ii}(|\mathbf{k}|=k).$$
(2.116)

In isotropic turbulence, the energy spectrum completely characterizes the spectral energy distribution, as the spectral tensor can be written as

$$F^{ij}(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{E(k)}{4\pi k^2} \left( \delta_{ij} - \frac{k_i k_j}{k^2} \right).$$
(2.117)

The energy spectrum E(k) can be expressed in terms of the longitudinal correlation function, and vice-versa Monin and Yaglom [2007b]:

$$E(k) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^\infty (kr \sin kr - k^2 r^2 \cos kr) B^{LL}(r) \, dr,$$
  

$$B^{LL}(r) = 2 \int_0^\infty \left( -\frac{\cos kr}{(kr)^2} + \frac{\sin kr}{(kr)^3} \right) E(k) \, dk.$$
(2.118)

Similarly, for locally isotropic turbulence, the longitudinal second order structure function can be expressed in terms of the energy spectrum Monin and Yaglom [2007b]

$$S_2^L(r) = 4 \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{1}{3} + \frac{\cos kr}{(kr)^2} - \frac{\sin kr}{(kr)^3}\right) E(k) \ dk.$$
(2.119)

The above relation implies that if the energy spectrum is a power-law of the form

$$E(k) = Ck^{-1-\gamma} \tag{2.120}$$

then the longitudinal second order structure function is also a power-law:

$$S_2^L(r) = C'r^{\gamma}.$$
 (2.121)

Using the constrains of isotropy and incompressibility, it can be shown that the spectral tensor corresponding the third order moment

$$F_{ij,l}(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int B_{ij,l}(\mathbf{r}) e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}} d\mathbf{r}$$
(2.122)

can be expressed in terms of a single scalar function  $F_3(k)$ :

$$F_{ij,l}(\mathbf{k}) = iF_3(k) \left( \delta_{jl} \frac{k_i}{k} + \delta_{il} \frac{k_j}{k} - \frac{2k_i k_j k_l}{k^3} \right).$$
(2.123)

In terms of the energy spectrum, the integral length scale is

$$L_{i} = \frac{\pi}{2} \frac{\int_{0}^{\infty} k^{-1} E(k) \, dk}{\int_{0}^{\infty} E(k) \, dk}$$
(2.124)

while the Taylor microscale is given by

$$\lambda = \left(\frac{3\int_0^\infty E(k) \, dk}{2\int_0^\infty k^2 E(k) \, dk}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(2.125)

# 2.3.9 Dynamical relations

Starting from the incompressible Navier-Stokes equation (2.1), it is possible to derive equations for the moments such as the correlation tensor Landau and Lifshitz [1987], Monin and Yaglom [2007b]. However, because of the quadratic nonlinearity of the governing equations, such an equation for a m-th order moment will contain unknown moments of order m + 1. Thus the system of moment equations always involves more unknown quantities than equations. To find a way to close this system and obtain a solution is known as the closure problem.

For the more general case of homogeneous turbulence, the transport equation for the correlation tensor reads

$$\partial_t B^{ij}(\mathbf{r},t) + \partial_k (B^{ik,j}(\mathbf{r},t) - B^{i,jk}(\mathbf{r},t)) = \frac{1}{\rho} (\partial_i B^{pj}(\mathbf{r},t) - \partial_j B^{ip}(\mathbf{r},t)) + 2\nu \nabla^2 B^{ij}(\mathbf{r},t)$$
(2.126)

where

$$B^{pj}(\mathbf{r},t) = \langle p(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r},t)u_j(\mathbf{x},t) \rangle$$
(2.127)

is the pressure-velocity correlation. This equation is the general Kármán-Howarth equation for homogeneous turbulence. It describes the evolution of the second order moment  $B^{ij}(\mathbf{r},t)$  in terms of the third order moment  $B^{ij,k}(\mathbf{r},t)$ . The terms involving  $B^{ij,k}(\mathbf{r},t)$  represent dissipationless nonlinear energy transfer, whereas the term  $2\nu\nabla^2 B^{ij}(\mathbf{r},t)$  represents viscous dissipation. In Fourier space, the Kármán-Howarth equation becomes

$$\partial_t F^{ij}(\mathbf{k},t) = \Gamma^{ij}(\mathbf{k},t) + \Pi^{ij}(\mathbf{k},t) - 2\nu k^2 F^{ij}(\mathbf{k},t)$$
(2.128)

where

$$\Pi^{ij}(\mathbf{k},t) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int (\partial_i B^{pj}(\mathbf{r},t) - \partial_j B^{pi}(\mathbf{r},t)) e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}} d\mathbf{r}$$
(2.129)

is the Fourier representation of the terms corresponding to the pressure-velocity correlation. In this case, nonlinear energy transfer is expressed by the tensor  $\Gamma^{ij}(\mathbf{k},t)$  while viscous dissipation is represented by the term  $2\nu k^2 F^{ij}(\mathbf{k},t)$ .

In the case of isotropic turbulence, the general Kármán-Howarth equation can be considerably simplified to the following form

$$\partial_t B^{LL}(r,t) = \left(\partial_r + \frac{4}{r}\right) \left(B^{LL,L}(r,t) + 2\nu \partial_r B^{LL}(r,t)\right).$$
(2.130)

This equation is known as the isotropic Kármán-Howarth equation. Here, nonlinear energy transfer is represented by the third order moment  $B^{LL,L}(r,t)$  while viscous dissipation is represented by the term  $2\nu\partial_r B^{LL}(r,t)$ . In spectral space, the isotropic Kárman-Howarth equation assumes the form

$$\partial_t E(k,t) = T(k,t) - 2\nu k^2 E(k,t), \qquad T(k,t) = -8\pi k^2 F_3(k,t).$$
 (2.131)

In this case, nonlinear energy transfer is expressed in terms of the single scalar function  $F_3(k, t)$ . In the above equation, the term  $-2\nu k^2 E(k, t)$  represents viscous dissipation, whereas the term T(k, t) defined in terms of  $F_3(k, t)$  represents nonlinear energy transfer. An important property of the nonlinear energy transfer term is that its integral across the spectrum vanishes [Batchelor, 1953, Monin and Yaglom, 2007b]:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} T(k,t) \, dk = 0. \tag{2.132}$$

Thus the nonlinear energy transfer term only redistributes energy across different Fourier modes without modifying the global energy budget.

Observing the global energy budget. Observing that both  $\int_0^\infty 2\nu k^2 E(k) dk$  and  $\nu \langle \boldsymbol{\omega}^2 \rangle$  are equal to the mean dissipation rate  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle$ , we see after multiplying equation (2.131) with  $k^2$  that the term  $k^2 T(k,t)$  represents the rate of change of the enstrophy due to nonlinear vortex-stretching interactions. It can be shown [Batchelor and Townsend, 1949] that this term is related to the skewness of the velocity derivative

$$\Sigma_3 = \frac{\langle (\partial_x u)^3 \rangle}{\langle (\partial_x u)^2 \rangle^{3/2}} = \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{S_3^L(r)}{(S_2^L(r))^{3/2}}$$
(2.133)

by the formula

$$\Sigma_3(t) = -\left(\frac{135}{98}\right)^{1/2} \frac{\int_0^\infty k^2 T(k,t) \, dk}{\int_0^\infty k^2 E(k,t) \, dk}.$$
(2.134)

This formula reveals the connection between the third order structure function  $S_L^3(r)$  and nonlinear energy transfer explicitly. If vortex stretching is present, the right hand side is positive and the skewness of the velocity derivative is negative.

For locally isotropic turbulence, it is possible to express the Kármán-Howarth relation in terms of structure functions [Landau and Lifshitz, 1987]

$$-\frac{2}{3}\langle\varepsilon\rangle -\frac{1}{2}\partial_t S_2^L(r,t) = \frac{1}{6r^4}\partial_r (r^4 S_3^L(r,t)) - \frac{\nu}{r^4}\partial_r (r^4 \partial_r S_2^L(r,t))$$
(2.135)

where

$$\langle \varepsilon \rangle = -\partial_t \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathbf{u}^2 \rangle \tag{2.136}$$

is the mean energy dissipation rate. If the turbulence is stationary,  $\partial_t S_2^L(r,t) = 0$  and the equation can be integrated to give the following relation

$$S_3^L(r) = -\frac{4}{5} \langle \varepsilon \rangle r + 6\nu \partial_r S_2^L(r).$$
(2.137)

This relation is known as the 4/5-ths law and was first derived by Kolmogorov [1941c]. It is an exact result that follows from the Navier-Stokes equations under the assumptions of local isotropy and stationarity. If, in addition, the limit of infinite Reynolds number is taken, the term  $6\nu\partial_r S_2^L(r)$  can be neglected and the law assumes the simple form

$$S_3^L(r) = -\frac{4}{5} \langle \varepsilon \rangle r \tag{2.138}$$

The above form of the 4/5-ths law contains the additional assumption of the dissipative anomaly: the mean dissipation rate  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle$  remains finite in the limit of infinite Reynolds number. This important assumption remains unproven, but is supported by both experimental [Sreenivasan and Antonia, 1997] and numerical [Kaneda and Ishihara, 2006] data. An important implication of the 4/5ths law is that, under the assumptions that lead to its derivation, the velocity increment is expected to scale as the third power of the distance

$$u_L(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - u_L(\mathbf{x}) \propto |\mathbf{r}|^{1/3}.$$
(2.139)

# 2.4 Phenomenology

The nonlinear nature of the governing equations makes it difficult to derive exact results about turbulent flows. It is however possible to derive several useful results starting from plausible assumptions without direct use of the governing equations. This *phenomenological* approach was pioneered by Kolmogorov [1941a] and Obukhov [1941] following the intuitive ideas of Richardson [1922]. It is based on the concept of the energy cascade: energy is fed in the large scales, and a hierarchy of eddies of ever smaller scale is created by successive instabilities. As large eddies break into smaller eddies, the influence of the energy input and the boundary conditions is forgotten and the turbulent flow tends towards local isotropy. At some point, eddies become small enough for dissipation to be important and the cascade terminates. Thus, energy flows continuously from large scales to small scales, where it is dissipated into heat by viscosity in the *dissipative range of scales*. For length scales much smaller than the scale where energy is injected, but also much larger than the dissipative range, the influence of both energy injection and dissipation can be neglected. This range is governed by dissipationless nonlinear energy transfer mediated by the inertial terms of the equations of motion, and is known as the *inertial range*.

# 2.4.1 Incompressible hydrodynamic turbulence: the Kolmogorov [1941a]-Obukhov [1941] theory (K41)

Let us concentrate on the properties of a particular eddy lying in the inertial range. The notion of an eddy is not a precisely defined mathematical concept but a loosely defined physical entity: it represents a structure of the turbulent flow localized in space, time and scale. Thus, an eddy is characterized by a length scale  $\lambda$  and a velocity scale  $\delta u_{\lambda}$ , which is a typical velocity difference across the distance  $\lambda$ . From these two quantities we can form a timescale  $\tau_{\lambda} = \lambda/\delta u_{\lambda}$ .

During the cascade process, an eddy of scale  $\lambda$  in the inertial range breaks into several smaller eddies of size  $\lambda' < \lambda$  under the action of nonlinear instability. These "daughter" eddies go unstable in their turn and break up into the next generation of still smaller eddies. This dissipationless cascade process is repeated until the eddies produced are small enough for the viscosity to damp the instability that induces the breakdown. The cascade process is shown schematically in figure 2.3.

For sufficiently high Reynolds numbers, the separation of scales between large scale energy input and small scale dissipation is so large that it is possible to define the inertial range such that the eddies lying there do not feel the effects of the forcing or the dissipation. In addition, if the inertial range is long enough the cascade process contains a sufficient number of eddy generations for the large-scale details to be forgotten, leading the small scales towards local isotropy.



Figure 2.3: Schematic representation of the energy cascade process (from Ecke [2005]).

For the inertial range of scales, it is natural to assume that the characteristics of each eddy depend only on the mean energy dissipation rate  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle$  and the length scale  $\lambda$ , and not on the scale of the energy input L or the viscosity  $\nu$ . This assumption is the content of the first hypothesis of similarity of Kolmogorov [1941a]. The energy associated with an eddy of size  $\lambda$  is  $(\delta u_{\lambda})^2$ . Assuming that this energy cascades towards smaller scales in the timescale  $\tau_{\lambda}$ , we have  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle = (\delta u_{\lambda})^3 / \tau_{\lambda}$ . Because the energy dissipation rate is, by assumption, a constant quantity independent of scale, we have

$$\delta u_{\lambda} \propto \langle \varepsilon \rangle^{1/3} \lambda^{1/3} \propto \lambda^{1/3}. \tag{2.140}$$

This relation is supported by the 4/5-ths law (2.138), which implies that the velocity increment should scale as the 1/3-power of the distance. In the inertial range, the structure functions scale as

$$S_p^L(r) = \langle (\delta u_L(r))^p \rangle \propto (\langle \varepsilon \rangle r)^{p/3}$$
(2.141)

with a similar expression for the transverse structure functions  $\langle (\delta u_N(r))^p \rangle$ . Because of relations (2.120),(2.121), the energy spectrum scales as

$$E(k) \propto \langle \varepsilon \rangle^{2/3} k^{-5/3} \tag{2.142}$$

This expression for the energy spectrum was first derived by Kolmogorov [1941a] and Obukhov [1941]. It was later re-derived indepedently by Onsager [1945] and Heisenberg [1948]. One can use the prediction (2.140) to define an eddy Reynolds number

$$Re(\lambda) = \frac{\delta u_{\lambda}\lambda}{\nu} \propto \lambda^{4/3}$$
 (2.143)

which, as expected, decreases as the scale  $\lambda$  decreases: smaller eddies are more and more influenced by viscosity. At the scale  $l_d$  where  $Re(l_d) \sim 1$ , viscosity is expected to dominate. This scale can be taken as a representative scale of the dissipative range

$$l_d = \left(\frac{\nu^3}{\langle\varepsilon\rangle}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$
(2.144)

The above estimate can provide information on the number of active degrees of freedom in a turbulent flow. Assuming that the largest scale is the integral length scale  $L_i$ , we have

$$N = \left(\frac{L_i}{l_d}\right)^3 \propto Re^{3/4}.$$
(2.145)

Relation (2.144) for the dissipative scale can equivalently be derived under the assumption that in the dissipative range of scales, the properties of the turbulence should depend only on  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle$  and  $\nu$ . This assumption forms the content of the second similarity hypothesis of Kolmogorov [1941a].

### 2.4.2 Incompressible magnetohydrodynamic turbulence

### The Iroshnikov-Kraichnan theory

In incompressible magnetohydrodynamic turbulence, the eddy concept is replaced by the concept of an Alfvén wave. Two colliding Alfvén waves are deformed by the nonlinear term in such a way that total energy and cross-helicity remain constant, since these quantities are only dissipated by the diffusive terms.

This property allowed Iroshnikov [1964] and Kraichnan [1965] (IK) to construct a phenomenological theory of the inertial range. They considered the Elsässer equation (2.42) in the presence of a mean magnetic field  $\mathbf{B}_0$ :

$$\partial_t \mathbf{z}^{\pm} \mp \mathbf{v}_A \cdot \mathbf{z}^{\pm} + \left(\mathbf{z}^{\mp} \cdot \nabla\right) \mathbf{z}^{\pm} = -\nabla \tilde{P} + \nu^+ \nabla^2 \mathbf{z}^{\pm} + \nu^- \nabla^2 \mathbf{z}^{\mp}$$
(2.146)

where  $\mathbf{v}_A = \mathbf{B}_0 / \sqrt{4\pi\rho}$  is the Alfvén velocity defined in terms of the mean field. The mean field  $\mathbf{B}_0$  can be either a global imposed field or a local average.

If the Alfvén wave amplitude at a scale  $\lambda$  is  $\delta u_{\lambda}$ , during a collision of two waves it changes by the magnitude of the nonlinear term  $\delta u_{\lambda}^2/\lambda$  multiplied by the interaction time  $\lambda/V_A$ :  $\Delta \delta u_{\lambda} = \delta u_{\lambda}^2/V_A$ . If one further assumes that collisions change the energy of the waves as a random walk, the number of collisions required to deform each wave considerably is  $N = (\delta u_{\lambda}/\Delta \delta u_{\lambda})^2 = (V_A/\delta u_{\lambda})^2$ . The timescale of the cascade is  $\tau_{IK} = N\lambda/V_A = (\lambda V_A)/\delta u_{\lambda}^2$ . Assuming a constant energy flux through the inertial range  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle = \delta u_{\lambda}^2/\tau_{IK}$ , one obtains the scaling  $\delta u_{\lambda} \propto (\langle \varepsilon \rangle B_0 \lambda)^{1/4}$ . For the energy spectrum, IK predicts  $E(k) \propto C_{IK} (\langle \varepsilon \rangle B_0)^{1/2} k^{-3/2}$  while the dissipative scale is  $l_d^{IK} = (B_0 \eta^2/\langle \varepsilon \rangle)^{1/3}$ .

#### The Goldreich-Sridhar theory

In the IK theory, the energy spectrum is isotropic. Goldreich and Sridhar [1995] (GS95) introduced the assumption of critical balance: the Alfvén term  $\mp (\mathbf{v}_A \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{z}^{\pm}$  is of the same order as the nonlinear term  $(\mathbf{z}^{\mp} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{z}^{\pm}$ . This implies  $V_A/l \sim \delta b_{\lambda}/\lambda$  with l the longitudinal scale of the wave and  $\lambda$  its transverse scale. l is equal to the product of the Alfvén velocity  $V_A$  and the eddy turnover time  $\tau_{GS} = \lambda/\delta u_{\lambda}$ , implying  $\delta u_{\lambda} \sim \delta b_{\lambda}$ .  $\tau_{GS}$  is chosen as the timescale of the cascade, and the constancy of the energy flux  $\delta u_{\lambda}^2/\tau_{GS}$  gives  $\delta u_{\lambda} \sim \delta b_{\lambda} \propto \lambda^{1/3}$  in the inertial range. This scaling is identical to K41, except that the scale  $\lambda$  is perpendicular to the magnetic field, resulting in an anisotropic energy spectrum  $E(k_{\perp}) \propto \langle \varepsilon \rangle^{2/3} k_{\perp}^{-5/3}$ . In fact, critical balance implies  $l \propto \langle \varepsilon \rangle^{-1/3} B_0 \lambda^{2/3}$ , so that the cascade becomes increasingly anisotropic at small scales.

### 2.4.3 Compressible turbulence

From the point of view of phenomenology, an important difference between incompressible and compressible turbulence is the absence, in the compressible case, of a quadratic conserved quantity which would allow the construction of a cascade argument. In incompressible turbulence this role is played by the kinetic energy  $1/2\langle \mathbf{u}^2 \rangle$  which is exactly conserved by nonlinear interactions involving triads of wavenumbers. In compressible turbulence the conserved quantity is the total energy  $\langle e + 1/2\rho \mathbf{u}^2 \rangle$  which involves the internal energy of the gas and cannot be obviously related to the statistics of the velocity field. Another complicating factor is that nonlinear interactions in compressible turbulence are fundamentally more complex due to the presence of the density field. Even in the case of isothermal turbulence, where the conserved quantity is  $\langle 1/2\rho \mathbf{u}^2 \rangle$ , the cubic nonlinearity due to the presence of the density field complicates things considerably.



Figure 2.4: Viscous dissipation rate along a fixed line from a  $1024^3$  incompressible magnetohydrodynamics simulation with initial condition based on the ABC flow. The snapshot shown is at the temporal peak of total (ohmic + viscous) dissipation [G. Momferratos, unpublished].

Theoretical results in compressible turbulence are even scarcer than incompressible turbulence. Galtier and Banerjee [2011] have derived an exact expression, analogous to the 4/5ths law, for the third order structure function in isothermal turbulence. Banerjee and Galtier [2013] have generalized this result for isothermal magnetohydrodynamic turbulence.

# 2.5 Intermittency

All the phenomenological theories presented in section 2.4 are built on the assumption that the energy dissipation rate  $\varepsilon(\mathbf{x})$  is uniformly distributed in space. Both experiments [Batchelor and Townsend, 1949, Grant et al., 1962, Anselmet et al., 1984] and numerical simulations [Siggia, 1981, Kerr, 1985, Vincent and Meneguzzi, 1991] have shown that this is not the case: in fact, the energy dissipation rate is concentrated on a few intense structures separated by large quiescent regions, a property known as *intermittency*. Figure 2.4 shows an example of an intermittent function: the viscous energy dissipation rate along a fixed line, taken from a high Reynolds number incompressible magnetohydrodynamics simulation. The dissipation rate is clearly concentrated in a small subset of the line, assuming high values there. The property of intermittency has obvious important practical consequences for the heating in a turbulent flow, but it also has important theoretical consequences for the general scaling properties of the turbulence.

# 2.5.1 Self-similarity and intermittency

Let us focus on the longitudinal component of a turbulent velocity field  $u_L(x)$ . The property of intermittency can be quantified if one considers the random variable

$$\theta(r) = \frac{\delta u_L(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{r})}{(\langle \varepsilon \rangle r)^{1/3}} = \frac{u_L(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - u_L(\mathbf{x})}{(\langle \varepsilon \rangle r)^{1/3}}$$
(2.147)

where homogeneity and isotropy of the velocity field have been assumed. Under the assumptions leading to K41, the probability density function of the random variable  $\theta(r)$  should be independent of the scale r: the velocity field is *self-similar*. Perhaps the most well-studied example of a self-similar random function is Brownian motion, a realization of which is presented in figure 2.5. In the figure, it is intuitively clear that the statistical properties of the curve do not depend on scale.



Figure 2.5: A realization of one-dimensional Brownian motion. "Wiener process zoom". Licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 3.0 via Wikimedia Commons.

For an intermittent velocity field however, this is no longer the case: as smaller separations r are considered, the tails of the distributions corresponding to extreme velocity bursts become increasingly important. For example in many cases the distribution  $p(\delta u_L(x, r))$  is very close to Gaussian for large r but assumes a very different form, such as a stretched exponential for small r. This can be seen clearly in figure 2.6, where the pdf of the longitudinal velocity increment from a high resolution incompressible hydrodynamical simulation is shown for various separations. For a function that exhibits no intermittency, the non-dimensional ratios<sup>6</sup>

$$F(r) = \frac{S_L^{2p}(r)}{(S_L^p(r))^2}$$
(2.148)

are independent of scale: there is no statistical difference between large and small scales. For an intermittent function, by contrast, there is by definition much more extreme bursts in the small scales than in the large scales, and thus the ratios F(r) are expected to grow with decreasing r:

$$F(r) \propto \left(\frac{L_i}{r}\right)^{\delta}$$
. (2.149)

This is because the structure functions  $S^{2p}(r)$  in the nominator are of higher order than those in the denominator, and thus sample the tails of the probability distribution of the velocity increment corresponding to extreme events. For an intermittent function, these tails become stronger and stronger at small increments leading to a faster increase of the quantity  $S^{2p}(r)$  in comparison with  $(S^p(r))^2$ . Thus the introduction of the property of intermittency breaks the self-similarity of the velocity field by introducing the integral length scale  $L_i$  in the scaling of the statistics.

The phenomenological theories presented in section 2.4 are clearly self-similar. In K41 for example, the structure functions scale as

$$S_p^L(r) \propto r^{p/3} \tag{2.150}$$

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$ We will use longitudinal structure functions for definiteness, although there is no distinction between longitudinal and transverse structure functions in the context of this chapter.



Figure 2.6: Pdf of the longitudinal velocity increment from a high resolution incompressible hydrodynamical simulation for various separations  $r_n = 2^n \Delta x$ ,  $\Delta x$  being the distance between grid points in the simulations. (from Ishihara et al. [2009]).

which implies that F(r) is constant. These phenomenological theories are therefore incompatible with intermittency.

# 2.5.2 The refined similarity hypothesis

The measures of intermittency of the velocity field, expressed by the scaling of the structure functions  $S_p^L(r)$ , can be related to the intermittency characteristics of the dissipation field  $\varepsilon(\mathbf{x})$ . Obukhov [1962] suggested that  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle$ , the mean energy dissipation rate could be replaced by the quantity

$$\varepsilon_r = \frac{1}{4/3\pi r^3} \int_B \varepsilon(\mathbf{x}) \, d\mathbf{x} \tag{2.151}$$

which is the energy dissipation rate averaged over a sphere *B* of radius *r*. One can use this quantity to define the time scale  $T_r = r^{2/3} \varepsilon_r^{-1/3}$ , the velocity scale  $U_r = (r \varepsilon_r)^{1/3}$ , the scale-dependent Reynolds number  $Re_r = Ur/\nu = r^{4/3} \varepsilon_r^{1/3}/\nu$  and the dissipation scale  $l_d^r = \nu^{3/4} \varepsilon_r^{-1/4}$ . Kolmogorov [1962] went further by introducing a refined similarity hypothesis which states the statistical properties of the non-dimensional velocities

$$\mathbf{w}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_k, \tau_k) = \frac{\mathbf{u}(\boldsymbol{\xi}_k r, \tau_k T_r)}{U_k}$$
(2.152)

where  $|\boldsymbol{\xi}_k|$  and  $|\tau_k|$  are of order unity, depend only on  $Re_r$ . In addition, if  $Re_r \to \infty$  then the aforementioned statistical properties become universal.

It follows from this hypothesis that for  $l_d^r \ll r \ll L_i$ , the structure functions can be expressed as

$$S_p^L(r) = C_p \langle \varepsilon_r^{p/3} \rangle r^{p/3} \tag{2.153}$$

where the  $C_p$  are constants of order unity.

The refined similarity hypothesis allows to bridge the scaling exponents of the dissipation field and the scaling exponents of the structure functions.

$$S_p^L(r) \propto \langle \varepsilon \rangle^{p/3} r^{\zeta_p^L}, \qquad \zeta_p^L = p/3 + \tau_{p/3}$$
 (2.154)

where  $\tau_p$  is the scaling exponent of the dissipation field defined by

$$\langle \varepsilon_r^p \rangle \propto \langle \varepsilon \rangle^p \left(\frac{r}{L_i}\right)^{\tau_p}.$$
 (2.155)

It must be stressed that the introduction of relation (2.155) and the scaling exponent  $\tau_p$  is a second assumption of extended self-similarity, independent from assumption (2.152).

## 2.5.3 Scaling properties of the dissipation field

The refined similarity hypothesis suggests that the K41 theory is only a first approximation because it ignores fluctuations in the energy dissipation rate. Thus K41 is only a mean field theory of turbulence and fluctuations in the dissipation rate will introduce at least one more universal scaling exponent. In this context, the most simple relevant correlation is

$$\langle \varepsilon(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r})\varepsilon(\mathbf{x}) \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^2 (r^2 \langle \varepsilon_r \rangle)}{dr^2}$$
(2.156)

where the right hand side follows from homogeneity and the definition of  $\varepsilon_r$ . For r in the inertial range of scales, it is natural to assume that this correlation function scales as a power of r. Assuming further that the viscosity plays no role at these scales, we expect, because of assumption (2.155)

$$\langle \varepsilon(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r})\varepsilon(\mathbf{x}) \rangle \propto \langle \varepsilon \rangle^2 \left(\frac{L_i}{r}\right)^{\mu}.$$
 (2.157)

Thus, the fluctuations of the dissipation field introduce a new scaling exponent  $\mu$ . For incompressible hydrodynamic turbulence, the value of  $\mu$  found in experiments and numerical simulations is  $0.20 \pm 0.05$  [Anselmet et al., 2001].

As an example of how the exponent  $\mu$  can enter the scaling of the velocity field, let us suppose that indeed in the inertial range  $\varepsilon_r$  scales as (2.155) and the structure functions  $S_p^L(r)$  scales as (2.154). Then, the refined similarity hypothesis implies that  $\zeta_6^L = 3 - \mu$ .

The scaling properties of the energy dissipation rate can be characterized in more details by introducing the notion of *multifractality* [Frisch and Parisi, 1985, Paladin and Vulpiani, 1987]. The energy dissipation field is said to be multifractal if it exhibits the scaling

$$\frac{\varepsilon_r(\mathbf{x})}{\langle \varepsilon \rangle} \propto \left(\frac{r}{L_i}\right)^{\alpha - 1} \tag{2.158}$$

for all points  $\mathbf{x}$  lying in a set  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$  which has fractal dimension dim $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha} = F(\alpha)$ . Thus, a multifractal dissipation field has singularities of exponent  $\alpha - 1$  on sets of dimensions  $F(\alpha)$ . The function  $F(\alpha)$  is called the spectrum of singularities of the multifractal field.

For a three-dimensional turbulent flow, the probability of a randomly chosen sphere centered at the point  $\mathbf{x}$  with a radius equal to r to lie in a given set  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$  scales as [Frisch, 1995]

$$\mathcal{P}(\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}) \propto \left(\frac{r}{L_i}\right)^{3-F(\alpha)}$$
 (2.159)

The quantity  $3 - F(\alpha)$  is called the co-dimension of the set  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$ . This implies that the moment of the dissipation is given by the integral

$$\langle \varepsilon_r^q \rangle = \langle \varepsilon \rangle^q \int_{\alpha_{min}}^{\alpha_{max}} \left( \frac{r}{L_i} \right)^{q(\alpha-1)+3-F(\alpha)} d\alpha.$$
 (2.160)

By a steepest-descent argument [Bender and Orszag, 1999], the above integral yelds the dissipation scaling exponent  $\tau_q$ :

$$\tau_q = \min_{\alpha} \{ q(\alpha - 1) + 3 - F(\alpha) \}.$$
(2.161)

An important consequence of multifractality which is apparent in the above relation is that the scaling exponent  $\tau_q$  becomes in general a nonlinear function of the order q. Through the bridge relation (2.154), this implies that the longitudinal structure function scaling exponents  $\zeta_p^L$  are also a nonlinear function of p. This is to be contrasted with the phenomenological theories of section 2.4 which all predict a linear relation between p and  $\zeta_p^L$ , but also with the unifractal beta model of Frisch et al. [1978].

The above definition of multifractality assumes that singularities are indeed present in the dissipation field, a fact that is far from obvious based on the current understanding of the Navier-Stokes equation [Gallavotti, 1992, Foias et al., 2002]. One can circumvent this difficulty by adopting the following probabilistic definition of multifractality [Frisch, 1995]: the dissipation field is said to be multifractal if there is a function  $F(\alpha)$ which maps real scaling exponents  $\alpha$  to scaling dimensions  $F \leq 3$  such that for any  $\alpha$  we have

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \frac{\ln \mathcal{C}_r(r^{\alpha - 1})}{\ln r} = 3 - F(\alpha)$$
(2.162)

where  $C_r(\varepsilon)$  is the cumulative distribution function of the energy dissipation rate  $\varepsilon_r$ . In addition to avoiding the unnecessary assumption of the existence of singularities in the dissipation field, the above probabilistic definition leads to the interpretation of intermittency in terms of large deviations theory [Frisch, 1995], which will not be presented here.

# 2.5.4 Models of intermittency

In this subsection, we will present specific intermittency models which have been useful either conceptually or in analyzing and interpreting data from experiments, observations and numerical simulations. All these models are purely phenomenological, as they do not deduce intermittency properties directly from the governing equations but use instead plausible physical assumptions for the cascade process. For a more complete review of intermittency models the reader is referred to the second volume of Monin and Yaglom [2007b] and to the book of Frisch [1995].

#### Random cascade models

Let us consider a turbulent flow inside a cube of side  $l_0$  in which the energy dissipation rate is uniform, equal to  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle$ . In a random cascade model, this uniform average value represents the "mother eddy" of generation n = 0. The eddies of the next generation n = 1 are obtained by subdividing the cube into eight equal sub-cubes of side  $l_1 = l_0/2$ . In each new sub-cube, the value of the energy dissipation rate is defined as the product of the value corresponding to the previous generation with a chosen random variable W, which has the following properties:

$$W \ge 0, \quad \langle W \rangle = 1, \quad \langle W^q \rangle < \infty, \ q > 0.$$
 (2.163)

The *n*th generations consists of  $2^n$  eddies of size

$$l = l_0 2^{-n}. (2.164)$$

Each of these eddies is characterized by a uniform value of the energy dissipation rate which is equal to

$$\varepsilon_l = \langle \varepsilon \rangle \prod_{i=1}^n W_i \tag{2.165}$$

where the random variables  $W_i$  are assumed independently and identically distributed.

The property  $\langle W_i \rangle = 1$  implies that the mean value of each of the  $\varepsilon_l$ s is equal to  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle$ . Nevertheless, the sum of the dissipations of the eight daughter eddies  $\varepsilon_{l/2}$  is not directly related to the value of the dissipation of the mother eddy  $\varepsilon_l$ : the cascade is nonconservative. In addition, multiplication of a great number of random variables can lead to very large fluctuations in the small scales.

Using relations (2.164) and (2.165), we can calculate the moments of the random variable  $\varepsilon_l$ :

$$\langle \varepsilon_l \rangle = \langle \varepsilon \rangle^q \left( \frac{l}{l_0} \right)^{\tau_q}$$
 (2.166)

where the exponent  $\tau_q$  is given by

$$\tau_q = -\log_2 \langle W^q \rangle. \tag{2.167}$$

A particularly simple case of a random cascade model is the black and white model of Novikov and Stewart [1964]. In this model, only two values are permitted for the random variable W:

$$W = \begin{cases} 1/\beta & \text{with probability } \beta \\ 0 & \text{with probability } 1-\beta \end{cases}$$
(2.168)

This implies

$$\tau_q = -(1-q)\log_2\beta, \zeta_p = \frac{p}{3} - \left(1 - \frac{p}{3}\right)\log_2\beta.$$
(2.169)

The Novikov and Stewart [1964] model is precisely equivalent to the unifractal  $\beta$  model of Frisch et al. [1978], predicting the same linear relation between the scaling exponents and the order of the moment. However, if the random variable W takes more than one non-vanishing value, one can show using the Schwartz inequality that the model produces a nontrivial concave relation between  $\tau_p$  and p. Hence, random cascade models exhibit multifractal scaling properties in general.

#### The log-normal model

The first intermittency model considered by Kolmogorov [1962], is a random cascade model for which the probability density function of the random variable W is assumed to be log-normal. This assumption follows from considering the logarithm of the dissipation  $\varepsilon_l$  in the context of a random cascade model:

$$\ln \varepsilon_l = \ln(\langle \varepsilon \rangle \prod_{i=1}^n W_i) = \ln \langle \varepsilon \rangle + \sum_{i=1}^n \ln W_i.$$
(2.170)

Hence for small scales l the logarithm of  $\varepsilon_l$  is equal to the sum of a large number of independent identically distributed random variables  $\ln W_i$ . By the central limit theorem, the random variable  $\ln \varepsilon_l$  will be normally distributed and therefore  $\varepsilon_l$  will have a log-normal probability density function.

To illustrate the predictions of the log-normal model, let us assume that

$$W = 2^{-m} (2.171)$$

where m is a Gaussian random variable with mean

$$\bar{m} = \langle m \rangle \tag{2.172}$$

and variance

$$\sigma^2 = \langle (m - \bar{m})^2 \rangle. \tag{2.173}$$

The relation  $\langle W \rangle = 1$  implies

$$2\bar{m} = \sigma^2 \ln 2 \tag{2.174}$$

Observing that the sum

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} m_i \tag{2.175}$$

is also a Gaussian random variable, one can use the formalism of large deviations theory [Frisch, 1995] to compute the singularity spectrum of the dissipation field:

$$F(\alpha) = 3 - \frac{(\alpha - 1 - \mu/2)^2}{2\mu}$$
(2.176)

where the parameter  $\mu$  defined by

$$\mu = 2\bar{m} \tag{2.177}$$

is the same quantity that appears in the scaling of local energy dissipation rate  $\varepsilon_r$  in (2.157). From relation (2.161) and the bridge relation (2.154), the values of the scaling exponents predicted by the log-normal model are

$$\tau_q = \frac{\mu}{2}(q - q^2),$$
  

$$\zeta_p^L = \frac{p}{3} + \frac{\mu}{18}(3p - p^2).$$
(2.178)

From the above relations we see that the second order moment of the dissipation scales as  $l^{-\mu}$ , and thus indeed the quantity  $\mu$  appearing in equation (2.157) is equal to  $2\bar{m}$  in the context of the log-normal model.

We see that the log-normal model predicts a nonlinear relation between the scaling exponents and the order of the moment, and thus exhibits multifractal scaling. However, for

$$p > p_* = \frac{3}{2} + \frac{3}{\mu} \tag{2.179}$$

 $\zeta_p^L$  becomes a decreasing function of the order p. It can be shown that this is a serious inconsistency which invalidates the incompressibility assumption [Frisch, 1995]. In addition, the log-normal model violates an inequality first proven by Novikov [1971] which states that

The physical reason for which the log-normal model violates the Novikov inequality is the nonconservative nature of the cascade [Mandelbrot, 1972]. Another property of the log-normal model is the fact that the dimension  $F(\alpha)$  becomes negative for

$$\alpha > 1 + \frac{\mu}{2} + \sqrt{6\mu}.$$
 (2.181)

However, this is not an inconsistency since it can be interpreted as simply meaning that the co-dimension  $3 - F(\alpha)$  is greater than 3, implying that the probability  $p_l$  of encountering a scaling exponent  $\alpha - 1$  goes to zero with l faster than  $l^3$  [Mandelbrot, 1990, 1991]. According to Frisch [1995], the inconsistencies of the log-normal model stem from the invocation of the central limit theorem, which completely ignores large deviations.

#### The log-Poisson model

A very successful intermittency model was introduced by She and Leveque [1994b] for the case of incompressible hydrodynamic turbulence. The model was later generalized by Grauer et al. [1994] and Politano and Pouquet [1995] for incompressible magnetohydrodynamic turbulence and by Boldyrev et al. [2002] for compressible hydrodynamic turbulence. Dubrulle [1994], She and Waymire [1995] reinterpreted the model in terms of log-Poisson statistics. Apart from being successful in reproducing experimental, observational and numerical results, this model is unique in incorporating geometrical information about dissipative structures.

In the original formulation of the log-Poisson model by She and Leveque [1994b], the energy dissipation field averaged over a ball of radius  $l \varepsilon_l$  is characterized by a hierarchy of fluctuation structures  $\varepsilon_l^{(p)}$ , p = 0, 1, 2, ... which are defined by the ratio of successive dissipation moments

$$\varepsilon_l^{(p)} = \frac{\langle \varepsilon_l^{p+1} \rangle}{\langle \varepsilon_l^p \rangle}.$$
(2.182)

The first structure of the hierarchy  $\varepsilon_l^{(0)}$  is corresponds to the mean energy dissipation rate  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle$  and the last structure  $\varepsilon_l^{(\infty)}$  corresponds to the small scale dissipative structures, assumed to be vortex filaments.

The intensity of the *p*th order structures  $\varepsilon_l^{(p)}$  is given by

$$\varepsilon_l^{(p)} = \frac{\langle \varepsilon_l^{p+1} \rangle}{\langle \varepsilon_l^p \rangle} = \frac{\int \varepsilon_l^{p+1} P(\varepsilon_l) \, d\varepsilon_l}{\int \varepsilon_l^p P(\varepsilon_l) \, d\varepsilon_l} = \int \varepsilon_l Q_p(\varepsilon_l) \, d\varepsilon_l \tag{2.183}$$

where  $P(\varepsilon_l)$  is the probability density function of  $\varepsilon_l$  and

$$Q_p(\varepsilon_l) = \frac{\varepsilon_l^p}{\int \varepsilon_l^p P(\varepsilon_l) \ d\varepsilon_l}.$$
(2.184)

Thus,  $Q_p(\varepsilon_l)$  is a weighted probability density function of which the intensity  $\varepsilon_l^{(p)}$  is the expectation value. If  $P(\varepsilon_l)$  has a single maximum and an exponentially decaying tail,  $\varepsilon_l^{(p)}$  is a monotonically increasing sequence of p. It can be shown that if  $\varepsilon_l^{(\infty)} < \infty$ , the variance of  $Q_p(\varepsilon_l)$  tends to zero as p tends to infinity, thus for large  $p \ Q_p(\varepsilon_l)$  is increasingly concentrated around  $\varepsilon_l^{(p)}$  and captures structures of this specific dissipation intensity. In addition to this,  $\lim_{p\to\infty} \varepsilon_l^{(p)} = \varepsilon_l^{(\infty)}$ .

It is known from numerical experiments [Siggia, 1981, Kerr, 1985, Vincent and Meneguzzi, 1991] that dissipation of high intensity displays a certain degree of coherence in space, typically organizing itself in filamentary structures [Moisy and Jiménez, 2004]. The motivation behind the original formulation of the log-Poisson model is that these coherent structures can have scaling properties which are captured by the hierarchy  $\varepsilon_l^{(p)}$ .

The first structure of the hierarchy  $\varepsilon_l^0$  is scale independent by definition, as it is equal to the mean energy dissipation rate  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle$  used in the context of K41 to predict normal, non-anomalous scaling. Here, anomalous scaling is introduced by the divergent scaling dependence of  $\varepsilon_l^{(\infty)}$  as  $l \to 0$  due to the presence of filamentary structures of high dissipation. The last structure in the hierarchy can be estimated dimensionally as

$$\varepsilon_l^{(\infty)} = E^{(\infty)} / t_l \tag{2.185}$$

where  $E_l^{(\infty)}$  is the kinetic energy available to the cascade and  $t_l$  is the cascade timescale. She and Leveque [1994b] choose to introduce anomalous scaling through  $E_l^{(\infty)}$ , and thus  $t_l$  scales just as in K41:

$$t_l \propto \langle \varepsilon \rangle^{1/3} l^{2/3}. \tag{2.186}$$

This assumes that the nonlinear processes that determine the timescale of the cascade are homogeneous in space, irrespective of the presence of structures of high dissipation. If we further assume that kinetic energy dissipated by the most intense structures  $E_l^{(\infty)}$  is independent of scale and equal to the large-scale kinetic energy  $\frac{1}{2}U^2$ , we obtain the scaling

$$\varepsilon_l^{(\infty)} = \langle \varepsilon \rangle \left(\frac{l}{L_i}\right)^{-2/3} \propto l^{-2/3} \tag{2.187}$$

where the K41 estimate  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle = U^3/L_i$  has been used. This is equivalent to assuming an anomalous  $l^{2/3}$  scaling law for the energy flux.

Equations (2.183) and (2.187) imply that as  $p \to \infty$ ,  $\tau_{p+1} - \tau_p \to 2/3$ , or

$$\tau_p = -\frac{2}{3}p + C_0, \qquad p \to \infty.$$
(2.188)

By equation (2.161),  $C_0$  can be interpreted as the co-dimension of the most intense dissipative structures. Assuming that these structures are filaments, we have  $C_0 = 2$  and  $\tau_p = 2/3p + 2$ .

The dissipation intensities  $\varepsilon_l^{(p)}$  for  $p < \infty$  characterize less intense dissipative structures, and the scaling of these intensities with l can provide a measure of how singular these structures are. The less intense structures are assumed to be the results of the same dynamics which form the most intense structures  $\varepsilon_l^{(\infty)}$ , but fail to accomplish this high degree of coherence because of background disorder. In physical space, structures of higher intensity are likely to be surrounded by structures of lower intensity. Similarly in time, structures of lower intensity tend to come first. These facts suggest that there may be a relation between the intensities  $\varepsilon_l^{(p)}, \varepsilon_l^{(p+1)}$  and  $\varepsilon_l^{(\infty)}$ . The relation proposed by She and Leveque [1994b] as a consequence of some hidden (statistical) symmetries of the Navier-Stokes equations reads

$$\varepsilon_l^{(p+1)} = A_p(\varepsilon_l^{(p)})^\beta(\varepsilon_l^{(\infty)})^{1-\beta}, \qquad 0 < \beta < 1$$
(2.189)

so that  $\varepsilon_l^{(p)} \to \varepsilon_l^{(\infty)}$  as  $p \to \infty$ . The  $A_p$  are scale-independent non-universal constants.

Equations (2.183) and (2.189) imply

$$\tau_{p+2} - (1-\beta)\tau_{p+1} + \beta\tau_p + \frac{2}{3}(1-\beta) = 0$$
(2.190)

a relation which is consistent with the asymptotic relation (2.188). Setting  $\tau_p = -2/3p + 2 + f(p)$  with  $\lim_{p\to\infty} f(p) = 0$  we obtain a homogeneous difference equation with solution

$$f(p) = \alpha \beta^p. \tag{2.191}$$

The solution must satisfy the boundary conditions  $\tau_0 = 0$ , which follows from the assumption of finite dissipation in the limit of zero viscosity, and  $\tau_1 = 0$  which follows from the 4/5ths law (2.138) and the bridge relation (2.154). These two boundary conditions uniquely determine  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , leading to the final expression

$$\tau_p = -\frac{2}{3}p + 2\left[1 - \left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^p\right]$$
(2.192)

for the scaling exponents of the dissipation moments and

$$\zeta_p^L = \frac{p}{9} + 2\left[1 - \left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^{p/3}\right].$$
(2.193)

For the energy spectrum, the model predicts

$$E(k) \propto k^{29/9 + 2(2/3)^{2/3}} \simeq k^{-5/3 - 0.03}$$
(2.194)

while for the intermittency exponent  $\mu$  the predicted value is

$$\mu = 2/9. \tag{2.195}$$

The log-Poisson model has met considerable success in predicting experimental, observational and numerical results Anselmet et al. [2001]. Three important ingredients that render the model unique are the postulated scaling relation (2.189) which attempts to capture the nonlinear dynamics of the cascade, the consideration of the filamentary character of the most intense dissipative structures and the assumption of a divergent scaling law for the energy flux. This success of the log-Poisson model is illutrated in figure 2.7, which shows a comparison of experimental data with the predictions of the structure function scaling exponents of various intermittency models.

#### Interpretation in terms of log-Poisson statistics

The above model admits an alternative interpretation in terms of log-Poisson statistics [Dubrulle, 1994, She and Waymire, 1995]. This interpretation is formulated in terms of the non-dimensional energy dissipation

$$\pi_l = \frac{\varepsilon_l}{\varepsilon_l^{(\infty)}}.$$
(2.196)

The scaling relation (2.189) implies that

$$\langle \pi_l \rangle = \frac{B_p}{B_1^{(1-\beta^p)/(1-\beta)}} \langle \pi_l \rangle^{(1-\beta^p)/(1-\beta)}$$
(2.197)

where the  $B_p$  are non-universal constants. This is a relation between moments that is satisfied by a whole family of probability distribution functions. Introducing the variable  $Y = \log \pi_l / \log \beta$ , these functions can be expressed as

$$P_{\lambda(l)}(\pi_l) \ d\pi_i = F_{\lambda(l)} \ dY, \quad F_{\lambda(l)}(Y) = \int \mathcal{P}_{\lambda(l)} G(Y - Z) \ dZ \tag{2.198}$$



Figure 2.7: Comparison of experimental data with the predictions of the structure function scaling exponents of various intermittency models (from Anselmet et al. [2001]).

where  $\mathcal{P}_{\lambda(l)}$  is the Poisson distribution of mean equal to  $\lambda(l)$  and G(Y) is any probability density function. The constants  $B_p$  are given in terms of the Laplace coefficients of G(Y)

$$B_p = \int_0^\infty e^{pY \ln \beta} G(y) dY \tag{2.199}$$

and the mean of the Poisson distribution  $\lambda(l)$  is proportional to  $\ln \langle \pi_l \rangle$ . Reciprocally, given the set of constants  $B_p$  and the parameter  $\beta$ , one can find the probability density function  $P_{\lambda(l)}$  by a suitable Laplace transform.

The simplest case is obtained by choosing  $G(Y) = \delta(Y)$ , which implies  $B_p = 1$  for all p and log-Poisson statistics for the non-dimensional energy dissipation  $\pi_l$ , leading a new interpretation of the model of She and Leveque [1994b]. The Poisson distribution is known to be associated with the general concept of intermittency, as it appears in the context of discontinuous random processes [Skorokhod and Gikhman, 1969], and is also the limit of a wide class of statistical distributions involving rare events [Arratia et al., 1990].

#### Extension to incompressible magnetohydrodynamics

Grauer et al. [1994] and Politano and Pouquet [1995] have extended the log-Poisson model for the case of incompressible magnetohydrodynamic turbulence. Taking into account the inertial interactions of Alfvén waves, the refined similarity hypothesis (2.152) assumes the form

$$\varepsilon_l \propto \frac{(\delta z(l))^g}{lB_0^{g+3}} \tag{2.200}$$

where  $\delta z(l)$  is the Elsässer increment, g is the inverse of the scaling exponent in the inertial range defined by  $\delta z(l) \propto l^{1/g}$  and  $B_0$  is the quasi-uniform field that guides the Alfén waves. For IK phenomenology, g = 4while for K41 g = 3. The bridge relation (2.154) remains identical.

Assuming the scaling laws

$$\varepsilon_l^{(p+1)} = A_p^B((\varepsilon_l)^{(p)})^{\beta_B}((\varepsilon_l)^{(\infty)})^{1-\beta_B}, \qquad 0 < \beta_B < 1$$
(2.201)

for the dissipation hierarchy and

$$t_l \propto l^{1-1/g} \tag{2.202}$$

for the time scale of the cascade, we obtain

$$\tau_p = -\frac{p}{g} + (C_0^B)^{1-p} \left(1 - \frac{1}{g}\right)^p \tag{2.203}$$

for the dissipation exponents and

$$\zeta_p^B = \frac{p}{g} \left( 1 - \frac{2}{g} \right) + C_0^B \left( 1 - \left( 1 - \frac{2}{gC_0^B} \right) \right)^{\frac{p}{g}}$$
(2.204)

where the co-dimension  $C_0^B$  is given by

$$C_0^B = \frac{1-g}{1-\beta_B}.$$
 (2.205)

Thus the model contains two free parameters: the inertial range scaling exponent g and the co-dimension of the dissipative structures  $C_0^B$ . In magnetohydrodynamic turbulence, the co-dimension  $C_0^B = 1$  as most of the dissipation occurs in quasi two-dimensional sheet-like structures. The exponent parameter g can be either 3 for K41 scaling or 4 for IK scaling. This generalization of the log-Poisson model has met considerable success in predicting results of numerical simulations [Müller and Biskamp, 2000] and solar wind observations Politano and Pouquet [1995].

#### Extension to compressible turbulence

Boldyrev et al. [2002] assumed that the inertial range of compressible magnetohydrodynamic turbulence is governed by K41 scaling leading to the choice g = 3. The co-dimension is taken equal to 1 because the dissipation is assumed to take place in shocks, which are two dimensional structures. This "Kolmogorov-Burgers" model, which is identical with the model used in the numerical study of Müller and Biskamp [2000] in the context of incompressible magnetohydrodynamics, has been successfully compared against numerical simulations of isothermal hydrodynamic and magnetohydrodynamic compressible turbulence [Padoan et al., 2004, Kritsuk et al., 2007].

# Chapter 3

# Numerical Methods

Turbulence in the ISM can exhibit a wide range of sonic and Alfvénic Mach numbers [Elmegreen and Scalo, 2004]. The high variability of the sonic Mach number, which in general lies in the interval [0.1, 10], implies that there are regions where the flow is highly compressible and shock-dominated (high Mach number), and regions where the flow is essentially incompressible (low Mach number). This dichotomy calls for different numerical methods in order to capture the different physics of incompressible and compressible flows.

In the case of incompressible flow, spectral methods introduced by Orszag and Patterson [1972] (see also Canuto et al. [1988]) are the standard because of their high accuracy for the representation of the small scales. However, their oscillatory character near discontinuities prohibits their extension to compressible flow. An efficient class of methods for strongly compressible, shock-dominated flows are the Godunov methods introduced by Godunov [1959] (see also Toro [2009]).

In this chapter, we will present the principles of spectral and Godunov methods, which were used in the numerical simulations of compressible and incompressible ISM turbulence.

# 3.1 Spectral Methods

# 3.1.1 Principles

In a spectral method, the velocity and magnetic fields are developed in a truncated Fourier series (trigonometric polynomial) using the Fast Fourier Transform (FFT) algorithm. In the following, we will use the velocity field as an example, but the case of the magnetic field is completely analogous.

The velocity field is defined on a regular Cartesian grid of equidistant points with coordinates

$$C_{\mathbf{x}} = \left\{ \frac{2\pi}{N} (n_1, n_2, n_3), 0 \le n_j < N, j = 1, 2, 3 \right\}.$$
(3.1)

Boundary conditions are, by definition, periodic in all directions while the length of the computational domain is  $L = 2\pi$ . Because of periodicity, one can develop the velocity field in a truncated Fourier series with coefficients

$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in C_{\mathbf{k}}} \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}) \exp(-i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x})$$
(3.2)

where  $\mathbf{k}$  is the discrete wave-vector belonging to the set

$$C_{\mathbf{k}} = \{ (k_1, k_2, k_3), -K \le n_j < K, j = 1, 2, 3 \}$$
(3.3)

with K = N/2. The velocity field can be reconstructed from the Fourier coefficients  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k})$  as

$$\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{\mathbf{k}\in C_{\mathbf{k}}} \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k}) \exp(i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}).$$
(3.4)

Spatial derivatives are mapped in Fourier space into algebraic operations (multiplication by the wave-vector  $\mathbf{k}$ )

$$\nabla \phi(\mathbf{x}) \to i \mathbf{k} \phi(\mathbf{k}), \quad \nabla \cdot \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}) \to i \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k}), \quad \nabla^2 \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}) \to -|\mathbf{k}|^2 \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k}).$$
 (3.5)

A quadratic nonlinear term  $U_{ij}(\mathbf{x}) = u_i(\mathbf{x})u_j(\mathbf{x})$  is transformed in Fourier space into a convolution sum

$$U_{ij}(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{1}{N^3} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k}=\mathbf{p}+\mathbf{q}\\\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}\in C_{\mathbf{k}}}} u_i(\mathbf{p})u_j(\mathbf{q}), \qquad \mathbf{k}\in C_{\mathbf{k}}.$$
(3.6)

Evaluation of this sum in Fourier space requires  $O(N^6)$  arithmetic operations, a prohibitive cost. One can use the convolution theorem to compute this sum in physical space. Practically, an inverse Fourier transform of  $u_i(\mathbf{k})$  and  $u_j(\mathbf{k})$  is performed,  $U_{ij}(\mathbf{x}) = u_i(\mathbf{x})u_j(\mathbf{x})$  is calculated in physical space and finally a forward Fourier transform gives the required  $U_{ij}(\mathbf{k})$ . The cost of this procedure is  $O(N^3 \log N)$  operations, essentially the cost of the three-dimensional FFT.

In the discrete Fourier space, the Navier-Stokes equation becomes

$$(\partial_t + \nu k^2) \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k}) = \mathrm{NL}(\mathbf{k}). \tag{3.7}$$

The nonlinear term  $NL(\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k}))$ , which includes the pressure, is calculated by returning to physical space. In fact, it is the only point in the algorithm where it is necessary to return to physical space, as the above equation can be advanced in Fourier space, using a standard integration algorithm such as the Runge-Kutta method.

# 3.1.2 Dealiasing

However, straightforward application of the fast Fourier transform introduces "aliasing" errors. The fast Fourier transform, being a discrete transform, is unable to distinguish between wave-vectors components modulo 2K, where K is the maximum wave-vector component considered in the calculation. Therefore, what is actually obtained by applying the inverse transform to the nonlinear term  $U_{ij}(\mathbf{x}) = u_i(\mathbf{x})u_j(\mathbf{x})$  is not  $U_{ij}(\mathbf{k})$  but rather the aliased sum

$$A_{ij}(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{1}{N^3} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{p} + \mathbf{q} \\ \mathbf{p}, \mathbf{a}(\mathbf{q}) \in C_{\mathbf{k}}}} u_i(\mathbf{p}) u_j(\mathbf{a}(\mathbf{q})), \qquad \mathbf{k} \in C_{\mathbf{k}}$$
(3.8)

where  $a_i(\mathbf{q}) = q_i - 2K$  if  $q_i \ge K, a_i(\mathbf{q}) = q_i + 2K$  if  $q_i < -K$  and  $a_i(\mathbf{q}) = q_i$  otherwise.

The terms involving  $\mathbf{a}(\mathbf{q}) \neq \mathbf{q}$  are the ones who introduce the aliasing error and are not desirable. They can be avoided altogether by restricting the wave-vector domain  $C_{\mathbf{k}}$ . The most popular dealiasing scheme is the two-thirds rule, which consists of a truncation of all wave-vectors that have a component greater that N/3

$$C_{\mathbf{k}}^{2/3} = \{ \mathbf{k} \in C_{\mathbf{k}}, k_i < N/3, i = 1, 2, 3 \}.$$
(3.9)

Using this scheme, the quadratic interaction of the two largest possible wave-vector components, equal to N/3, excites a wave-vector component equal to 2N/3, which gets aliased at -N/3-1, just outside the allowed range  $\{-N/3, N/3\}$ . This dealiasing scheme is very efficient computationally, as it does not demand extra operations, but has a low efficiency in representing the small scales of the flow due to the severe truncation: in a three-dimensional simulation, the set  $C_{\mathbf{k}}^{2/3}$  represents only 31% of the Fourier modes in the set  $C_{\mathbf{k}}$ . Thus, less than one third of the Fourier modes remain active, the rest being kept equal to zero throughout the computation.

Patterson and Orszag [1971b] proposed an alternative method for dealiasing, which involves the wave-vector set

$$C_{\mathbf{k}}^{PO} = \{ \mathbf{k} \in C_{\mathbf{k}}, |\mathbf{k}| < \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3} K \}.$$
 (3.10)

The above truncation is however not sufficient to remove the aliasing errors completely, and an additional evaluation of the nonlinear term in a grid shifted by  $\Delta x/2$  is required. In practice, this shift is efficiently

implemented as a multiplication by a phase factor  $\exp(i\Delta x/2)$  in Fourier space followed by an inverse Fourier transform. The method of Patterson and Orszag [1971b] introduces the extra cost of an additional evaluation of the nonlinear term, but the set  $C_{\mathbf{k}}^{PO}$  corresponds to 45% of the modes contained in the set  $C_{\mathbf{k}}$ .

In [Orszag, 1971], it is pointed out that if one gives up the isotropy feature of the set  $C_{\mathbf{k}}^{PO}$ , it is possible to extend it by considering the set

$$C_{\mathbf{k}}^{O} = \{ \mathbf{k} \in C_{\mathbf{k}}, |k_i \pm k_j| \le \frac{2N}{3}, i, j = 1, 2, 3, i \ne j \}.$$
(3.11)

This polyhedral truncation is sufficient to remove all aliasing errors if it is complemented by the above phase-shift method. It is not isotropic in k-space, but the set  $C_{\mathbf{k}}^{O}$  corresponds to 52% of the modes in the set  $C_{\mathbf{k}}$ , giving a better representation of the small scales.

## The case of a cubic term

In ambipolar diffusion magnetohydrodynamics, the induction equation includes the cubic ion-neutral drift term

$$\nabla \times ((\mathbf{J} \times \mathbf{B}) \times \mathbf{B}). \tag{3.12}$$

In Hossain et al. [1992], it is shown that computing  $(\mathbf{J} \times \mathbf{B})$  first, dealiasing it using a standard second order method, and then multiplying by **B** before dealiasing again is not sufficient to remove aliasing errors.

If one chooses to extend the standard two-thirds rule, it is easy to see that in order to remove all aliasing errors from the cubic term, one has to consider the set

$$C_{\mathbf{k}}^* = \{ \mathbf{k} \in C_{\mathbf{k}}, k_i < N/2, i = 1, 2, 3 \}.$$
(3.13)

This is a very severe truncation, as in three dimensions the above set contains only 14% of the modes in the set  $C_{\mathbf{k}}$ .

As is shown in Hossain et al. [1992] however, one can use either the isotropic truncation of Patterson and Orszag [1971b] or the polyhedral truncation of Orszag [1971], complemented by the phase-shift method, to completely dealias a cubic term without further additions or modifications in the scheme. Thus ambipolar diffusion magnetohydrodynamics can be treated with the exact same numerical scheme as ordinary magnetohydrodynamics, although there is a higher order nonlinearity in the induction equation.

# 3.1.3 Time integration

The application of the spectral methods results in a set of coupled ordinary differential equations for the Fourier coefficients  $\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k})$ 

$$\frac{d\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k})}{dt} = \mathrm{NL}(\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k})) - \nu |\mathbf{k}|^2 \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k})$$
(3.14)

The linear terms (that is, viscous and Ohmic terms) are advanced semi-implicitly using the Crank-Nicholson scheme [Hirsch, 2007]

$$\frac{d\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{k})}{dt} = \mathbf{u}^{i+1/2}(\mathbf{k}) - \nu |\mathbf{k}|^2 (\frac{1}{2}\mathbf{u}^{i+1}(\mathbf{k}) + \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{u}^i(\mathbf{k}))$$
(3.15)

where the index <sup>*i*</sup> represents the value at timestep *i*. The term  $\mathbf{u}^{i+1/2}(\mathbf{k})$  is given by explicit advancement of the nonlinear term using a 4th order Runge-Kutta method [Press, 2007]

$$\mathbf{u}^{i+1}(\mathbf{k}) = \mathbf{u}^{i}(\mathbf{k}) + \frac{\Delta t}{6}(k_1 + 2k_2 + 2k_3 + k_4).$$
(3.16)

The coefficients  $k_i$  are given by the expressions

$$k_{1} = \mathrm{NL}(\mathbf{u}^{i}(\mathbf{k})),$$

$$k_{2} = \mathrm{NL}(\mathbf{u}^{i}(\mathbf{k})) + \frac{\Delta t}{2}k_{1}),$$

$$k_{3} = \mathrm{NL}(\mathbf{u}^{i}(\mathbf{k})) + \frac{\Delta t}{2}k_{2}),$$

$$k_{4} = \mathrm{NL}(\mathbf{u}^{i}(\mathbf{k})) + \Delta tk_{3}).$$
(3.17)

We have found that the introduction of the Crank-Nicholson scheme for the linear terms increases overall stability in comparison with a pure Runge-Kutta scheme.

The timestep is determined by the Courant-Friedrichs-Lewy (CFL) condition [Hirsch, 2007]

$$\Delta t \le \mathrm{CFL}\frac{\Delta x}{C} \tag{3.18}$$

where C is the maximum velocity of propagation of information. In the case of incompressible hydrodynamics C is given by the spatial maximum of the velocity

$$C_{HD} = \max|\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x})| \tag{3.19}$$

whereas is the case of incompressible magnetohydrodynamics, it is given by the spatial maximum of the Alfvén velocity, in the frame where the fluid is locally at rest

$$C_{MHD} = \max_{\mathbf{x}} |\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x}) \pm \mathbf{b}(\mathbf{x})|.$$
(3.20)

For a stable time integration scheme, CFL must be a number < 1. In practice, we have used a value of 0.8 for magnetohydrodynamic simulations, whereas a value of 0.1 was necessary for ambipolar diffusion simulations.

# 3.1.4 The code ANK

The spectral method described above was implemented in the ANK<sup>1</sup> code. I wrote the ANK code in the Fortran 95 programming language, employing a hybrid approach for parallelization, using a combination of distributed and shared memory parallelism which allowed me to efficiently utilize cluster architectures of multi-core processors. Distributed parallelism is achieved using the Message Passing Interface (MPI), while shared memory parallelism is achieved using OpenMP. The code relies on the FFTW<sup>2</sup> free software library for the computation of Fast Fourier Transforms. The scaling of the code has been tested for up to 256 processor cores with excellent results.

ANK is capable of simulating incompressible hydrodynamics, incompressible magnetohydrodynamics and incompressible ambipolar diffusion magnetohydrodynamics (using the single-fluid approximation). Any of these models can be coupled with passive scalar transport, inertial particle transport as well as Lagrangian particle transport.

#### Validation

It is a well-known fact that incompressible ideal hydrodynamics and magnetohydrodynamics possess several invariant quantities (see section 2.2). The exact conservation of these integral quantities provides a convenient benchmark for the nonlinear part of the code ANK.

Let us begin with incompressible ideal magnetohydrodynamics. In this case, the conserved quantities are the total energy

$$E = \langle \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{u}^2 \rangle \tag{3.21}$$

and the kinetic helicity

$$H_k = \langle \mathbf{u} \cdot \boldsymbol{\omega} \rangle. \tag{3.22}$$

In order to test the conservation of these quantities, we evolved the velocity field setting the viscosity equal to zero, using a grid with a linear resolution of N = 64 elements and single precision arithmetic. The results, shown in figure 3.1, clearly show that non-conservation of the invariants is at the level of round-off errors.

Similarly, for the case of incompressible ideal magnetohydrodynamics, we advanced the equations setting both the viscosity and the resistivity equal to zero. Again, the grid has a linear resolution of N = 64 elements and the arithmetic is done in single precision. Figure 3.2 shows the absolute value of the error as a function of time. It is again clear that the non-conservation of the invariants is at the level of round-off error.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ The code is named after Andrei Nikolai<br/>evich Kolmogorov, the Russian mathematician who was also one of the greatest contributors to the theory of turbulence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>http://www.fftw.org



Figure 3.1: Absolute value of the error in the conservation of kinetic energy and kinetic helicity in incompressible ideal hydrodynamics.

We must note here that in practice, numerical conservation of the invariants cannot hold for arbitrary time intervals. Because of the extremely low numerical dissipation of the spectral method, and the complete absence of physical dissipation, there is no mechanism to smooth-out discontinuities. Yet both incompressible ideal hydrodynamics and magnetohydrodynamics have the tendency to build very strong gradients characterized by ever-decreasing length scales. Thus, it is inevitable that at some point the characteristic scale of these gradients will become comparable to the mesh size. Then, the solution will develop spurious oscillations due to the Gibbs phenomenon and the numerical conservation of the invariants will be broken.

# 3.1.5 Resolution and convergence

Spectral methods are known to have excellent convergence properties: for linear problems, one can prove that the error drops exponentially with the number of grid points [Gottlieb and Orszag, 1977]. This is to be contrasted with finite difference or finite volume methods where the error always drops algebraically (with a power equal to the order of the method). For non-linear problems, no such proof exists but spectral methods still exhibit excellent convergence properties.

In hydrodynamics and magnetohydrodynamics, the a priori requirement for convergence is that the product of the dissipative scale  $l_d$  with the maximum representable wave-number  $k_{max}$  is a given number greater than unity:

$$l_d k_{max} = C_d > 1. (3.23)$$

A common choice that we adopted in all our simulations is  $C_d = 2$ , which corresponds to two dissipative scales per grid interval.

One can check convergence a posteriori by examining the behavior of the energy spectra in the range of high wavenumbers. In a well-resolved simulation, there should be a range of exponential decrease in the spectrum following the power-law inertial range of scales. In a badly-resolved simulation, there is a tendency for structures smaller than the distance  $\Delta x$  between two grid points to form. If such a structure forms, then from the point of view of the Fourier transform it is equivalent to a discontinuity in the field, and the



Figure 3.2: Absolute value of the error in the conservation of total energy, cross-helicity and magnetic helicity in incompressible ideal magnetohydrodynamics.

Gibbs phenomenon will lead to spurious oscillations which will be manifested as a pile-up of energy in the high-wavenumber range of the energy spectrum. Because the energy spectrum of a discontinuous field is in general a power-law, in under-resolved simulation one expects power-law energy spectra up to the maximum wavenumber  $k_{max}$ .

Figure 3.3 compares energy spectra from two identical hydrodynamic simulations, one well-resolved with  $k_{max}l_d = 2.0$  and another under-resolved with  $k_{max}l_d = 0.5$ . In the case of the under-resolved simulation, there is spurious pile-up of energy in the high-wavenumber range which leads to a much shallower, power-law spectrum.

# 3.2 Godunov Methods

Because of the use of a truncated Fourier series as the fundamental representation of the solution, spectral methods are well-suited for incompressible flow but perform poorly in compressible, shock-dominated flow. This poor performance is the consequence of the Gibbs phenomenon near discontinuities of the flow variables such as shocks. Although there has been attempts to extend spectral methods in compressible flows [Passot and Pouquet, 1987, Vazquez-Semadeni et al., 1995, Passot et al., 1995] Godunov methods [Godunov, 1959, Toro, 2009] present a much more viable choice for the study of shock-dominated flows. Indeed, Godunov methods have many desirable properties such as the exact conservation of mass, linear momentum and energy. They are also relatively robust and can handle easily shocks and other discontinuities without the need of adding artificial viscosity.

In this section, we will present the basic principles of Godunov methods for solving the equations of ideal compressible magnetohydrodynamics



Figure 3.3: Energy spectra from two identical hydrodynamic simulations, one well-resolved with  $k_{max}l_d = 2.0$  (black line) and another under-resolved with  $k_{max}l_d = 0.5$  (red dashed line).

# 3.2.1 Conservative form of the governing equations

In the context of Godunov methods, we will focus on the equations of ideal compressible magnetohydrodynamics ignoring the effects of viscosity and resistivity. This is justified by the fact that the Godunov method focuses on the computation of the inviscid flux, whereas viscous and resistive fluxes are in our case computed by central finite differences. The most relative form of the governing equations is the conservative one:

$$\partial_t \rho + \nabla \cdot (\rho \mathbf{u}) = 0,$$
  

$$\partial_t (\rho \mathbf{u}) + \nabla \cdot (\rho \mathbf{u} \mathbf{u} - \mathbf{B} \mathbf{B}) = -\nabla P,$$
  

$$\partial_t E + \nabla \cdot ((E + P)\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{u})) = 0,$$
  

$$\partial_t \mathbf{B} + \nabla \cdot (\mathbf{u} \mathbf{B} - \mathbf{B} \mathbf{u}) = 0,$$
  

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0.$$
  
(3.24)

In the above equations,  $\rho$  is the density, **u** is the velocity, **B** is the magnetic field, P is the total pressure defined by

$$P = p + \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{B}^2\tag{3.25}$$

and E is the total energy defined by

$$E = e + \frac{1}{2}\rho \mathbf{u}^2 + \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{B}^2$$
(3.26)

with e the internal energy of the fluid. We will assume a perfect gas equation of state:

$$p = (\gamma - 1)e, \quad \gamma = \frac{5}{3}.$$
 (3.27)

It is useful to write equations 3.24 in the following form:

$$\partial_t U + \partial_x F + \partial_y G + \partial_z H = 0 \tag{3.28}$$

where

$$U = (\rho, \rho u_x, \rho u_y, \rho u_z, B_x, B_y, B_z, E)^T$$

$$(3.29)$$

and the flux vector F is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \rho u_x \\ \rho u_x^2 + P - B_x^2 \\ \rho u_x u_y - B_x B_y \\ \rho u_x u_z - B_x B_z \\ 0 \\ B_y u_x - B_x u_y \\ B_z u_x - B_x u_z \\ (E+P)u_x - B_x (\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{u}) \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.30)

with corresponding expressions for the fluxes G and H being completely symmetric.

#### 3.2.2Principles of the method

Godunov methods are well suited to handle shocks and discontinuities. When using Godunov methods, there is no need to introduce artificial viscosity or resistivity as discontinuities are naturally resolved within a few computational cells. Godunov methods are an example of a finite volume method, which means that each computational cell represents an elementary fluid volume element. For a first order method, this element is characterized by a uniform density, velocity, pressure and magnetic field which represents an average value. Second and third order methods consider respectively linear and parabolic profiles for the fundamental variables within the computational cell. At the interface between neighboring cells, fluxes of matter, momentum and energy are exchanged in order to advance the fundamental quantities forward in time.

There are several ways of recovering the slope of the profiles in a cell in order to reproduce better the monotonicity of the hydrodynamic variables. Methods of slope computation that preserve the monotonicity are called TVD (total variation diminishing) methods, and are known to exhibit superior stability and convergence properties. In our numerical experiments, we use exclusively the MINMOD slope computation method [Toro, 2009].

Let the center of each cell be located at the point  $(x_i, y_j, z_k)$ . For each given cell, faces normal to the x-axis have coordinates  $x_{i\pm 1/2}$  and cover a surface element defined by the inequalities  $y_{i-1/2} < y < y_{i+1/2}$ and  $z_{k-1/2} < z < z_{k+1/2}$ . The coordinates of the other faces can be defined similarly.

The fundamental variables (density, momentum, energy, magnetic field) are volume-averaged over a cell and the discrete values are defined at the cell center. For example:

$$\rho_{i,j,k} = \frac{1}{\Delta x \Delta y \Delta z} \int_{x_{i-1/2}}^{x_{i+1/2}} \int_{y_{j-1/2}}^{y_{j+1/2}} \int_{z_{k-1/2}}^{z_{k+1/2}} \rho(x', y', z') \, dx' dy' dz'.$$
(3.31)

After spatial integration over a cell and time integration from  $t^n$  to  $t^{n+1}$ , equation 3.28 becomes

$$\frac{U_{i,j,k}^{n+1} - U_{i,j,k}^n}{\Delta t} + \frac{F_{i+1/2,j,k}^{n+1/2} - F_{i-1/2,j,k}^{n+1/2}}{\Delta x} + \frac{G_{i,j+1/2,k}^{n+1/2} - G_{i,j-1/2,k}^{n+1/2}}{\Delta y} + \frac{H_{i,j,k+1/2}^{n+1/2} - F_{i,j,k-1/2}^{n+1/2}}{\Delta z} = 0$$
(3.32)

where superscripts n and n+1 refer to quantities considered at the time instants  $t^n$  and  $t^{n+1}$  respectively.  $U_{i,j,k}^n$  and  $U_{i,j,k}^{n+1}$  are the cell-averaged variables at time  $t^n$  and  $t^{n+1}$ , while the time- and face- averaged flux is defined by

$$F_{i+1/2,j,k}^{n+1/2} = \frac{1}{\Delta t \Delta x \Delta z} \int_{t^n}^{t^{n+1}} \int_{y_{j-1/2}}^{y_{j+1/2}} \int_{z_{k-1/2}}^{z_{k+1/2}} F(x_{i+1/2}, y', z', t') dy' dz' dt'$$
(3.33)

where  $\Delta t = t^{n+1} - t^n$ . The fluxes  $G_{i,j\pm 1/2,k}^{n+1/2}$  and  $H_{i,j,k\pm 1/2}^{n+1/2}$  can be defined similarly. It must be emphasized that, at this stage, equations (3.32) and (3.33) are exact. In practice, the numerical fluxes  $F_{i\pm 1/2,j,k}^{n+1/2}$ ,  $G_{i,j\pm 1/2,k}^{n+1/2}$  and  $H_{i,j,k\pm 1/2}^{n+1/2}$  are approximately calculated. However, even if the fluxes are not completely accurate, the method conserves mass, momentum and energy by construction, since the amount retrieved from one cell is exactly given to its neighbors. The expression (3.32) to update the variables does not contain derivatives but only flux differences and this is why discontinuities are well-resolved.

# 3.2.3 The Riemann problem

In a Godunov method, the most important point is to calculate the flux exchange between two neighboring states  $U_L$  and  $U_R$ . This problem is known as the Riemann problem, and since no characteristic scale is involved in its definition, it is self-similar. This statement means that the solution at (x, t) can be deduced from the solution at (x', t'): U(x/t) = U(x'/t'). An important implication of this is that the flux exchanged between the two states is constant in time. For a Godunov method, the importance of an accurate Riemann solver which is able to provide the fluxes in equation (3.32) cannot be overstated.

For a general hyperbolic system

$$\partial_t U + \partial_x F(U) = 0 \tag{3.34}$$

we have the important result that when the Jacobian of the above system is a constant matrix, the solution of the Riemann problem can be found explicitly [Toro, 2009]. Let us consider the simple linear scalar advection equation

$$\partial_t u + a \partial_x u = 0. \tag{3.35}$$

The solution of this equation is given by f(x-at), where f is a function depending on the initial conditions. The rate of change of u along the characteristic curve defined by dx/dt = a is evidently zero (a is the characteristic speed). In this case, the solution of the Riemann problem is given by

$$u = u_L, \qquad x - at < 0, u = u_R, \qquad x - at > 0.$$
 (3.36)

Let us generalize to a linear system of m equations:

$$\partial_t U + A \partial_x U = 0 \tag{3.37}$$

where A is the constant Jacobian matrix. This matrix can be put in diagonal form,  $A = K^{-1}\Lambda K$ , where  $\Lambda$  is a diagonal matrix whose elements are the eigenvalues of A, denoted by  $\lambda_i$ . The matrix  $K = [K^1, K^2, ..., K^m]$ contains the eigenvectors of A defined by the relation  $AK^i = \lambda_i K^i$ . Defining the matrix W by  $W = K^{-1}U$ and multiplying the advection equation by  $K^{-1}$ , we have the equation

$$\partial_t W + \Lambda \partial_x W = 0. \tag{3.38}$$

Since the matrix  $\Lambda$  is diagonal, the components of the vector W are completely decoupled. The general solution of the system is thus  $W_i(x - \lambda_i t)$ , or in terms of the U variable,

$$U(x,t) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} W_i(x - \lambda_i t) K^i.$$
(3.39)

Let us now consider the Riemann problem defined by  $U(x,0) = U_L$  for x < 0 and  $U(x,0) = U_R$  for x > 0. The constants  $U_L$  and  $U_R$  can be written as

$$U_L = \sum_{i=1}^m \alpha_i K^i,$$

$$U_R = \sum_{i=1}^m \beta_i K^i.$$
(3.40)

Thus,  $W_i = \alpha_i$  if x < 0 and  $W_i = \beta_i$  if x > 0. For each given position x and time t there is an eigenvalue  $\lambda_i$  such that  $\lambda_i < x/t < \lambda_{i+1}$ . This implies that the solution of the multidimensional linear Riemann problem can be expressed in the form

$$U(x,t) = \sum_{i=L+1}^{m} \alpha_i K^i + \sum_{i=1}^{L} \beta_i K^i.$$
(3.41)

Physically, the above form means that the two states have been decomposed into m eigen-modes, each with associated wave speed  $\lambda_i$ . It is further possible, for each location, to determine whether the corresponding



Figure 3.4: The wave fan.

state of the eigen-mode is the left or the right initial value. The solution consists of m waves emanating from the origin (x, t) = (0, 0). This collection of waves is known as the *wave fan*. Each wave carries a jump discontinuity, as illustrated in figure 3.4.

It is now possible to estimate the flux exchanged between two neighboring cells. The value of U at the interface, U(0), can be written as:

$$U(0) = \sum_{i=L+1}^{m} \alpha_i K^i + \sum_{i=1}^{L} \beta_i K^i,$$
  

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_i K^i + \sum_{i=1}^{L} (\beta_i - \alpha_i) K^i,$$
  

$$= \sum_{i=L+1}^{m} (\alpha_i - \beta_i) K^i + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \beta_i K^i,$$
  

$$= \frac{1}{2} (U_L + U_R) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \operatorname{sign}(\lambda_i) (\beta_i - \alpha_i) K^i$$
(3.42)

where the last expression was obtained by summing the two previous expressions. Since the problem is linear (the Jacobian A is a constant matrix), the flux F is equal to A(U(0)):

$$F(U(0)) = \frac{1}{2}(A(U_L) + A(U_R)) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{m} \operatorname{sign}(\lambda_i)(\beta_i - \alpha_i)AK^i,$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{2}(F_L + F_R) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{m} |\lambda_i|(\beta_i - \alpha_i)K^i.$$
(3.43)

In our numerical studies, we used exclusively the Lax-Friedrichs scheme for treating the nonlinear terms [Friedrichs and Lax, 1971, LeVeque, 1992]. In this scheme, the flux is calculated according to the formula

$$F(U) = \frac{1}{2}(F_L + F_R) + |\lambda_{max}| \frac{1}{2}(U_R - U_L)$$
(3.44)

where  $\lambda_{max}$  is the maximum wave propagation speed. This scheme is the most stable among Riemann solvers, but it is also the most diffusive.

# 3.2.4 Riemann solvers for magnetohydrodynamics

In the case of compressible magnetohydrodynamics, the wave fan entails 7 waves, namely: 2 fast magnetosonic waves, 2 transverse Alfvén waves, 2 slow magneto-sonic waves and one entropy wave which does not propagate and moves with the fluid. Since the fast waves propagate faster than the others, they always are at the boundaries of the wave fan. In this section, we describe various Riemann solvers which have been developed to solve the MHD equations. It is worth stressing that no exact solver is known in the MHD case except in restricted cases. Even if it would be the case, such a solver would probably, as it is the case for the exact hydrodynamic solver, require an iterative procedure which would require a large amount of computing power.

In Godunov schemes, there are various methods to meet the requirement of zero magnetic field divergence. In our case, the magnetic field vector  $\mathbf{B}$  is located on the faces of the computational cell whereas all other variables are located at the center [Fromang et al., 2006].

# 3.2.5 The code DUMSES

The code DUMSES is a simplified version of the RAMSES code [Teyssier, 2002, Fromang et al., 2006] where the capability of adaptive mesh refinement is removed. Thus, DUMSES is essentially a code implementing the Godunov method on a regular grid. This results in a much simpler code in terms of development, but also has as a result a significant speed improvement over RAMSES.

## Validation

In the context of this thesis, we modified DUMSES, which was previously only able to treat a polytropic gas with  $\gamma > 1$ , rendering it capable of treating the case of an isothermal gas. In order to validate these changes, we implemented a two-dimensional tilted shock test following the test proposed by Kim et al. [1999], which is in turn based on the proposal of Brio and Wu [1988].

As a first test, we simulated a one-dimensional shock with initial conditions

$$\rho^{L} = 1, \quad \rho^{R} = 0.1,$$

$$B_{y}^{L} = \frac{5}{\sqrt{4\pi}}, \quad B_{y}^{R} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{4\pi}},$$

$$B_{z}^{L} = 0, \quad B_{z}^{R} =,$$

$$v_{x}^{L} = 0, \quad v_{x}^{R} = 0,$$

$$v_{y}^{L} = 0, \quad v_{y}^{R} = 0,$$

$$v_{z}^{L} = 0, \quad v_{z}^{R} = 0.$$
(3.45)

where the superscript <sup>L</sup> corresponds to values left (upstream) of the shock and the superscript <sup>R</sup> to values right (downstream) of the shock. The subscript <sub>x</sub> corresponds to a component perpendicular to the shock, while the subscripts  $_{y,z}$  correspond to components parallel to the shock surface.

Our results are shown in figure 3.5, to be compared with figure 1a of Kim et al. [1999], which is reproduced here in figure 3.6. We observe excellent agreement between the results of DUMSES and those of Kim et al. [1999].

In order to validate the ability of DUMSES to properly handle multi-dimensional shocks, we implemented a tilted two-dimensional shock test proposed by Kim et al. [1999]. In this test, which again corresponds to figure 1a in Kim et al. [1999] (reproduced as figure 3.6 here), the shock is tilted 45 degrees with respect to the two-dimensional computational domain. Thus, the surface of the shock runs from the upper left corner to the lower right corner of the domain. The initial conditions are the same as in the one-dimensional test, and are given by relations (3.45).

The results of DUMSES again show very good agreement with those of Kim et al. [1999], although in two dimensions there is some additional smoothing of the surfaces of discontinuity.


Figure 3.5: One-dimensional shock test results: DUMSES with Lax-Friedrichs solver. Blue:  $\rho$ . Green:  $B_y$ . Red:  $v_x$ . Cyan:  $v_y$ . To be compared with Kim et al. [1999], figure 1a (reproduced as figure 3.6 here).



Figure 3.6: Tilted shock test results: figure 1a from Kim et al. [1999]. Upper left:  $\rho$ . Upper middle:  $B_y$ . Upper right:  $B_z$ . Lower left:  $v_x$ . Lower middle:  $v_y$ . Lower right:  $v_z$ .



Figure 3.7: Tilted shock test results: DUMSES with Lax-Friedrichs solver. Upper left:  $\rho$ . Upper middle:  $B_y$ . Upper right:  $B_z$ . Lower left:  $v_x$ . Lower middle:  $v_y$ . Lower right:  $v_z$ .

## Chapter 4

# Energy dissipation in ambipolar diffusion magnetohydrodynamics

1

## 4.1 Abstract

The dissipation of kinetic and magnetic energy in the interstellar medium (ISM) can proceed through viscous, Ohmic or ion-neutral friction, also referred to as ambipolar diffusion (AD). It occurs at very small scales compared to the scales at which energy is presumed to be injected. This localized heating may impact the ISM evolution but also its chemistry, thus providing observable features.

Here, we perform 3D spectral simulations of decaying magnetohydrodynamic (MHD) turbulence. We include viscous and Ohmic dissipation with or without AD and study the properties of dissipative structures at the time of the dissipation peak. We find that the AD heating power-spectrum peaks at scales in the inertial range. This is due to a strong alignment of the magnetic and current vectors in the dissipative range, in the presence of AD. AD also mildly affects the magnetic and kinetic power spectrum, with a shallower slope over the inertial and dissipative range of scales. AD affects much greater scales than the expected AD scale (defined up to a dimensionless factor as the product of the ions-neutrals coupling time scale with the root mean square velocity of the flow), which appears to play no specific role in our simulations. We conjecture this is due to a large coherence time for the AD effects.

We find that energy dissipation is concentrated on thin sheets, each sheet being predominantly either Ohmic, viscous or AD. Dissipation is highly concentrated in space: 30 percent of it takes place in less than 3 percent of the volume. Its probability density function follows a log-normal law with a power law tail at high values which hints at intermittency. We quantify the intermittency by use of anomalous structure function exponents for the velocity and magnetic fields, which we match with generalized She & Levêque models. Initial conditions (Orzsag-Tang or ABC-flow) and the inclusion of AD or not all affect the intermittency. Finally, we extract structures of high dissipation, defined as connected sets of points where the total dissipation is most intense and we measure the scaling exponents of their geometric and dynamical characteristics: the inclusion of AD favors small sizes in the dissipative range.

## 4.2 Introduction

In partly ionized astrophysical fluids, magnetic fields remain attached to the charged particles. The neutral fluid does not feel the Lorentz force and usually drifts with respect to the charges. Only the ion-neutral drag can remind the neutrals about the existence of magnetic fields. The fields are then able to slip through the bulk of the fluid: this process is called ambipolar diffusion (AD).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This chapter was published on Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society [Momferratos et al., 2014]

Mestel and Spitzer [1956] were the first to realize its importance in the context of star formation, where it would help magnetic fields to diffuse out of a contracting dense core and allow it to form a star. Mullan [1971] discovered how ambipolar diffusion could influence the dynamics of shocks which then yielded a wealth of papers on the chemical signatures of C-type shocks, starting with Draine et al. [1983] and Flower et al. [1985]. Tóth [1995] produced the first multi-dimensional simulations with AD for the stability of such shocks, and this opened the way to a collection of analytical and numerical studies in various astrophysical contexts. Brandenburg and Zweibel [1994] and Brandenburg and Zweibel [1995] envisaged that ambipolar diffusion could form very sharp structures, which would then induce the Ohmic resistivity to reconnect the magnetic field in the interstellar medium (ISM): they argued this could be a key element in solving observational problems with the galactic dynamo [Zweibel and Brandenburg, 1997]. In discs Blaes and Balbus [1994], Brandenburg et al. [1995] and Mac Low et al. [1995] showed AD was able to modulate the magneto-rotational instability. In the context of clouds and stars formation Nakamura and Li [2005], Nakamura et al. [2008], Kudoh and Basu [2008] and Kudoh and Basu [2011] computed how the magnetic support of clouds can leak out to let the gas condense and form dense cores and stars. Finally, in the context of ISM turbulence Padoan et al. [2000], Zweibel [2002], Oishi and Mac Low [2006b], Li et al. [2008], McKee et al. [2010], Li et al. [2012] and Li et al. [2012] focused on how magnetic fields decouple from the neutrals velocity or density and estimated the heating resulting from the ion-neutral drift.

In the diffuse interstellar medium (ISM), turbulent energy dissipation can be an important source of suprathermal energy driving hot chemistry [Falgarone and Puget, 1995]. This may be evidenced by the observed high values of the column density of species such as  $CH^+$  and  $SH^+$ . The formation of such species requires energy barriers of the order of at least 2000 K to be overcome, in clouds where the average temperature is known to be a few tens of K. One possible explanation is that these cold clouds contain pockets of hot gas heated by intermittent turbulent dissipation. Hot chemistry is activated there, and it is possible to construct models of turbulent dissipation that account for the high column densities of  $CH^+$  [Godard et al., 2009].

In a turbulent magnetized fluid, dissipation can of course be due to viscosity or resistivity, but when the fluid is partially ionized and AD is at play, there can also be a significant contribution from the heat released by ion-neutral friction, as demonstrated by several authors in the context of the ISM [Scalo, 1977, Zweibel and Josafatsson, 1983, Elmegreen, 1985, Padoan et al., 2000, Li et al., 2012]. Not only does the heating help to raise the temperature which increases the rate of some chemical reactions, but the ion-neutral drift velocity provides additional energy in the reaction frame for ion-neutral reactions. In some instances, this can open new chemical routes which would otherwise be blocked by reaction barriers. The places of strong AD heating are thus expected to bear specific chemical signatures such as the ones encountered in magnetized vortices [Godard et al., 2009] or C-shocks [Lesaffre et al., 2013]. We would hence like to characterize the geometry and statistical properties of the regions of strong turbulent dissipation in the ISM.

Before us, Uritsky et al. [2010] conducted a thorough study of the statistics of strong dissipation in the context of incompressible pure magnetohydrodynamic (MHD) turbulence. In this paper we make some progress towards the physics of the ISM and we work with incompressible MHD turbulence with or without AD. We stay within the model of incompressible MHD in a first step to link our work with Uritsky et al. [2010] and to allow the use of spectral methods which are well suited for the study of small-scale dissipative structures because of their very low level of numerical dissipation. In section 2 and 3 we briefly describe the equations and the numerical method used and we present the simulations that were performed. In section 4 we present an overall picture of the dissipation fields through the time evolution of their average values, their pdfs and their spectra. We also provide a qualitative view of the dissipation field in physical space through color maps. Section 5 deals with the extreme dissipative events, it begins with a discussion of the structure functions of the velocity and magnetic fields and concludes with results from the statistical analysis of the geometrical and dynamical properties of structures of high dissipation. We discuss and conclude our results in section 6.

## 4.3 The equations

#### 4.3.1 Ambipolar drift

In a partly ionized fluid, the time-dependent evolution of both the neutral and the ionized fluids should in principle be followed. However, in circumstances that we will make explicit below (see subsection 4.3.4), we can adopt the strong coupling approximation. In this approximation, we neglect the inertia, pressure and viscosity of the ions in the ion momentum evolution and we are left with the balance between the ion-neutral drag and the Lorentz force

$$\gamma \rho_i \rho_n (\mathbf{U}_i - \mathbf{U}_n) = \mathbf{J} \times \mathbf{B} \tag{4.1}$$

where the current density

$$\mathbf{J} = \frac{1}{4\pi} (\nabla \times \mathbf{B}),$$

 $\rho_i$  and  $\rho_n$  are the ion and neutral mass density ( $\rho_i \ll \rho_n$ ),  $\mathbf{U}_i$  and  $\mathbf{U}_n$  are the ions and neutrals respective velocities, and where  $\gamma$  is the coefficient of ion-neutral drag

$$\gamma = \frac{\langle \sigma v \rangle_{in}}{m_i + \mu}$$

with  $m_i$  and  $\mu$  the ions and neutrals mass per particle and  $\langle \sigma v \rangle_{in}$  the ion-neutrals collision rate. Assuming that  $n_{\text{He}} = 0.2n_{\text{H}_2}$ , we find  $\mu = 2.33m_p$  for molecular gas, where  $m_p$  is the mass of the proton. In diffuse clouds, the average mass per ion is  $m_i = 12m_p$  as the dominant ion is C<sup>+</sup>. Following Draine et al. [1983], we take  $\langle \sigma v \rangle_{in} = 1.9 \times 10^{-9} \text{cm}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$  and we arrive at  $\gamma = 6.7 \times 10^{13} \text{cm}^3 \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ g}^{-1}$ .

Within these approximations, the above balance (4.1) expresses the ion-neutral drift velocity as a function of the magnetic field. When this is plugged into the induction equation

$$\partial_t \mathbf{B} = \nabla \times (\mathbf{U}_i \times \mathbf{B}) + \eta \nabla^2 \mathbf{B}$$

one recovers the ambipolar diffusion term:

$$\nabla \times \left[\frac{1}{\gamma \rho_i \rho_n} (\mathbf{J} \times \mathbf{B}) \times \mathbf{B}\right]$$

[cf. Balbus and Terquem, 2001], which can be developed into

$$\nabla \times \left[ -\frac{B^2}{\gamma \rho_i \rho_n} \mathbf{J} + \frac{\mathbf{J}.\mathbf{B}}{\gamma \rho_i \rho_n} \mathbf{B} \right]$$

from which properly speaking only the first term takes the form of a diffusion, with diffusion coefficient  $\lambda_{AD} = \frac{B^2}{\gamma \rho_i \rho_n}$  [Brandenburg and Zweibel, 1994], but the qualificative is usually retained for the whole term. In particular, Brandenburg and Zweibel [1994] recognized that the second term steepens the magnetic field profile near magnetic nulls. It should finally be noted that AD itself is not per se able to reconnect the field lines: this requires Ohmic diffusion.

#### 4.3.2 Incompressible MHD

We now take  $u_0$  a typical velocity and  $l_0$  a typical length scale as unit velocity and unit length to normalize our equations. We also define  $t_0 = l_0/u_0$  as the unit of time. We write the non-dimensional velocity  $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{U}_{cdm}/u_0$  where  $\mathbf{U}_{cdm}$  is the center of mass velocity

$$\mathbf{U}_{\rm cdm} = \frac{\rho_i \mathbf{U}_i + \rho_n \mathbf{U}_n}{\rho}$$

with  $\rho \sim \rho_n$  the total density of the gas,  $\rho = \rho_i + \rho_n$ . We write the non-dimensional Alfvén velocity  $\mathbf{b} = \mathbf{B}/\sqrt{4\pi\rho}/u_0$ . The non-dimensional current is simply  $\mathbf{j} = \nabla \times \mathbf{b}$  where  $\nabla$  is now understood as derivatives in coordinates in units of  $l_0$ :  $\nabla \to l_0 \nabla$ .

In the diffuse ISM, the sonic Mach number  $\mathcal{M}_s = u_0/c_s$  (where  $c_s$  is the speed of sound) as well as the Alfvén Mach number  $\mathcal{M}_a = 1/|\mathbf{b}|$  take values in the range  $10^{-1} - 10$  [Elmegreen and Scalo, 2004]. This wide range of values suggests that although most of ISM turbulence is highly compressible, incompressible turbulence is not irrelevant since in a weakly compressible flow the density fluctuations  $\Delta \rho / \rho \sim \mathcal{M}_s^2$  are of the order of the square of the sonic Mach number. Hence a turbulent flow with  $\mathcal{M}_s < 0.3$  can be adequately described by the incompressible equations. For example, the studies of Brandenburg and Zweibel [1995], Zweibel [2002] or Godard et al. [2009] on turbulent dissipation with AD were all based on the incompressible equations.

We use the equations in Balbus and Terquem [2001] and the above notations to derive the equations of incompressible, viscous, resistive, AD MHD :

$$\partial_{t}\mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{u}\cdot\nabla)\mathbf{u} = -\nabla p + \mathbf{j}\times\mathbf{b} + Re^{-1}\nabla^{2}\mathbf{u}$$
  
$$\partial_{t}\mathbf{b} = \nabla \times (\mathbf{u}\times\mathbf{b}) + Re_{a}^{-1}\nabla \times ((\mathbf{j}\times\mathbf{b})\times\mathbf{b}) + Re_{m}^{-1}\nabla^{2}\mathbf{b}$$
(4.2)

where **u** and **b** satisfy  $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0$  and  $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{b} = 0$  and  $p = P/(u_0^2 \rho)$  is the non-dimensional pressure, with P the actual thermal pressure. Equations (4.2) are parameterized by three non-dimensional numbers Re,  $Re_a$  and  $Re_m$ , for which we now give estimates.

#### 4.3.3 Reynolds numbers

Firstly, the kinetic Reynolds number  $Re = u_0 l_0 / \nu$ , where  $\nu$  is the molecular viscosity of the fluid, expresses the relative importance of inertial terms in comparison to the viscous term. In the neutral ISM, assuming that the most significant contribution to viscosity is given by H<sub>2</sub> collisions, we have  $\nu \sim \frac{1}{3}\lambda_{H_2}c_s$  where  $\lambda_{H_2}$  is the mean free path of the H<sub>2</sub> molecule and  $c_s = (\Gamma k_B T / \mu)^{1/2}$  is the isentropic sound speed, with  $\Gamma \simeq 5/3$  the ratio of specific heats, and  $k_B$  the Boltzmann constant. The mean free path is given by  $\lambda_{H_2} \sim (n_{H_2}\sigma_{H_2})^{-1}$ where  $n_{H_2}$  is the number density of H<sub>2</sub> and  $\sigma_{H_2} = 3 \times 10^{-15}$  cm<sup>2</sup> is an estimate of the cross section of H<sub>2</sub> collisions [Monchick and Schaefer, 1980]. For molecular gas  $n_{H_2} = 0.5n_{\rm H}$  where  $n_{\rm H}$  is the hydrogen nuclei density. Under these assumptions, the kinetic Reynolds number is of the order

$$Re \sim 1.8 \times 10^7 \left(\frac{n_{\rm H}}{100 \text{ cm}^{-3}}\right) \left(\frac{u_0}{1 \text{ km s}^{-1}}\right) \left(\frac{l_0}{10 \text{ pc}}\right) \left(\frac{T}{100 \text{ K}}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Elmegreen and Scalo [2004] quote typical values of the kinetic Reynolds number in the cold ISM ranging from  $10^5$  to  $10^7$ .

Secondly,  $Re_m = u_0 l_0 / \eta$  is the magnetic Reynolds number, where  $\eta$  is the resistivity. The magnetic Reynolds number expresses the relative importance of advection in comparison to Ohmic diffusion in the dynamics of the magnetic field. In a system with a large value of the magnetic Reynolds number, the dynamics of the magnetic field is dominated by advection and stretching. The value of the resistivity is given by

$$\eta = 234 \left(\frac{n}{n_e}\right) T^{1/2} \mathrm{cm}^2 \mathrm{s}^{-1}$$

[Balbus and Terquem, 2001], where n is the total number density and  $n_e$  is the electron density. The order of magnitude of the magnetic Reynolds number is

$$\begin{aligned} Re_m &= 2.2 \times 10^{17} \left( \frac{l_0}{10 \text{ pc}} \right) \left( \frac{u_0}{1 \text{ km s}^{-1}} \right) \times \\ &\times \left( \frac{n_e}{10^{-4} n_{\text{H}}} \right) \left( \frac{T}{100 \text{ K}} \right)^{-1/2} \end{aligned}$$

where we assumed  $n = 0.6n_{\rm H}$  for molecular gas.

Lastly, the AD Reynolds number  $Re_a$  helps to measure the ratio of the ambipolar to advective electromotive forces in the induction equation:

$$Re_a = \frac{t_0}{t_a}, \qquad t_a = \frac{1}{\gamma \rho_i} \tag{4.3}$$

where  $t_a$  can be recognized in equation (4.1) as the ion-neutral friction time scale. The quantities  $Re_a$  and  $l_a$  should not be confused with their more usual definitions  $R_{AD}$  and  $\ell_{AD}$  as introduced by Zweibel and Brandenburg [1997], for example. For instance, the usual values depend on the r.m.s. velocity and magnetic field, whereas our definition encompasses only the ion-drift time: see the subsection 4.3.4 for more details. We can also write it as a ratio of length scales

$$Re_a = \frac{l_0}{l_a}$$

$$l_a = t_a u_0 \tag{4.4}$$

where we define

which gives a typical length scale for ion-neutral decoupling. The AD Reynolds number is an increasing function of the ionization fraction  $x = \rho_i/\rho$ . Using C<sup>+</sup> as the dominant ion of the ISM, we find

$$Re_a = 4.9 \times 10^3 \left(\frac{l_0}{10 \text{ pc}}\right) \left(\frac{n_{\text{C}^+}}{10^{-4} n_{\text{H}}}\right) \left(\frac{n_{\text{H}}}{100 \text{ cm}^{-3}}\right) \left(\frac{u_0}{1 \text{ km s}^{-1}}\right)^{-1}.$$

In the ISM, we have  $Re_a \ll Re \ll Re_m$  which suggests the ordering  $l_a \gg l_{\nu} \gg l_{\eta}$  for the ambipolar, viscous and resistive dissipation scales. However, our finite computing power does not allow much dynamics of scales and here we can only afford  $l_a > l_D$  where  $l_D = l_{\nu} \sim l_{\eta}$  is a single dissipative scale. In this study the magnetic Prandtl number  $\Pr_m = \nu/\eta$  is therefore taken equal to unity, so that the hydrodynamic and magnetic Reynolds numbers are equal. This choice results in a single dissipative range of scales for both the velocity and the magnetic fields, a fact which simplifies the analysis considerably.

Although this numerical study is confined to Reynolds numbers that are several orders of magnitude lower than those found in the interstellar medium, it is relevant to ISM physics in the sense that it allows a detailed quantitative study of the dissipation field as well as the relative importance of the different types of turbulent dissipation, which can all be important as a heating source for ISM chemistry.

#### 4.3.4 Lengths scales associated with AD

We outline here various scales introduced by AD physics. The case of C-shocks allows to clearly separate them. We have already introduced the length scale  $l_a = u_0 t_a$  which corresponds to the re-coupling length scale between ions and neutrals. It is the scale of variation of the neutral's velocity in a C-shock with entrance velocity  $u_0$ , which therefore has a length on the order of  $l_a$  [Flower and Pineau des Forets, 1995].

Under the strong coupling approximation, the scale of variation of the *ions* velocity in the same C-shock is  $l_{ai} = u_0 t_a / M_a^2$  where  $M_a$  is the transverse Alfvénic Mach number of the shock. For shocks with a large Alfvénic Mach number, this length-scale is significantly smaller than  $l_a$  and the structure of the shock consists of a front in the ions velocity followed by a smoother transition for the neutral velocity [see Fig. 1 of Li et al., 2006, for example].

In the case of typical ISM turbulence, though,  $\mathcal{M}_a$  is of order one, and both length scales do not differ significantly. In fact, Zweibel and Brandenburg [1997] constructed the AD diffusion Reynolds number of eddies of length scale  $\ell$  and velocity U based on the AD diffusion coefficient:  $R_{AD}(\ell) = \ell U/\lambda_{AD} = \ell/\ell_{AD}$ where  $\ell_{AD} = Ut_a/\mathcal{M}_a^2$  with  $\mathcal{M}_a = U/c_a$ .<sup>2</sup> Zweibel and Brandenburg [1997] then argue that only eddies of length scales below  $\ell_{AD}$  should be affected by AD. We prefer to get a similar estimate by comparing the Fourier amplitudes of the AD e.m.f.  $(Re_a^{-1}(\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b}) \times \mathbf{b} \to Re_a^{-1}kb^3)$  and the inertial e.m.f.  $(\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{b} \to ub)$  in the the induction equation (4.2). Wave numbers above the critical wave number

$$k_a = Re_a \sqrt{\langle u^2 \rangle} / \langle b^2 \rangle \tag{4.5}$$

should be AD dominated. We hence define  $\ell_a = 2\pi/k_a$  accordingly, as the length scale below which AD should be effective. Note that  $\ell_{AD}$  and  $l_0\ell_a$  differ only by a factor of  $2\pi$ .

Similarly, we can estimate the length scale below which the strong coupling approximation breaks down by comparing the magnitude of the neglected inertial term  $D_t \rho_i \mathbf{U}_i$  to the coupling term  $\rho_n (\mathbf{U}_n - \mathbf{U}_i)/t_a$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>For example, with  $\ell = l_a$ , we find that the AD Reynolds number of a C-shock is either  $R_{AD} = 1$  or  $R_{AD} = \mathcal{M}_a^2$  depending on whether we compute it with the post-shock or the pre-shock magnetic field strength.

Assuming that  $\mathbf{U}_n$ ,  $\mathbf{U}_i$  and  $\mathbf{U}_n - \mathbf{U}_i$  all share the typical magnitude  $u_0$ , we then get a critical wavenumber  $k_{\text{two-fluids}} \simeq \rho_n / \rho_i / l_a$  above which the strong coupling approximation fails and the two-fluids approximation is needed. Provided  $\rho_i / \rho_n$  is small (it is typically lower than  $10^{-3}$  if the main charges are C<sup>+</sup> ions), the strong coupling approximation breaks down at scales much smaller than the typical AD diffusion scale. Other authors [Oishi and Mac Low, 2006b, Padoan et al., 2000] have claimed that the strong coupling approximation breaks down as soon as  $\ell < \ell_{AD}$  or  $R_{AD} < 1$ , where the ions inertia does not appear explicitly. But Fig. 1 of Li et al. [2006] shows a C-shock computed with the two-fluid approximation (solid) compared to an analytical solution (dashed) using the strong coupling approximation, and the agreement is perfect. We hence believe that the strong coupling approximation is a very good one in the low ionized ISM where  $\rho_i / \rho_n \ll 1$ , even in cases where  $R_{AD} > 1$ . In particular,  $k_{two-fluids}$  is at least a few ten times above the largest wave number in all our AD simulations, which amply justifies our use of the strong coupling approximation.

Finally, the observed emission of the ISM depends on the chemical and thermal state of the gas, which are strongly linked to the heating. The scale at which the heating takes place may not necessarily be directly connected to the scale  $\ell_a$  where AD undergoes a change of dynamical regime. In fact we will see that it is not the case in the present paper, and we will be forced to introduce yet an other length scale  $\ell_a^*$  for the typical thickness of sheets of strong AD heating.

## 4.4 The simulations

#### 4.4.1 Method

Many compressible methods have been devised to treat AD in the strong coupling or in the two-fluids approximations: see Masson et al. [2012] and references therein. Here, we solve the strong-coupling incompressible equations (4.2) in 3D using a spectral method for various values of the parameters and various initial conditions. Our spectral code ANK<sup>3</sup> is fully de-aliased by use of the phase-shift method of Patterson and Orszag [1971a] and uses polyhedral truncation [Canuto et al., 1988]. Polyhedral truncation considers only these wave-vectors for which the sum of any two of their components does not exceed 2N/3. Similarly with the widely used two-thirds rule, but contrary to an isotropic spherical truncation, this truncation scheme does not possess a sharp limit in wavenumber space. Polyhedral truncation allows us to keep 55 percent of the modes active, in comparison to 33 percent for the standard two-thirds rule, resulting in a more accurate description of the small scales. The Fourier transforms are computed with FFTW with single precision accuracy, and a standard fourth-order Runge-Kutta method is used for time integration. We checked that our code gives the correct solution for Alfvén waves damped by AD. As a resolution check for all simulations. we also looked for bumps in the kinetic and magnetic energy spectra near the truncation limit. In the case of the kinetic energy spectra we found bumps no larger than 15 %, whereas no bumps were present in the magnetic energy spectra. Note that we do not include a driving force in equations (4.2): our simulations are freely decaying. The MHD simulations with  $512^3$  resolution take about 5000 CPU hours until the peak of dissipation but the equivalent AD-MHD simulations require ten times more CPU time due to the more stringent time-step requirement.

In the spectral simulations performed, the velocity and magnetic fields are defined on a regular Cartesian grid of points, while boundary conditions are periodic in all directions. Note the total length of the computational domain is  $2\pi$  and the smallest non-zero wave-vector has a norm of one.

#### 4.4.2 Initial conditions

We use two types of initial conditions, corresponding to two different situations for the magnetic and crosshelicities.

In the first case, the three lowest non-zero wave numbers of both the velocity and the magnetic field are initially loaded with a superposition of different Arnol'd-Beltrami-Childress [ABC, see Dombre et al., 1986] flows

$$(u_x, u_y, u_z) = (A\sin(kz) + C\cos(ky), B\sin(kx) + A\cos(kz), C\sin(ky) + B\cos(kx)).$$
(4.6)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>http://www.lra.ens.fr/~giorgos/ank

Different values of the coefficients A, B, C are chosen for the first three wave numbers from a uniform random number generator. In higher wave numbers a random field with energy spectrum

$$E(k) = C_E k^{-3} \exp\left(-2\left(k/k_c\right)^2\right), \quad k_c = 3$$
(4.7)

is superposed. The phases are chosen from a uniform random number generator with the same seed for all simulations.

In the second case, the large scale initial flow is the Orszag-Tang (OT) vortex

$$(u_x, u_y, u_z) = (-2\sin y, 2\sin x, 0)$$
  

$$(b_x, b_y, b_z) = (-2\sin(2y) + \sin z,$$
  

$$2\sin(x) + \sin z, \sin x + \sin y)$$
(4.8)

and in higher wave numbers a random velocity field with the same properties as above is superposed. In order to keep the initial value of magnetic helicity close to zero, no random magnetic field is added to the OT initial condition, in contrast to the ABC initial condition.

The compressive components of the initial velocity and magnetic fields are subtracted so that the initial condition is purely solenoidal. In all cases, the constant  $C_E$  in equation (4.7) is chosen such that  $\langle \mathbf{u}^2 \rangle = \langle \mathbf{b}^2 \rangle = 1$ , so that we start from equipartition between kinetic and magnetic energy. The energy of the initial condition fields is concentrated on large scales  $k < k_c$  due to the exponential cutoff in (4.7).

In the case of the ABC initial condition, the non-dimensional cross-helicity

$$H_c = \frac{2 \langle \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{b} \rangle}{\sqrt{\langle \mathbf{u}^2 \rangle \langle \mathbf{b}^2 \rangle}}$$

is  $\sim 2 \times 10^{-3}$ , corresponding to a low initial correlation between the velocity field and the magnetic field. The mean magnetic helicity

$$H_m = \langle \mathbf{a} \cdot \mathbf{b} \rangle$$

where **a** is the vector potential with  $\mathbf{b} = \nabla \times \mathbf{a}$ , is considerable, ~ 0.2. In the case of the OT initial condition the non-dimensional cross-helicity is ~ 0.1 while the mean magnetic helicity is almost zero, ~  $1 \times 10^{-9}$ . Thus these two different initial conditions represent evolution under different constraints: in the ABC case, low cross-helicity and sizable magnetic helicity whereas in the OT case sizable cross-helicity but low magnetic helicity. This fact is important because in the ideal MHD limit (inviscid and non-resistive) the energy, cross-helicity and magnetic helicity are all conserved during the evolution. If AD is included in the ideal MHD equations, the conservation of magnetic helicity remains while energy and cross-helicity conservation are broken. This is a consequence of the form of the AD term in the induction equation, which takes the form of an advection term

$$\nabla \times (\mathbf{u}_d \times \mathbf{b}), \quad \text{with } \mathbf{u}_d = Re_a^{-1}(\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b})$$

the non-dimensional ion-neutral drift velocity. This form also implies that although AD is a dissipative process, it conserves magnetic flux and is thus unable to reconnect field lines.

#### 4.4.3 Parameters

The parameters of the simulations performed are shown in table 4.1. Throughout this paper, we focus mainly on the analysis of the OT initial condition with  $Re_a = 10, 100, \infty$ , and we discuss the differences with respect to the ABC initial conditions only when they arise. The Taylor microscale Reynolds number  $Re_{\lambda}$  is defined as  $Re_{\lambda} = U\lambda Re$  where  $U = \sqrt{\langle \mathbf{u}^2 \rangle}$  is the r.m.s. velocity and

$$\lambda = 2\pi \left( \frac{\int_0^\infty e(k) \ dk}{\int_0^\infty k^2 e(k) \ dk} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

is the Taylor microscale, with  $\int_0^\infty e(k) dk = \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathbf{u}^2 + \mathbf{b}^2 \rangle$  the total energy and e(k) the total energy spectrum. The value of  $Re_\lambda$  is given at the peak of viscous plus Ohmic dissipation where

#	N	L	$\lambda$	$l_d$	$Re_{\lambda}$	$Re = Re_m$	$Re_a$	Initial condition
1	128	2.60	1.30	0.0607	189	219	-	ABC
2	128	2.59	1.31	0.0605	210	219	-	OT
3	128	2.70	1.44	0.0390	217	219	100	ABC
4	128	2.72	1.44	0.0381	228	219	100	ОТ
5	256	2.46	0.94	0.0375	353	551	-	ABC
6	256	2.46	0.91	0.0389	377	551	-	OT
7	256	2.62	1.08	0.0185	412	551	100	ABC
8	256	2.66	1.09	0.0196	444	551	100	OT
9	512	2.28	0.67	0.0237	591	1374	-	ABC
10	512	2.12	0.58	0.0245	604	1374	-	OT
11	512	2.49	0.83	0.0091	756	1374	100	ABC
12	512	2.36	0.75	0.0095	750	1374	100	OT
13	512	1.84	0.58	0.0074	640	1374	10	ABC
14	512	2.80	1.00	0.0084	927	1374	10	OT

Table 4.1: Parameters of the simulations. N: linear resolution, L: integral length scale at the peak of dissipation (pd),  $\lambda$ : Taylor microscale (pd),  $l_d$ : dissipative scale (pd),  $Re_{\lambda}$ : Taylor microscale Reynolds number  $U\lambda Re$  (pd), Re: kinetic Reynolds number,  $Re_m$ : magnetic Reynolds number,  $Re_a$ : AD Reynolds number.

$$\begin{split} \langle \varepsilon \rangle &= \langle \varepsilon_o \rangle + \langle \varepsilon_v \rangle \\ \varepsilon_o &= R e_m^{-1} \mathbf{j}^2 \\ \varepsilon_v &= \frac{R e^{-1}}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^3 \left( \partial_i u_j + \partial_j u_i \right)^2 \end{split}$$

The time when the peak of dissipation occurs is appropriate for analysis because for a given integral length scale

$$L = 2\pi \frac{\int_0^\infty k^{-1} e(k) \, dk}{\int_0^\infty e(k) \, dk}$$
(4.9)

and dissipative scale (assuming Kolmogorov scaling)

$$l_d = \left(\frac{Re^{-3}}{\langle \varepsilon \rangle}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \tag{4.10}$$

the scale separation  $L/l_d$  between the energy-containing scales and the dissipative scales is maximum. Another desirable property at the peak of dissipation is quasi-stationarity, due to the time derivative of the dissipation rate which cancels at the peak, by definition. In all the MHD simulations (with  $Re_a^{-1} = 0$ ), two snapshots of the fields were recorded for analysis: one at the peak of dissipation and a second one one eddy turnover time later. We define the macroscopic eddy turnover time as

$$T = \sqrt{3}\frac{L}{U} \tag{4.11}$$

where the one-directional r.m.s. velocity  $U/\sqrt{3}$  and the integral length scale L were both computed at dissipation peak to estimate when to output the next snapshot. For the AD simulations (with  $Re_a^{-1} > 0$ ), we could not afford to compute beyond the dissipation peak.

#### 4.4.4 Power-spectra

The kinetic and magnetic energy spectra of the high resolution OT runs 10-12-14 are shown in Figure 4.1, at the temporal peak of dissipation. The spectra are compensated by the Kolmogorov law  $k^{-5/3}$  and normalized



Figure 4.1: Compensated kinetic (top) and magnetic (bottom) energy spectra for OT runs 10, 12 and 14 at the temporal peak of dissipation. The assumed limits of the inertial and dissipation ranges are shown in dashed vertical lines. The vertical blue and red dashed-dotted lines with square symbols correspond to the expected AD critical wavenumber  $k_a$  (see equation (4.5)) in runs 12 and 14, respectively.

by  $U^2$ . The extent of the inertial range, as defined by the portion of the spectra that has slope -5/3 is very limited, especially in the cases with AD. In the same Figure we show the limits of the inertial and dissipation ranges assumed for the analysis of section 4.6.2: they are taken from Uritsky et al. [2010] as [0.21, 1.3] and [0.025, 0.18] respectively (in units of  $l_0$ ).

The kinetic and the magnetic energy appear to remain in approximate equipartition across all scales except for the smallest scales in the AD runs where magnetic energy dominates the kinetic energy (the tick-marks on the vertical lines can guide the eye to estimate the relative position of the curves between the upper and the bottom panel).

The vertical dash-dotted lines with square symbols correspond to the wave-number  $k_a$  defined in equation (4.5), for the cases of runs 12 and 14. Surprisingly, departures from MHD spectra start at about the same wave number for all AD runs (in the range  $k \sim 5-8$  for both the kinetic energy spectrum and the magnetic one): this hints at the fact that  $\ell_a = 2\pi/k_a$  is not the proper scale to assess the dynamical importance of AD in our simulations. In particular, dynamics can be affected at scales much larger than that in run 12. Although the difference between the pure MHD and AD MHD spectra is modest, there is a clear tendency for AD to flatten the energy spectra, especially for the magnetic energy. This is in line with the idea by Brandenburg and Zweibel [1994] that AD diffuses magnetic fields on the one hand, but on the other hand helps to build sharper magnetic structures in specific places.



Figure 4.2: Time evolution of volume integrated dissipation rates for the OT runs 10, 12 and 14. Solid lines show the Ohmic plus viscous dissipation which we use to define peak dissipation.

## 4.5 The dissipation field

#### 4.5.1 Total dissipation

We present in Figure 4.2 the time evolution of volume integrated dissipation rates. The viscous and Ohmic dissipation rates follow each other closely and we don't separate their respective contributions in this figure. Most of the time, the total dissipation rates due to viscosity, resistivity and AD are of comparable magnitude. But the total AD dissipation rate is seen to peak before the Ohmic plus viscous dissipation rate, especially at low values of  $Re_a$ . This makes our choice of the temporal peak of Ohmic plus viscous dissipation more appropriate to avoid the initial transient spike of AD dissipation (this spike is even more pronounced in the ABC case run 13).

We note that Ohmic dissipation is not enhanced by the presence of AD. On the contrary, the peak value of the Ohmic plus viscous dissipation decreases as  $Re_a$  is decreased. Even though Brandenburg and Zweibel [1994]'s idea that AD sharpens magnetic structures at small scales is valid in our simulations, AD also smooths the fields at intermediate scales and the net effect on the global Ohmic heating is to decrease it. However, this may be due to the finite dynamical range in our simulations. Higher  $Re_m$  Reynolds number simulations, if they yield enhanced magnetic power in a more extended range at small scales, could result in a globally enhanced rate of reconnection, in agreement with Zweibel and Brandenburg [1997]'s model.

#### 4.5.2 Probability distribution function

The probability density function (pdf) of the total dissipation rate

$$\varepsilon_t = \varepsilon_o + \varepsilon_v + \varepsilon_a$$

where

$$\varepsilon_a = Re_a^{-1} (\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b})^2$$

is shown in Figure 4.3 for the high-resolution run 12. The core of the pdf is very close to the log-normal distribution

$$\mathcal{P}_c(\varepsilon_t) \propto \exp\left(-\frac{(\ln \varepsilon_t - \mu_l)^2}{\sigma_l^2}\right)$$

with mean  $\mu_l \simeq -4.27$  and standard deviation  $\sigma_l \simeq 1.03$ , while the tail of the distribution can be fitted by a power-law

$$\mathcal{P}_t(\varepsilon_t) \propto \varepsilon_t^{-\gamma}$$



Figure 4.3: Log-normal core and power-law tail fit for the pdf of the total dissipation (Run 12 AD - OT). The core follows a log-normal distribution with mean  $\mu_l \simeq -4.27$  and standard deviation  $\sigma_l \simeq 1.03$  while the tail follows a power-law with exponent  $-\tau \simeq -2.61$ . Vertical lines show the mean value (red) and thresholds located at 1 (black), 2 (green) and 3 (blue) standard deviations above the mean value.

with exponent  $\tau \simeq 2.61$ . This power-law is one of the signatures of intermittency of dissipation [Frisch, 1995]. For still higher values of the total dissipation the pdf has an exponential cut-off, although these high dissipation values are close to the sampling limit. In the analysis of the next section (extraction of structures of high dissipation) effectively only the power-law range of the distribution is sampled.

In Figure 4.4 we present the cumulative probability density function of the total dissipation for run 12. It flattens out before reaching unity, which shows that high values of the dissipation are concentrated in a small volume subset of the spatial domain. The analysis of the next section concerns events that take place in this high-dissipation plateau.

#### 4.5.3 Power-spectrum

We now investigate the distribution of the energy dissipation with respect to spatial scale. This can be discerned thanks to the power spectra of the dissipation fields, displayed in figure 4.5. The AD heating peaks at larger scales in comparison to Ohmic and viscous dissipation. The scale of this peak  $\ell_a^*$  is actually only a few times smaller than the integral length scale. At this range of scales AD dissipation is much more important than Ohmic and viscous dissipation. This suggests that the heating due to AD has a characteristic length scale  $\ell_a^*$ , which can be much larger than the dimensional estimate  $\ell_a = 2\pi/k_a$  (4.5) for run 11. This length scale is relevant to the heating, and hence may manifest itself in structures revealed by chemical tracers of the warm chemistry of the ISM.

The AD dissipation term,  $Re_a^{-1}(\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b})^2$ , is proportional to the square of the Lorentz force. It is hence interesting to look at the influence of AD on the characteristics of the Lorentz force, in comparison with the pure MHD case. Figure 4.6 shows the spectrum of the Lorentz force for OT runs 10, 12 and 14. The inclusion of AD has a significant effect on the total power of the Lorentz force, reducing it importantly especially in the dissipative range. By contrast, as seen on figure 4.1, AD results in a deficit in the magnetic energy spectrum (and hence the spectrum of the current vector) which is much smaller in comparison to the deficit of the cross-product of these two vectors (the Lorentz force), and is only present on intermediate scales.

This is explained if AD has the effect of aligning the vectors  $\mathbf{j}$  and  $\mathbf{b}$  [as was also found in the simulations of Brandenburg et al., 1995], with a stronger effect at small scales. To put it in an other way, AD leads the magnetic field at small scales closer to a Lorentz force free configuration, where the feedback of the magnetic field evolution on the velocity field dynamics is weaker than for MHD. This was also found in the simulations by Brandenburg and Zweibel [1995].



Figure 4.4: Cumulative probability density function of the total dissipation for run 12 (AD - OT).



Figure 4.5: Compensated dissipation spectra for run 12 (AD-OT,  $Re_a = 100$ ). Blue solid line: AD dissipation, red dashed line: Ohmic dissipation, green dotted line: viscous dissipation. We plot  $ke_{\epsilon}(k)$  in a log-lin plot, so that the area under the curve over any interval shows directly the amount of power inside this interval. We mark the position of the maximum value of  $ke_{\epsilon_a}$ , at  $k = k_a^* = 2\pi/\ell_a^*$ , and the position of  $k = k_a$ .



Figure 4.6: Power spectra of  $\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b}$  for high resolution runs 10,12 and 14. The field becomes force-free at small scales when the strength of the AD is increased.

Here we attempt to trace this tendency back to the evolution equations. We write  $\mathbf{j}_{\perp}$  the component of the current vector  $\mathbf{j}$ : the double cross-product  $(\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b}) \times \mathbf{b}$  can then be simply written  $b^2 \mathbf{j}_{\perp}$ . This allows to write

$$(\partial_t \mathbf{j})_{\text{withAD}} = (\partial_t \mathbf{j})_{\text{withoutAD}} + \nabla \times [\nabla \times (Re_a^{-1}b^2 \mathbf{j}_\perp)]$$
(4.12)

which shows that in regions where  $b^2$  is smooth enough, the effect of AD is to diffuse out the component of the current perpendicular to **b**, and it does so faster at small scales like any diffusion process. Hence AD brings the field closer to a force-free state, more efficiently at small scales, except perhaps at the smallest scales where  $b^2$  varies and the behavior of equation (4.12) is less easy to predict.

#### 4.5.4 Spatial structure

Next, we consider qualitatively the different contributions to the bulk of the dissipation field. For this purpose, each different mechanism of dissipation (Ohmic, viscous and ambipolar diffusion) is assigned to a color channel: Ohmic dissipation is assigned to the red channel, viscous dissipation to the green channel and AD dissipation to the blue channel. To emphasize the structures in the bulk of the dissipation we first compute the total dissipation value  $\varepsilon_l$  below which 10% of the heating occurs and the value  $\varepsilon_u$  below which 90% of the dissipation occurs. We discard the pixels with total dissipation  $\varepsilon_t < \varepsilon_l$ , we saturate the intensity of the pixels with  $\varepsilon_t > \varepsilon_u$  (while keeping their intrinsic color) and we apply a logarithmic scaling for the intensity in between these two thresholds. The color of each channel is hence given by the ratio of each type of dissipation to the total dissipation

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Red} &= \frac{\varepsilon_o}{\varepsilon_t} \ \mathrm{I} \\ \operatorname{Green} &= \frac{\varepsilon_v}{\varepsilon_t} \ \mathrm{I} \\ \operatorname{Blue} &= \frac{\varepsilon_a}{\varepsilon_t} \ \mathrm{I} \end{aligned}$$

with the intensity I given by

$$\mathbf{I} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \varepsilon_t < \varepsilon_l \\ \frac{\log(\varepsilon_t) - \log(\varepsilon_l)}{\log(\varepsilon_u) - \log(\varepsilon_l)} & \text{if } \varepsilon_l \le \varepsilon_t \le \varepsilon_u \\ 1 & \text{if } \varepsilon_u < \varepsilon_t \end{cases}$$

The color maps of a slice through the dissipation fields are shown in figures 4.7-4.9 for all high-resolution runs with the ABC initial conditions.



Figure 4.7: Color maps of a slice of the dissipation fields, run 10 (MHD - OT). Red: Ohmic dissipation, green: viscous dissipation. All snapshots are taken at the peak of dissipation.



Figure 4.8: Same as Figure 4.7, Run 12, (AD - OT,  $Re_a = 100$ ) with blue: ambipolar diffusion heating.



Figure 4.9: Same as Figure 4.7, Run 14, (AD - OT,  $Re_a = 10$ )

In the pure MHD case (Figure 4.7), viscous and Ohmic dissipation are in general concentrated on thin sheets: a slice by slice inspection of the full cube reveals continuously evolving filaments at the intersection between the sheets and the plane of the slice. The length of the sheets is comparable to the integral length scale (4.9) while their thickness is comparable to the dissipation scale (4.10).

The case of AD MHD (figures 4.8,4.9) is similar in the sense that viscous and Ohmic dissipation are again concentrated on thin current sheets, although these sheets are fewer in number (more connected), and the voids of low dissipation between them are smaller. AD dissipation is significantly more diffuse than both Ohmic and viscous dissipation, and is concentrated on much thicker structures. The thickness of the AD dissipation structures seems to coincide with the AD heating length  $\ell_a^*$  measured on the power spectra. In some cases the structures of strong AD dissipation are seen to surround the sheets of Ohmic or viscous dissipation: AD sandwiches Ohmic dissipation, much like in the Brandenburg and Zweibel [1994] picture. This is probably also seen on the left panel of Figure 7 of Padoan et al. [2000] where the structures of AD dissipation often go in pairs, except Ohmic dissipation is absent from their simulations, so reconnection proceeds only through numerical truncation errors. Between figure 4.7 and Figure 4.8, there is little difference in the spatial structure of the dissipation field, with similar size, shape and position for each sheets of dissipation.

The above color maps reveal only a small fraction of the pixels have mixed colors (such as cyan, yellow or purple). This suggests that the dissipative structures of different nature (Ohmic, viscous or AD) are well separated.

## 4.6 Intermittency and structures of high dissipation

### 4.6.1 Structure functions

Figures 4.7-4.9 suggest that the dissipation field is not smoothly distributed in space, but is characterized by a high degree of intermittency with regions of extreme dissipation values alternating with relatively quiescent regions. The intermittent distribution of the energy dissipation rate is expected to have an impact on the structure functions of the velocity and the magnetic field. A longitudinal velocity structure function of order p is the p-th moment of the longitudinal increment of the velocity field

$$S_p^u(r) = \langle (\delta u_{\parallel}(r))^p \rangle, \quad \delta u_{\parallel}(r) = (\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - \mathbf{u}(\mathbf{x})) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{r}}$$

where  $\hat{\mathbf{r}}$  is the unit vector in the direction of  $\mathbf{r}$ . The definition for the structure function of the magnetic field  $S_p^b(r)$  is completely analogous. According to standard Kolmogorov [1941b] phenomenology (hereafter K41), in the inertial range the structure functions exhibit power–law scaling

$$S_p^u(r) \propto r^{\zeta_p^u}, \qquad l_d \ll r \ll I$$

where the exponents  $\zeta_p^u$  vary linearly with p,  $\zeta_p^u = p/3$ . Intermittency considerations [Frisch, 1995] lead to deviations from the linear K41 prediction. A particularly successful model of intermittency that was introduced for hydrodynamic turbulence by She and Leveque [1994a] and generalized for MHD turbulence by Politano and Pouquet [1995] predicts

$$\zeta_p^{GSL}(g,C) = \frac{p}{g} \left(1 - \frac{2}{g}\right) + C \left(1 - \left(1 - \frac{2}{gC}\right)\right)^{\frac{r}{g}}$$

where g is the inverse of the inertial range scaling exponent of the velocity increment

$$\delta u_{\parallel}(r) \propto r^{1/g}$$

and C is the co-dimension of the dissipative structures, C = 2 for filaments and C = 1 for sheets in three space dimensions. K41 phenomenology predicts g = 3, while Iroshnikov-Kraichnan (IK) MHD phenomenology [Iroshnikov, 1964, Kraichnan, 1965] predicts g = 4.

In order to estimate the structure function exponents from numerical data, we used the extended selfsimilarity (ESS) method introduced by Benzi et al. [1993]. The exponents were estimated by computing the logarithmic slope

$$\zeta_p^u = \frac{d\log S_p^u(r)}{d\log S_*(r)}$$

where  $S_*(r)$  is a structure function whose scaling behavior is known from theory. In the case of MHD turbulence,  $S_*(r)$  is given by the two functions

$$S_z^{\pm}(r) = \langle \delta z_{\parallel}^{\mp} (\delta \mathbf{z}^{\pm})^2 \rangle$$

where  $\delta \mathbf{z}^{\pm}$  is the increment of the Elsässer fields  $\mathbf{z}^{\pm} = \mathbf{u} \pm \mathbf{b}$ . Starting from the MHD equations and assuming statistical homogeneity, isotropy and stationarity, one can derive analytically

$$S_z^{\pm}(r) = -\frac{4}{3} \langle \varepsilon^{\pm} \rangle r \qquad l_d \ll r \ll L \tag{4.13}$$

where  $\varepsilon^{\pm}$  are the dissipation rates of  $(\mathbf{z}^{\pm})^2$  [Politano and Pouquet, 1998]. The linear scaling of  $S_z^{\pm}(r)$  in the inertial range is confirmed approximately by the flattening seen in Figure 4.10 which shows compensated plots. Although the derivation of the law (4.13) is not proven in the case of AD MHD, the linear scaling of  $S_z^{\pm}(r)$  with r is not further from linearity in comparison to pure MHD.

The velocity and magnetic field structure function exponents up to order 8, calculated for high resolution runs 9-14 using extended self-similarity are shown in figures 4.11-4.14. We see a departure from the linear prediction of K41, a sign of intermittency, especially in the case of the magnetic field. The structure function exponents follow closely, but not exactly, the predictions of the generalized She & Levêque model with a scaling parameter g = 3 and a co-dimension for the structures of high dissipation around C = 1 (with exceptions at C = 2 and some below C = 1). This fact suggests that in the inertial range  $\delta u(r)$  and  $\delta b(r)$ are proportional to  $r^{1/3}$ , which is the prediction of K41 phenomenology, rather than  $r^{1/4}$  as predicted by IK phenomenology. The value C = 1 of the co-dimension suggests that the structures of high dissipation in the inertial range are sheet-like, in accordance with figures 4.7-4.9 and the analysis of section 4.6.2. The velocity exponents for runs 9, 10 and 12 hint towards C = 2 (filaments) and the magnetic exponents for the OT runs exhibit a greater degree of intermittency. This indicates that even though the exponents appear to follow



Figure 4.10: Compensated plot  $S_z^{\pm}(r)/r$  for the OT runs 10,12 and 14.



Figure 4.11: ESS velocity field structure function exponents for ABC runs 9-11-13.



Figure 4.12: ESS velocity field structure function exponents for OT runs 10-12-14.



Figure 4.13: ESS magnetic field structure functions for ABC runs 9-11-13.



Figure 4.14: ESS magnetic field structure functions exponents for OT runs 10-12-14.

generalized She & Levêque models, the model's phenomenology probably does not subtend the dissipation in our simulations.

The effect of AD on intermittency is not easy to discern from these scaling exponents. In the case of the ABC initial condition, the deviation from the K41 values is larger for both the velocity and the magnetic field. The situation is reversed in the case of the OT initial condition, where the pure MHD fields appear to be more intermittent.

#### 4.6.2 Extraction of structures

Following Uritsky et al. [2010] (hereafter UR10) and Moisy and Jiménez [2004], we implemented an algorithm for the extraction of structures of high dissipation. In the problem considered, there are three types of local dissipation rates: the viscous dissipation rate,

$$\varepsilon_v = \frac{Re^{-1}}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^3 \left(\partial_i u_j + \partial_j u_i\right)^2 \tag{4.14}$$

the Ohmic dissipation rate

$$\varepsilon_o = Re_m^{-1} \mathbf{j}^2 = Re_m^{-1} \left( \nabla \times \mathbf{b} \right)^2 \tag{4.15}$$

and the AD dissipation rate

$$\varepsilon_a = Re_a^{-1} \left( \mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b} \right)^2. \tag{4.16}$$

A structure of high dissipation is defined as a connected set of points  $\mathbf{x}$  where

$$\varepsilon(\mathbf{x}) > \langle \varepsilon \rangle + j\sigma_{\varepsilon}, \ j = 1,2 \text{ or } 3.$$
 (4.17)

In the above relation,  $\varepsilon$  can be any of the three dissipation rates or the total dissipation rate  $\varepsilon_t = \varepsilon_v + \varepsilon_o + \varepsilon_a + \varepsilon_a$ (or  $\varepsilon_t = \varepsilon_v + \varepsilon_o$  in the case AD is absent).  $\langle \varepsilon \rangle$  is the spatial mean value of the dissipation rate and  $\sigma_{\varepsilon}$  its standard deviation. For example, the three thresholds we use on total dissipation for run 12 are displayed on figures 4.3 and 4.4 over the PDF and the CDF of the total dissipation.

The algorithm is capable of isolating the structures of high dissipation so that a statistical analysis of their geometric and dynamical characteristics can be performed. The extracted structures are generally sheet-like, as can be seen in figure 4.15, where all structures extracted from run 12 (AD - OT) whose characteristic linear sizes  $L_i$  (see below) lie in the inertial range are shown. An example of a more complex structure can be seen in Figure 4.16. This structure is one of the largest extracted from this dataset. It is sheet-like, with



Figure 4.15: Inertial range structures extracted from the dataset corresponding to the peak of dissipation of Run 12 (AD - OT). They are defined as connected sets of points having values of the total dissipation three standard deviations above the mean value. Each little sphere has a 2-pixels diameter, ie: about the size of the viscous (or equivalently Ohmic) dissipation length.



Figure 4.16: One of the largest structures extracted from run 12

its length larger than the integral length scale (4.9) and its thickness is comparable to the dissipation scale (4.10). It is overall characterized by a high degree of geometrical complexity.

After the extraction of the structures, the following quantities were computed for statistical analysis

$$L_i = \delta \max_{m,l \in \Lambda_i} |\mathbf{r}_m - \mathbf{r}_l| \tag{4.18a}$$

$$L_{\{x,y,z\}i} = \delta \max_{m,l \in \Lambda_i} |\{x,y,z\}_m - \{x,y,z\}_l|$$
(4.18b)

$$R_i = \sqrt{L_{xi}^2 + L_{yi}^2 + L_{zi}^2} \tag{4.18c}$$

$$V_i = \delta^3 \sum_{m \in \Lambda_i} 1 \tag{4.18d}$$

$$A_i = \delta^2 \sum_{\substack{m \in \Lambda_i \\ M(m) \not \subset \Lambda_i}} 1 \tag{4.18e}$$

$$P_i = \delta^3 \sum_{m \in \Lambda_i} \varepsilon(\mathbf{r}_m) \tag{4.18f}$$

In the above definitions,  $\Lambda_i$  is the i-th structure, *m* its *m*-th point, M(k) the set of 26 neighbors of the point *m* and  $\delta = 2\pi/N$  is the grid spacing.  $L_i$  is the characteristic linear scale of the structure,  $L_{\{x,y,z\}i}$  is the linear scale of its projection on the three axes,  $R_i$  is the characteristic linear scale of the smallest volume embedding the whole structure,  $V_i$  is its volume,  $A_i$  its surface and  $P_i$  the volume-integrated dissipation rate. In the next section, all statistical quantities are computed on the sample of different extracted structures. Note that the definition of  $R_i$  makes it dependent of the orientation of the structure (its value can change by tilting slightly the axis of the domain).

In order to validate our extraction procedure, we implemented it in two different ways. First, we implemented the same algorithm as UR10 (ie: recursive, using breadth-first search as explained in UR10). Second, we implemented a non-recursive algorithm: we parse the whole cube to find a pixel above threshold which is not yet included into a structure ; we tag it and we scan the whole cube several times to tag the neighboring pixels of this growing seed which happen to be above threshold, until we find no new pixel to attach to this structure ; finally we reiterate to find another pixel not yet included in a structure until we fail to find any new pixel above threshold. The second algorithm is much more CPU time consuming, but keeps the memory usage constant and is easier to implement. We checked that both algorithms identify strictly the same structures for the two implementations in the low resolution cases.

Like in UR10, all the above quantities are found to exhibit power-law scaling with respect to structure linear size  $L_i$ , with different scaling behavior in the inertial and dissipative ranges. The quantity  $X_i$ , which could be any of  $L_i, R_i, V_i, A_i, P_i$  scales as

$$X_i \propto L_i^{D_X}$$

with different scaling exponents  $D_X$  in the inertial and dissipative ranges, while the pdf of  $X_i$  scales as

$$\mathcal{P}(X_i) \propto X_i^{-\tau_X}$$

with different scaling exponents  $\tau_X$  in the inertial and dissipative ranges. As an example, the scaling relations  $P_i \propto L_i^{D_P}$  and  $\mathcal{P}(P_i) \propto P_i^{-\tau_P}$  are shown in figures 4.17 for the structures extracted from Run 12 (AD - OT), at the peak of dissipation, with a threshold of two standard deviations above mean value. The limits of the inertial and dissipation ranges are also shown (as used by UR10, see section 4.4.4). The upper limit of the dissipation range is just below the lower limit of the inertial range, while the lower limit of the dissipation range is  $\sim 2$  times the numerical resolution.

#### 4.6.3 Comparison with UR10

In this section we compare the results of the statistical analysis of structures of high dissipation with those of UR10. These authors consider pure MHD and study the structures of high Ohmic dissipation or high enstrophy

$$\varepsilon_{\omega} = Re^{-1}\omega^2, \qquad \omega = \nabla \times \mathbf{u}$$



Figure 4.17: Scaling relations  $P_i \propto L_i^{D_P}$  from Run 12 (AD - OT), at the peak of dissipation, with a threshold of two standard deviations above mean value. The dotted line shows the effect of adopting the slope found by Uritsky et al. [2010] instead of our own slope.

The results for the scaling exponents are shown in figure 4.18, for the case of the OT initial condition. The case of the ABC initial condition (not shown) is similar. The exponents are calculated from run 10 which in terms of initial condition and Reynolds number is similar with run III of UR10. As in the present paper, the snapshot analyzed is on the peak of dissipation. The structures of high dissipation are defined as connected sets of points having values of the Ohmic dissipation two standard deviations above the mean value. We keep the same definitions as UR10 for the inertial and dissipative ranges (cf. section 4.4.4).

Figure 4.18 shows that the agreement between our results and those of UR10 is not completely satisfactory. Although most three-sigma error bars are compatible and the errors are on the same order, there remains systematic differences, especially for our pdf exponents which appear to yield shallower pdfs than UR10. The least square method used by UR10 to estimate the slope of power-law pdfs is known to introduce some bias and the maximum-likelihood estimate method (MLE) should be used instead [see Clauset et al., 2009]. We computed the exponents with the MLE, and found them to be very close to our least-square values. We turned to explore the effects of some systematics due to the uncertainty on the boundaries of the inertial and dissipative range and the size of the bins used to produce the pdfs. We varied randomly these parameters with factors in an octave centered on their initial chosen values. The excursion of the resulting three-sigma error bars over a thousand of such realizations are plotted as thin red error bars on Figure 4.18. A slight displacement of the inertial or dissipative range boundaries incorporates (or leaves out) new data near the edge of the fitting intervals, where their leverage on the fitted slope is quite important. The resulting figure shows that such systematics can account for nearly all discrepancies with respect to UR10, except for the correlation between the total dissipation of structures and their linear size. We illustrate the corresponding discrepancy on Figure 4.17 where the dotted red line shows the slope followed by UR10 data: this line clearly falls below our data at small scales. This suggests that our smallest structure have a higher value of dissipation. This may perhaps be traced back to the slightly more refined dealiasing rule which we use. The picture is the same for the ABC runs, except for the error bar 0.02 on  $D_A$  in Run I of UR10 (see their Table II) which is probably a typo as the value they quote does not correspond to the scatter displayed in their Figure 3.

To validate further our results, we compared the computed scaling exponents for the dataset corresponding to the temporal peak of total dissipation of the pure MHD run with ABC or OT initial condition (Run 9 and 10) with those computed from a snapshot taken one macroscopic eddy turnover time later, in the decay period of the turbulence. In agreement with the results of UR10, we find no statistical difference between the two snapshots (one-sigma error bars are compatible). Similarly, we compared the exponent values computed based on  $\mathbf{j}^2$  with those computed based on  $\boldsymbol{\omega}^2$  for the dataset corresponding to the peak of total dissipation



Figure 4.18: Scaling exponents for structures extracted based on the Ohmic dissipation (red circles), comparison with results of UR10 (blue squares). Upper panel: Inertial range exponents for our Run 10 (MHD-OT) compared with the corresponding Run III of UR10. Lower panel: Dissipative range exponents for the same runs. Thick error bars are three-sigma error brackets. Thin red error bars estimate the systematics related to the choice of the boundaries of the inertial and dissipative ranges as well as the bin size for the definition of the pdfs: see text for details.

#	Ν	$Re_{\lambda}$	$Re_a$	# of structures	% of volume	% of total dissipation
1	128	189	-	87	3.90	23.85
2	128	210	-	54	3.81	27.29
3	128	217	100	72	3.78	23.65
4	128	228	100	34	3.90	26.91
5	256	353	-	215	3.26	27.32
6	256	377	-	233	3.26	26.80
7	256	412	100	144	2.86	26.40
8	256	444	100	153	2.98	26.53
9	512	591	-	790	2.70	31.30
10	512	604	-	1166	2.77	30.33
11	512	756	100	375	2.17	29.21
12	512	750	100	418	2.57	29.48
13	512	640	10	1167	2.94	28.01
14	512	927	10	378	1.75	22.00

Table 4.2: Results of the structure extraction algorithm for all runs and structures defined as connected sets of points having a value of the total dissipation two standard deviations above mean value.

of the same runs (Runs 9 and 10). Again the exponents were seen to be compatible within one-sigma error bars, as in UR10.

#### 4.6.4 Structures based on total dissipation

In this section we focus on the statistical analysis of structures extracted based on the total dissipation  $\varepsilon_t = \varepsilon_o + \varepsilon_v + \varepsilon_a$  for both pure MHD and AD MHD. The analysis based on the total dissipation is more relevant to the heating of the ISM because all three different types of dissipation can be important heating agents. AD has an additional specificity because the ion-neutral drift increases the effective temperature of the chemical reactions, but we do not consider this yet in the present work. In the following, we will note  $D_X$  for the linear size exponents and  $\tau_X$  for the probability exponents of a characteristic X. All the structures discussed in this section are defined as connected sets of points having values of the total dissipation two standard deviations above the mean value.

In Table 4.2 we present the results of the structure extraction algorithm. The relative amount of dissipation contained by all the detected structures does not depend much on the Reynolds number, but the volume filling factor of the structures decreases as the Reynolds number increases. The presence of AD results in fewer detected structures than without AD (except for run 13). However, they fill roughly the same volume fraction, thus AD structures tend to be larger. This difference between the number of different structures in pure MHD and AD increases with the Reynolds number. Figure 4.19 gives a more detailed view of the fraction of total dissipation contained in structures with a value above a given threshold as a function of the volume fraction occupied by these structures. The curve rises steeply near the origin, so that 30 percent of the dissipation in contained in less than 3 percent of the total volume. The steepness at the origin is seen to be mainly due to the Ohmic heating: this is in line with the original picture of Brandenburg and Zweibel [1994] where AD forms sharp features in which Ohmic dissipation is favored.

Figures 4.20 and 4.21 summarize all results on the exponents for the total dissipation two standard deviations above the mean. Although most three-sigma error bars are compatible, in particular for the  $D_X$  exponents which are unchanged with AD, some systematic differences exist for the pdfs exponents  $\tau_X$ . The pdfs exponents are in general steeper in the dissipation range: AD seems to favor more fragmented structures in the dissipative range. This confirms the tendency for more intermittency with AD that was suggested by the structure functions analysis. However, we see no clear cut tendency in the inertial range. If we discard the strong AD results ( $Re_a = 10$ ), the inertial range shows a behavior opposite from the dissipative range (shallower pdfs slope, ie: larger structures are favored when AD is present). However if we now look only at the MHD runs and the  $Re_a = 10$  runs, the inertial range sees no change in the  $\tau_X$  exponents for the OT



Figure 4.19: We look at the subset of pixels above a given threshold of total dissipation in run 12 (AD-OT,  $Re_a = 100$ ) at the dissipation peak. For each value of the threshold, we plot the fraction of the total energy dissipation on this subset versus the volume of this subset (black curve). We also give the fraction of the total dissipation on this subset for each nature of dissipation (red: Ohmic, green: viscous, blue: AD).

runs, but bigger exponents for the ABC runs, in agreement with the dissipative range and contrary to the  $Re_a = 100$  runs...

This complicated picture might perhaps not be genuine, as the huge systematics experienced for the comparison with UR10 show. However, the dependence of the intermittency statistics on the initial conditions (seen both in the structure pdfs slopes and in the structure functions exponents) points at their difference in magnetic helicity content. In the OT initial condition, the initial value of magnetic helicity is almost zero, and the equation of magnetic helicity evolution is unchanged by the inclusion of the AD term. As far as the effects of viscosity and resistivity are neglected, both the pure MHD and AD MHD solution evolve under the same constraint of zero magnetic helicity. A zero value for the magnetic helicity is an important constraint because it implies statistical reflection invariance, a property which the ABC runs will not share. In the ABC initial condition, the constraint of very low cross-helicity is broken by AD, which provides a source term in the cross-helicity equation.

The above analysis does not give any information on the relative amount of Ohmic, viscous and AD dissipation contained within each structure. To answer this question, we show in figure 4.22 scatter plots of the ratio of total Ohmic dissipation to total dissipation  $\varepsilon_o/\varepsilon_t$  versus the ratio of total AD dissipation to total dissipation  $\varepsilon_a/\varepsilon_t$  in the two OT runs 12 and 14. In all AD cases there is a tendency for the structures to cluster close to the line of zero viscous dissipation (dashed line in figure 4.22). This shows that within the structures of high total dissipation span however the whole spectrum, in contrast to the impression given by our RGB slices (see figures 4.7 to 4.9): this could be a genuine difference between the extreme dissipation events and the bulk of the dissipation shown on the RGB figures, or the extraction algorithm of connected structures could merge nearby sheets with different dissipation natures. We checked on a pixel by pixel scatter plot similar to Figure 4.22 that it is indeed a genuine difference. For the strongest AD runs, though, the intense dissipation structures tend to be predominantly due to AD heating (top left corner in Figure 4.22).

## 4.7 Concluding remarks

We performed a 3D numerical study of the structures of high dissipation in MHD turbulence, with the inclusion of ambipolar diffusion. At the Reynolds numbers studied, the total dissipation due to viscosity, resistivity and AD are of comparable magnitude.

Kinetic and magnetic energy spectra show that ambipolar diffusion enhances the turbulent energy to



Figure 4.20: Comparison of scaling exponents with three-sigma error bars between pure MHD (red circles) and AD MHD (green squares  $Re_a = 100$  and blue triangles  $Re_a = 10$ ) - ABC Runs 9,11,13



Figure 4.21: Same as Figure 4.20 but for the OT Runs 10,12,14.



Figure 4.22: Scatter plots of the ratio  $\varepsilon_o/\varepsilon_t$  versus the ratio  $\varepsilon_a/\varepsilon_t$  for AD-OT runs 12 and 14.

small scales at the expense of intermediate scales. This agrees with the idea of Brandenburg and Zweibel [1994] that AD can sharpen the magnetic gradients, but the effect is not strong enough to increase the total Ohmic dissipation rate in our simulations. Previous authors Li et al. [2008] and Oishi and Mac Low [2006b] have examined the case of driven two-fluids compressible turbulence with a mean magnetic field and they find different results: Oishi and Mac Low [2006b] find no effect on the slope of the spectrum (for  $Re_a = 2.5$  and  $Re_a = 5$ ) while Li et al. [2008] find that AD steepens it, although they don't display the results for their runs with  $Re_a = 12$  and  $Re_a = 120$ , the only ones which have  $\ell_a$  in the computed range of scales as in our study. It should be noted that both these papers neglect Ohmic diffusion, and rely on truncation errors only to reconnect the field: the present work is the first to account for AD in the presence of controlled Ohmic and viscous dissipation. This is important because the dissipation physics can be quite different from the numerical dissipation as was demonstrated by Fromang and Papaloizou [2007], Fromang et al. [2007] in magneto-rotational turbulence.

As in Oishi and Mac Low [2006b], we fail to detect a significant change of regime in the spectra at the expected AD length scale  $\ell_a$ , but in our simulations it happens at a greater length scale. This length scale  $\ell_a$  is predicted from the balance between the moduli of the Fourier coefficients for the inertial e.m.f. and the AD e.m.f.. We would underestimate  $\ell_a$  if AD was more coherent in time than the advection of the field, and so we conjecture that AD terms have a greater coherence time than the inertial terms.

In our simulations, we observe that AD shuts off the Lorentz force at small scales: this shifts the peak of the AD heating power spectrum to larger scales. The position of that peak defines a scale which seems to match the characteristic thickness of the sheets where AD heating is strong. This scale  $\ell_a^*$  might be revealed by the characteristic chemistry of AD heating where neutral-ion endothermic reactions are favored (e.g.: CH<sup>+</sup> or SH<sup>+</sup> formation, see Godard et al., 2009). Table 4.3 sums up the characteristics of various environments of the ISM. We identify the integral length scale and the r.m.s. velocity in our simulations to their corresponding physical values in each considered ISM components to apply our results. Although we find that  $Re_a^{-1}$  in the ISM varies from  $10^{-3}$  to  $10^{-2}$ , we use  $\ell_a^* = 0.6$  as measured in our AD simulations with  $Re_a^{-1} = 0.01$  to estimate the scale  $l_0 \ell_a^*$  of the AD diffusion heating. The AD dissipation heating is always about a fourth of the typical scale whereas  $l_0.\ell_a$  can be much smaller.

The qualitative picture of the dissipation field suggests that it is dominated by intermittent sheet-like structures which alternate with large voids of low dissipation. The sheets of various dissipative nature (Ohmic, viscous or AD) appear to be clearly separated, except for the highest dissipation rates, where viscosity fades out and Ohmic and AD heating blend. AD heating sheets are often seen to sandwich much thinner regions of strong Ohmic or viscous dissipation, as in the simple case studied by Brandenburg and Zweibel [1994]. The high degree of intermittency is confirmed by the computation of the structure function exponents for the velocity and the magnetic field, as well as by the pdf of the total dissipation, which exhibits a log-normal core and a strong power-law tail for high values of the dissipation. We compared the statistics

		CNM	molecular clouds	low-mass dense cores
Density	$n_{ m H}({ m cm^{-3}})$	30	200	$10^{4}$
Length scale	$L.l_0$ (pc)	10	3	0.1
r.m.s. velocity	$U.u_0/\sqrt{3} \ (\rm km/s)$	3.5	1	0.1
Alfvén velocity	$U_a = u_0 / \sqrt{3} \; (\mathrm{km/s})$	3.4	2	1
AD Reynolds number	$Re_a^{-1} = 1/\gamma \rho_i/(t_0)$	$1.2 \ 10^{-2}$	$3.6 \ 10^{-3}$	$1.1 \ 10^{-3}$
AD heating length	$\ell_a^*.l_0~(\mathrm{pc})$	2.4	0.72	0.024
AD dynamical length	$\ell_a . l_0 = 2\pi l_0 R e_a^{-1} . U_a^2 / U^2 $ (pc)	0.28	0.10	0.026

Table 4.3: Characteristics of various components of the ISM. Dimensions are recovered from our simulations by assuming  $L \simeq 2.5$ ,  $\ell_a^* \simeq 0.6$  and  $u_0 \simeq \sqrt{3} U_a$  where  $U_a$  is the line-of-sight r.m.s. Alfvén velocity. The quantity  $\gamma \rho_i$  is computed by assuming the ions are essentially C<sup>+</sup> ions with a number density  $n_i = 10^{-4} n_{\rm H}$ .

of the structures of strong dissipation with those of UR10 and we obtain only marginal agreement, probably because of the systematics linked with the definition of the inertial and dissipative ranges. The statistical analysis of structures of high total dissipation reveals the highly intermittent nature of the dissipation field, as more than 30% of the dissipation takes place in less than 3% of the volume. No significant difference in the scaling laws between pure MHD and AD MHD was found, but the slope of the power-law pdfs is affected in the dissipative range, with a statistical preference towards more fragmented structures.

In future work, we intend to make progress towards a more realistic picture of the ISM, relaxing the incompressible hypothesis, with the final aim of including realistic cooling. We also hope our statistical results will provide new ways to approach the observed characteristics of the ISM, intermediate between direct post-processing of 3D numerical simulations and the building of line of sights with elementary models such as shocks or vortices [Godard et al., 2009].

## Chapter 5

# Energy dissipation in compressible turbulence

Turbulent flows in diffuse clouds are characterized by a wide range of sonic Mach numbers, from 0.1 to 10 or even more [Elmegreen and Scalo, 2004]. This means that at least for some regions of diffuse clouds, models based on the incompressible equations of motion are insufficient and one should use compressible models instead. In this chapter, we investigate the properties of homogeneous and isotropic compressible magnetohydrodynamic turbulence as a model of flow inside a diffuse cloud.

### 5.1 Introduction

In a compressible flow, the sonic Mach number is defined as

$$M_s = \frac{u_0}{c_s} \tag{5.1}$$

where  $u_0$  is a characteristic velocity scale, for example the root mean square velocity, and  $c_s$  is the speed of sound. This number expresses the relative importance of compressibility effects. As mentioned above, the root mean square sonic Mach number of the flow in the ISM can be anywhere from 0.1 to 10 or even more [Elmegreen and Scalo, 2004]. In a weakly compressible flow, the relative density perturbation grows as the square of the sonic Mach number [Landau and Lifshitz, 1987]:

$$\frac{\Delta\rho}{\rho} \propto M_s^2. \tag{5.2}$$

As a consequence, flows with a sonic Mach number  $M_s \simeq 0.1$  can be regarded as practically incompressible, as the relative density variations  $\Delta \rho / \rho$  are of the order or 1%. Thus, some regions of the diffuse interstellar medium are governed by incompressible dynamics. However, incompressible models are certainly insufficient for flows with  $M_s \simeq 0.5$  and above, because relative density variations can be as high as 25%, and compressible models should be used in this case.

The Alfvénic Mach number which is defined as

$$M_a = \frac{u_0}{v_a}, \qquad v_a = \frac{|\mathbf{B}_0|}{\sqrt{4\pi\rho}} \tag{5.3}$$

where  $v_a$  is the Alfvén velocity, describes the relative importance of the magnetic field. Here,  $\mathbf{B}_0$  can be taken as either the global mean field (if present), or a local average field. The relative importance of the magnetic field can be also characterized by the beta parameter, defined as

$$\beta = \frac{p}{E_M} \tag{5.4}$$

where p is the thermal pressure and  $E_M$  the magnetic energy density. Due to the approximate equipartition between kinetic and magnetic energy, the Alfvénic Mach number  $M_a$  and the  $\beta$  parameter are of order unity in the diffuse interstellar medium.

There have been many numerical studies of compressible turbulence in the literature, but the overwhelming majority do not explicitly consider physical viscosity and resistivity but instead rely on numerical dissipation. Studies of forced isosthermal MHD turbulence include [Vestuto et al., 2003], [Kritsuk et al., 2009] and [Federrath et al., 2010b]. Kritsuk et al. [2011] performed a detailed study of decaying compressible MHD in the context of comparison of different numerical codes, while Hennebelle and Audit [2007] performed a study of two-phase compressible MHD turbulence in the context of the dynamics of the cold neutral medium (CNM). Studies of compressible ambipolar diffusion magnetohydrodynamics using the two-fluid model under the heavy-ion approximation include [Oishi and Mac Low, 2006a, Li et al., 2006, McKee et al., 2010] and [Li et al., 2012]. Federrath et al. [2014] performed a study of magnetic Prandtl number dependence of the compressible turbulent dynamo by explicitly taking into account physical viscosity and resistivity.

In our simulations, we chose two values of the rms sonic Mach number:  $M_s = 1$  and 4, while the Alfvénic Mach number is always unity (cf. table 5.1). These choices correspond to reasonable assumptions for trans/supersonic, trans-alfvénic flow in diffuse clouds (see table 4.3 for typical values of the ISM). Our computational resources allowed us to explore two different kinetic Reynolds numbers:  $Re = 6.2 \times 10^3$  and  $Re = 8.9 \times 10^3$ . The magnetic Prandtl number is set equal to unity so the magnetic Reynolds number  $Re_m$  is equal to the kinetic Reynolds numbers Re. We present here only the low resolution runs ( $Re = 6.2 \times 10^3$ , at 512<sup>3</sup> grid-based resolution) which are compared to the incompressible runs of the previous chapter with similar Reynolds numbers (at 256<sup>3</sup> spectral resolution).

The initial conditions of the compressible simulations, just as the incompressible simulations of chapter 4 were based on macroscopic fields derived from the ABC flow and the Orszang-Tang vortex, as defined by relations (4.6) or (4.8).

Id.	N	$M_s$	$M_a$	Initial condition	$\nu = \eta$	$Re = Re_m$
1	512	1	1	ABC	$1.0 \times 10^{-3}$	$6.2 \times 10^3$
2	512	1	1	OT	$1.0 \times 10^{-3}$	$6.2 \times 10^3$
3	512	4	1	ABC	$1.0 \times 10^{-3}$	$6.2 \times 10^3$
4	512	4	1	OT	$1.0 \times 10^{-3}$	$6.2 \times 10^3$
5	1020	1	1	ABC	$7.0 \times 10^{-4}$	$8.9 \times 10^3$
6	1020	1	1	OT	$7.0 \times 10^{-4}$	$8.9 \times 10^3$
7	1020	4	1	ABC	$7.0 \times 10^{-4}$	$8.9 \times 10^3$
8	1020	4	1	ОТ	$7.0 \times 10^{-4}$	$8.9 \times 10^{3}$

Table 5.1: Parameters of compressible numerical simulations. N: linear resolution.  $M_s$ : rms sonic Mach number.  $M_a$ : rms Alfvénic Mach number.  $\nu$ : viscosity coefficient (in units  $l_0 u_{r.m.s.}$  with  $L_{box} = 2\pi l_0$  and  $u_{r.m.s.}$  is the *initial* r.m.s. velocity).  $\eta$ : physical resistivity. Re: kinetic Reynolds number.  $Re_m$ : magnetic Reynolds number.

## 5.2 Physical dissipation in DUMSES

In the numerical scheme implemented in DUMSES, physical viscosity and resistivity are included with two half-steps giving the intermediate state vectors  $U_{i,j,k}^{n-1/2}$  and  $U_{i,j,k}^{n+1/2}$  around the inviscid, non-resistive Godunov step giving the state vector  $U_{i,j,k}^n$ . The diffusive fluxes  $F_{i,j,k}^d$  which are used for the computation of  $U_{i,j,k}^{n-1/2}$  and  $U_{i,j,k}^{n+1/2}$  are computed using centered differences.

The implementation of physical viscosity and resistivity has been validated by tests of the decay of Alfvén waves [Lesaffre and Balbus, 2007]. The minimum diffusion time-scale

$$\tau_d = \min\left(\frac{\Delta x^2}{\nu}, \frac{\Delta x^2}{\eta}\right) \tag{5.5}$$

where  $\Delta x$  is the distance between two grid points, is calculated and used in addition to the inviscid, non-resistive CFL relation to constrain the timestep. In all simulations a CFL number equal to 0.7 was used.

In our compressible simulations, the kinematic viscosity  $\nu = \mu/\rho$  is a fixed given quantity, which implies that the dynamic viscosity  $\mu$  varies in space and time. This choice is motivated by the fact that, in a shock, the width of the viscous layer is proportional to a viscous length given by  $\lambda_v = \nu/u = \mu/(\rho u)$  where u is the shock speed. For fixed  $\mu$ , this width can reach very low values in high density regions, and there is no a priori guarantee that our grid will be able to resolve it. Thus, with a fixed value of the kinematic viscosity  $\nu$  we impose a single length scale for viscous dissipation in shocks, and are therefore able to resolve it more uniformly. For the same reason, we set our Mach number  $M_s = 4$  simulations by decreasing the sound speed  $c_s$  at fixed initial r.m.s. velocity  $u_{\rm r.m.s.}$  rather than by increasing  $u_{\rm r.m.s.}$  at fixed  $c_s$ . In other words, we set simulations at higher Mach number while keeping the Reynolds number fixed.

Note that in the simulations with linear resolution N = 1020, we use a value of the viscosity which is almost equal to the value used for the N = 512 incompressible spectral simulations of chapter 4. This is because a spectral method is able to achieve a spatial resolution two times higher than the one achieved by a finite volume method using the same number of grid points [Gottlieb and Orszag, 1977].

## 5.3 Time evolution

In this section we discuss the time evolution of average quantities such as the mean dissipation rate. Our simulations are freely decaying and start from smooth initial conditions, so that variables that depend on the velocity and magnetic field derivatives have small values at the beginning, and are expected to increase as the turbulent structure of the field grows.



Figure 5.1: Time evolution of the ratio of kinetic to magnetic energy  $E_k/E_m$ . Time is in units of  $l_0/u_{r.m.s.}$ . Blue: OT initial condition  $M_s = 0$  (incompressible). Green: OT initial condition  $M_s = 1$ . Red: OT initial condition  $M_s = 4$ . Dashed lines: same colors for ABC initial condition.

Figure 5.1 presents the time evolution of the ratio of kinetic to magnetic energy  $E_k/E_m$  for ABC and OT initial conditions and three different Mach numbers: 0 (incompressible runs from the previous chapter), 1 and 4. Magnetic energy dominates over kinetic energy all along the time evolution, except in the case of the ABC  $M_s = 1$  and 4 runs, where kinetic energy dominates at early times, up to dissipation peak (see
figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2: Time evolution of total physical and numerical heating rates. Blue:  $M_s = 0$  (incompressible). Green:  $M_s = 1$ . Red:  $M_s = 4$ . Solid lines: total heating rate  $-\dot{E}_{tot}$  (see text). Dashed lines: physical heating rate  $\langle \varepsilon_{phys} \rangle$ . Diamonds: total heating rate  $\langle \varepsilon_{corr} \rangle$  as recovered by method 1 of the appendix (see text). Left: ABC initial condition. Right: OT initial condition.

Figure 5.2 presents the time evolution of total physical and numerical heating. The total energy density  $E_{\text{tot}}$  is computed from

$$E_{\rm tot} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \rho \mathbf{u}^2 \rangle + \frac{1}{8\pi} \langle \mathbf{B}^2 \rangle + \langle p \log \rho \rangle$$
(5.6)

at each snapshot of the simulation. We then compute its time derivative  $-\dot{E}_{tot}$  (solid lines) which provides the total actual irreversible heating rate during each interval between two snapshots. The physical heating rate  $\langle \varepsilon_{phys} \rangle$  (dashed lines) is computed from

$$\langle \varepsilon_{\rm phys} \rangle = \langle \varepsilon_v \rangle + \langle \varepsilon_o \rangle$$
 (5.7)

where  $\varepsilon_o$  and  $\varepsilon_v$  are the Ohmic and viscous heating rates (the viscous heating rate now includes the full compressible viscous tensor). The physical heating rate is indistinguishable from  $-\dot{E}_{tot}$  in the case  $M_s = 0$ (incompressible runs), which confirms that spectral methods are very performant at resolving the dissipation. But in the compressible runs, ( $M_s = 1$  and 4), the physical heating rate is less than half the actual energy loss. This is a sign that a lot of numerical dissipation due to the scheme is present. In order to study dissipation in these simulations, we hence need a means to estimate the dissipation produced by the scheme and we devise new methods to do so in the appendix. We denote  $\langle \varepsilon_{corr} \rangle$  the total energy dissipation rate as recovered energy from method 1 in the appendix. Figure 5.2 shows that this quantity slightly overestimates the total actual energy losses (the worst case is OT initial condition,  $M_s = 1$  where the overestimation is up to 40%). Figure 5.2 also illustrates that in runs with higher Mach number, the dissipation peak appears earlier. Finally, it is worth noting that the temporal peak of total dissipation is not far from the corresponding peak of physical dissipation, which we used to estimate the actual dissipation peak. The physical dissipation sometimes undergoes secondary local peaks, and we in fact settle on the last of these peaks to record our dissipation peak snapshot.

In figure 5.3 we plot the time evolution of the ratio of viscous to total physical dissipation rates  $\langle \varepsilon_v \rangle / (\langle \varepsilon_v \rangle + \langle \varepsilon_o \rangle)$ . In general, the ratio remains close to 1/2 throughout the time evolution, with an equal amount of viscous and Ohmic dissipation. There is a slight relative increase of viscous dissipation as the Mach number increases, but the difference is not very pronounced.

In the case where the dynamic viscosity  $\mu$  is constant, the mean viscous dissipation rate  $\varepsilon_v$  can be



Figure 5.3: Time evolution of the ratio of viscous to total physical dissipation rates  $\langle \varepsilon_v \rangle / (\langle \varepsilon_v \rangle + \langle \varepsilon_o \rangle)$ . Blue:  $M_s = 0$  (incompressible). Green:  $M_s = 1$ . Red:  $M_s = 4$ . Solid lines: OT initial conditions. Dashed lines: ABC initial conditions.

decomposed into a compressible and a vortical part [Kritsuk et al., 2007]

$$\langle \varepsilon_{vc}' \rangle = \frac{4}{3} \mu \langle (\nabla \cdot \mathbf{u})^2 \rangle,$$

$$\langle \varepsilon_{v\omega}' \rangle = \mu \langle \omega^2 \rangle.$$

$$(5.8)$$

Note that this decomposition is only valid for the mean viscous dissipation and not for the pointwise viscous dissipation. The decomposition is not strictly possible in the case where the kinematic viscosity  $\nu$  is constant, because there is an additional term proportional to  $\nabla \rho$ . However, we have found that this term is small and the analogous decomposition

$$\langle \varepsilon_{vc} \rangle = \frac{4}{3} \langle \nu \rho (\nabla \cdot \mathbf{u})^2 \rangle,$$

$$\langle \varepsilon_{v\omega} \rangle = \langle \nu \rho \boldsymbol{\omega}^2 \rangle.$$

$$(5.9)$$

serves as a proxy of the relative importance of the vortical and dilatational components of the mean viscous dissipation.

In figure 5.4 we present the time evolution of the ratio of dilatational to total viscous dissipation rates  $\langle \varepsilon_{vc} \rangle / (\langle \varepsilon_{vc} \rangle + \langle \varepsilon_{v\omega} \rangle)$ . The ratio peaks early (before the temporal peak of total physical dissipation rate) at 0.7, which may correspond to a transfer of energy from rotational to dilatational degrees of freedom (the initial conditions do not contain any energy in the dilatational modes). The ratio then decreases to 0.2 or even less, a value which is quite low. Again, this may correspond to a preferential decay of the dilatational modes. There also appears to be surprisingly little difference between the various Mach numbers and initial conditions. For most of the time evolution, the physical heating is dominated by the rotational component, not the dilatational one. In other words, the physical dissipation is dominated by the contribution from shearing sheets and not from shocks. However, we recall that a great deal of the dissipation in our simulations is due to the numerical scheme (more than half of the total, ie: more than twice the total viscous dissipation  $\langle \varepsilon_{vc} \rangle + \langle \varepsilon_{v\omega} \rangle$ ). If most of the numerical heating comes from shock contributions as in our tests from the appendix, then we should conclude on the contrary that shocks dominate the dissipation in our simulations...



Figure 5.4: Time evolution of the ratio of dilatational to total viscous dissipation rates (vortical plus dilatational)  $\langle \varepsilon_{vc} \rangle / (\langle \varepsilon_{vc} \rangle + \langle \varepsilon_{v\omega} \rangle)$ . Green:  $M_s = 1$ . Red:  $M_s = 4$ . Solid lines: OT initial conditions. Dashed lines: ABC initial conditions.

To summarize, our method for recovering energy losses from the scheme is currently unable to discriminate between vortical and dilatational losses. Similarly, it is unable to detect how much magnetic energy is degraded vs. how much kinetic energy is degraded. Hence more work needs to be done before we can safely assess which is the main actor of dissipation in the ISM: shearing sheets, current sheets or shocks ?

#### 5.4 The density field

In compressible simulations, the absence of the solenoidal constraint  $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{u} = 0$  allows the density field  $\rho(\mathbf{x})$  to vary in space and time. In this section, we investigate the spatial variation of the density field.

In figure 5.5, we present density cut color maps from runs 1-4. In the top row, which corresponds to a Mach number  $M_s = 1$ , the appearance of the density field is qualitatively similar to that of a passive scalar in incompressible hydrodynamic turbulence. In the bottom row, which corresponds to an increased Mach number  $M_s = 4$ , the density contrast is much greater and sharp density ridges strike out.

We define the column-density in the direction of observation z as:

$$N(x,y) = \frac{1}{L_{\text{box}}} \int_0^{L_{\text{box}}} \rho(x,y,z) \, dz.$$
 (5.10)

Note that since the average density  $\langle \rho \rangle$  is always equal to  $\langle \rho \rangle = 1$ , we similarly have  $\langle N \rangle = 1$ . The column density maps for runs 1-4 are shown in figure 5.6. In the top row which corresponds to a Mach number  $M_s = 1$  there is relatively less sheet-like structure in comparison to the bottom row which corresponds to a Mach number  $M_s = 4$ . In the bottom row, higher compression yields higher column-density contrasts and column-density peaks appear at the crossing between density ridges.

The pdfs of the density are presented in the left panel of figure 5.7. In the cases corresponding to  $M_s = 1$ , the pdfs can be adequately fitted by a log-normal distribution

$$\mathcal{P}(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma_s^2}} \exp\left[\frac{(s - \langle s \rangle)^2}{2\sigma_s^2}\right], \qquad s = \ln(\rho/\langle \rho \rangle)$$
(5.11)



Figure 5.5: Density cuts for runs 1-4. Top left: Run 1 ( $M_s = 1$ , ABC). Top right: Run 2 ( $M_s = 1$ , OT). Bottom left: Run 3 ( $M_s = 4$ , ABC). Bottom right: Run 4 ( $M_s = 4$ , OT).

where the standard deviation  $\sigma_s$  depends on the Mach number according to the relation

$$\sigma_s^2(M_s) = \ln(1 + b^2 M_s^2) \tag{5.12}$$

with b a free parameter. In the cases corresponding to  $M_s = 4$  the fit is much worse because the distribution is skewed towards lower densities. Federrath et al. [2010a] report values of b from 1 to 0.35 in forced compressible magnetohydrodynamic turbulence, depending on the nature of the forcing (solenoidal versus compressive). In our case of freely decaying turbulence, we find somewhat lower values of b, in the range 0.29 - 0.34 depending on the initial conditions.

In contrast with the pdfs of the density, the pdfs of the column density are close to a lognormal distribution even for the cases corresponding to  $M_s = 4$ . The integration process from densities to column-densities smears out the extreme values, and we naturally find much lower values for b, in the range 0.06 – 0.12 depending on the initial condition.

### 5.5 The dissipation field

Here, we investigate the spatial structure of the dissipation field qualitatively starting with the same method as that used in chapter 4 to produce figures 4.7-4.9, that is we only show the "bulk" of the dissipation: the bottom 10%, calculated based on the cumulative distribution function, is truncated to black, and the top 10% are saturated.

There is not much qualitative difference between figure 5.8 and figures 4.7-4.9 which correspond to the  $M_s = 0$  (incompressible) case. Dissipation is concentrated on thin, sheet like structures whose projections appear as filaments in figure 5.8. Ohmic and viscous dissipation appear colocated on the same structures, and as the Mach number is increased from  $M_s = 1$  in the top row to  $M_s = 4$  in the bottom row, the structures become fewer and scarcer and the black areas between them larger.



Figure 5.6: Column density (i.e. density field integrated over the whole cube) maps for runs 1-4. Top left: Run 1 ( $M_s = 1$ , ABC). Top right: Run 2 ( $M_s = 1$ , OT). Bottom left: Run 3 ( $M_s = 4$ , ABC). Bottom right: Run 4 ( $M_s = 4$ , OT).



Figure 5.7: Pdfs of the density and column density. Green: OT initial condition,  $M_s = 4$ . Red: ABC initial condition,  $M_s = 1$ . Cyan: ABC initial condition,  $M_s = 4$ . Left: Pdf of the density. Right: Pdf of the column density.



Figure 5.8: Dissipation color-maps for runs 1-4, integrated over 1/64th of the box. Red: Ohmic dissipation. Green: viscous dissipation. Top left: Run 1 ( $M_s = 1$ , ABC). Top right: Run 2 ( $M_s = 1$ , OT). Bottom left: Run 3 ( $M_s = 4$ , ABC). Bottom right: Run 4 ( $M_s = 4$ , OT).



Figure 5.9: Color map of Ohmic, viscous dilatational and viscous rotational dissipation integrated over 1/64th of the box. Red: Ohmic dissipation. Green: viscous rotational dissipation  $\varepsilon_{v\omega}$ . Blue: viscous dilatational dissipation  $\varepsilon_{vc}$ . Top left: Run 1 ( $M_s = 1$ , ABC). Top right: Run 2 ( $M_s = 1$ , OT). Bottom left: Run 3 ( $M_s = 4$ , ABC). Bottom right: Run 4 ( $M_s = 4$ , OT).



Figure 5.10: Color map of Ohmic, viscous and numerical dissipation. Red: Ohmic physical dissipation. Green: viscous physical dissipation  $\varepsilon_{vc}$ . Blue: viscous numerical dissipation  $\varepsilon_{v}^{\text{corr.}} + \varepsilon_{o}^{\text{corr.}} - (\varepsilon_{v} + \varepsilon_{o})$ . Top left: Run 1 ( $M_{s} = 1$ , ABC). Top right: Run 2 ( $M_{s} = 1$ , OT). Bottom left: Run 3 ( $M_{s} = 4$ , ABC). Bottom right: Run 4 ( $M_{s} = 4$ , OT).

Although the decomposition of the total physical dissipation in a compressive and a solenoidal part is strictly valid only in the case of global mean values and constant dynamic viscosity, the corresponding local quantities

$$\varepsilon_{vc}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{4}{3}\nu\rho(\nabla\cdot\mathbf{u})^2,$$
  

$$\varepsilon_{v\omega}(\mathbf{x}) = \nu\rho\omega^2$$
(5.13)

can serve as a useful proxy for the relative importance of dilatational and rotational effects in the dissipation. Indeed, we have observed that  $\varepsilon_{vc} + \varepsilon_{v\omega}$  was highly correlated to  $\varepsilon_v$  by looking at the two corresponding maps. In figure 5.9, Ohmic dissipation  $\eta \mathbf{J}^2$  is assigned to the red channel, viscous rotational dissipation  $\varepsilon_{v\omega}$  is assigned to the green channel and viscous dilatational dissipation  $\varepsilon_{vc}$  is assigned to the blue channel. Again, only the "bulk" of the dissipation is shown: the bottom 3% based on the cumulative distribution function is truncated to black and the top 3% is saturated.

Comparing with figure 5.8, we observe that the different types of dissipation are now less colocated on the same structures. The sheets of intense blue colour (strong dilatational viscous dissipation), whose integrations in thin slices appear as blue strokes in the color-maps of figure 5.9, are presumably correlated with the position of shock waves.



Figure 5.11: Pdf  $\mathcal{P}(\log_{10} \varepsilon_{\text{corr.}})$  of the total dissipation. Blue:  $M_s = 0$  (incompressible). Green:  $M_s = 1$ . Red:  $M_s = 4$ . Left: ABC initial condition. Right: OT initial condition.

In figure 5.2, we observed that throughout the time evolution of the simulation, a significant amount of the total dissipation is due to numerical dissipation inherent to the numerical scheme. Here, we investigate the spatial distribution of numerical dissipation by applying method 1 of the appendix. In figure 5.10, Ohmic dissipation  $\eta \mathbf{J}^2$  is assigned to the red channel, viscous dissipation is assigned to the green channel and numerical dissipation  $\varepsilon_v^{\text{corr.}} + \varepsilon_o^{\text{corr.}} - (\varepsilon_v + \varepsilon_o)$  is assigned to the blue channel. The color truncation is the same as in figure 5.9 (top and bottom 3%). The dissipative structures still assume sheet-like shapes, as the incompressible case.

The pdfs of the total dissipation plotted in figure 5.11 show that there is a general tendency for the pdf to broaden with increasing Mach number. This means that there is a higher probability for both low and high values of the local dissipation. In particular, the tail at large dissipation rates is more pronounced as the Mach number is increased: the intermittency of the dissipation field is increased at higher Mach numbers. The actual picture is probably even more clear cut: although our method to recover energy losses from the scheme performs well to recover the spatially integrated irreversible heating, we note in the appendix that we smear out the highest dissipative structures. This means that very likely we underestimate the statistical weight of the highest dissipation rates and the compressible runs should have even shallower tails on the high dissipation side.

# Chapter 6

# Comparison with observations

In this chapter we present synthetic maps of diagnostic quantities that allow the comparison of numerical simulations with observational results, with emphasis on the dissipation field. In the context of incompressible ambipolar diffusion magnetohydrodynamics, we attempt to establish a link between structures of high dissipation and increments of projected diagnostic quantities which are accessible to observation. With the exception of subsection 6.4 (on intermittency exponents), all numerical results discussed in this section originate from a decaying simulation starting with an Orszag-Tang-based initial condition (simulation 8 in chapter 4). The Taylor microscale Reynolds number is  $Re_{\lambda} = 750$ , the magnetic Prandtl number is equal to unity and the ambipolar diffusion Reynolds number  $Re_{AD} = 100$ .

#### 6.1 Introduction

In numerical simulations, one has access to all flow variables in any space-time point. In astrophysical observations, the projections severely hamper the quantitative information extracted from the observables. First, all the observables are obtained in one direction in the sky (x, y). Therefore any observed quantity is indeed a line-of-sight (LoS) integration of the corresponding variable.

The gas velocity is measured using the Doppler effect of spectral lines of known rest frequency emitted by the gas, and the Doppler shift is a direct measure of the gas velocity projected on the LoS. The integration of the line emission across the medium that has some velocity dispersion  $\sigma$  provides a line profile T(v) of half-power width  $\Delta v = 2\sqrt{\ln 2\sigma}$ , neglecting radiative transfer. T(v) traces the emission of all gas cells along the LoS which have a given LoS-projected velocity  $u_z = v$ . Any spectral line observed with high enough spectral resolution can be characterized by its moments in velocity space. In the following, we use the line centroid (or first moment) defined as

$$CV(x,y) = \frac{\int vT(v) \, dv}{\int T(v) \, dv}$$
(6.1)

Given these projection constraints, one important observational diagnostic of the local structure of the interstellar velocity field is the *centroid velocity increment* (CVI), which is defined in terms of the centroid velocity CV. Below, we investigate the extent to which this quantity can be taken as a surrogate to viscous dissipation. In a numerical context the (synthetic) centroid velocity is defined as the integral of a velocity component along the corresponding line of sight:

$$CV(x,y) = \frac{1}{L_d} \int_0^{L_d} u_z(x,y,z) \, dz$$
(6.2)

where  $L_d$  is an integration depth along the z direction. Then, the centroid velocity increment is defined, for each point on the plane of the sky  $\mathbf{x} = (x, y)$ , as the average difference between its value on  $\mathbf{x}$  and the values on a circle  $C_l$  of radius l centered at  $\mathbf{x}$ :

$$CVI(\mathbf{x}, l) = \langle |CV(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - CV(\mathbf{x})| \rangle_{C_l}, \qquad |\mathbf{r}| = l$$
(6.3)

with the lag l expressed in pixels or resolution elements.

In the following, the centroid velocity increment is computed by weighting the cells by the local dissipation rate in the integral along the line of sight. This is for the following reason. The lines that have been used to build the statistics of the CVI are <sup>12</sup>CO lines in diffuse molecular gas. In this gas component, the production of CO is likely to be dominated by non-equilibrium chemistry triggered by turbulent dissipation in intense velocity-shears and vortices as in Godard et al. [2014], or in low-velocity shocks [Lesaffre et al., 2013] because the large observed abundances and isotopic ratios cannot be understood in the framework of UV-driven chemistry [Hily-Blant et al., 2007, 2008b]. We therefore anticipate that this molecular species in that medium be a good tracer of the regions of intense turbulent dissipation. We have compared the results obtained with different weightings or no weighting, and the results are only slightly different. The energy-dissipation averaged centroid velocity increments are defined as:

$$CV_{\varepsilon}(x,y) = \frac{1}{L_d \varepsilon_{LoS}(x,y)} \int_0^{L_d} \varepsilon(x,y,z) \ u_z(x,y,z) \ dz$$
  
and 
$$CVI_{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{x},l) = \langle |CV_{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{x}+\mathbf{r}) - CV_{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{x})| \rangle_{C_l} \qquad |\mathbf{r}| = l$$
  
(6.4)

where  $\varepsilon_{\text{LoS}}(x, y)$  is the LoS integrated energy dissipation rate:

$$\varepsilon_{\rm LoS}(x,y) = \frac{1}{L_d} \int_0^{L_d} \varepsilon(x,y,z) \, dz \tag{6.5}$$

The above weighted quantities are expected to correspond better to the quantities which are actually observed in emission.

The magnetic field (intensity and orientation) can be measured by different techniques depending on the ISM phase studied. A comprehensive review of all the methods is given in Crutcher [2012]. In the following, we discuss one observable: the polarization angle of the thermal dust emission. It is a tracer of the orientation of the magnetic field projected on the plane-of-the-sky (PoS) in the cold ISM. The dust thermal emission is linearly polarized because dust grains are elongated. They spin at supra-thermal velocities about an axis perpendicular to their long-axis, and have their angular momentum precessing about the local magnetic field. They eventually get their angular momentum aligned with the field. As a result, the dust thermal emission is polarized along a direction perpendicular to the local magnetic field. The alignment mechanisms are still debated, but the most efficient is due to radiative torques exerted on dust grains by stellar photons ([Hoang and Lazarian, 2008], see the review of Andersson [2015]).

The observables are the three Stokes parameters I, Q and U where I is the intensity of the dust thermal emission and Q and U involve the positional angles of the magnetic field with respect to the plane of sky. In a numerical simulation, in order to obtain information on the local structure of the magnetic field, one defines the local polarization angles  $\gamma$  and  $\phi$  as follows:

$$\gamma(x, y, z) = \tan^{-1}(B_z(x, y, z), B_x(x, y, z)^2 + B_y(x, y, z)^2)$$
  

$$\phi(x, y, z) = \tan^{-1}(B_y(x, y, z), B_x(x, y, z))$$
(6.6)

The quantities Q and U are then defined in terms of integrals of these angles along the line of sight:

$$Q(x,y) = \frac{1}{L_d} \int_0^{L_d} \cos(2\phi(x,y,z)) \cos^2(\gamma(x,y,z)) dz$$
  
and  $U(x,y) = \frac{1}{L_d} \int_0^{L_d} \sin(2\phi(x,y,z)) \cos^2(\gamma(x,y,z)) dz.$  (6.7)

Finally, the integrated polarisation angle  $\psi$  is defined as:

$$\psi(x,y) = \frac{1}{2} \tan^{-1}(U,Q).$$
(6.8)

The increments of the polarization quantities are defined in a similar way as for the centroid velocity

$$\delta \mathbf{Q}^{2}(\mathbf{x}, l) = \langle |\mathbf{Q}(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - \mathbf{Q}(\mathbf{x})|^{2} \rangle_{C_{l}},$$
  

$$\delta \mathbf{U}^{2}(\mathbf{x}, l) = \langle |\mathbf{U}(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - \mathbf{U}(\mathbf{x})|^{2} \rangle_{C_{l}}$$
and 
$$\delta \psi^{2}(\mathbf{x}, l) = \langle |\psi(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) - \psi(\mathbf{x})|^{2} \rangle_{C_{l}}.$$
(6.9)

All the above increments are expected to show increased values in regions where the original LoS integrated variables exhibit strong gradients, such as vortices and current sheets, especially for small lags. Figure 6.1 shows an example of an observational CVI map in the Polaris flare computed in a map of CO(J=2-1) emission. Figure 6.2 displays the polarization angle dispersion function S (here noted  $\delta \psi$ ) as measured by the *Planck* satellite over a large portion of the sky.



Figure 6.1: CVIs based on the  ${}^{12}$ CO(J = 2 - 1) line observed in the Polaris Flare. *Left:* Normalized pdfs measured over variable lags expressed in units of 15" (upper right corner of each panel). Dashed red lines are Gaussian pdfs of same dispersion (given in km.s<sup>-1</sup> at the bottom of each panel). *Right:* Spatial distribution of the azimuthally averaged CVI for a lag  $l = 4 \times 15$ ". The color scale gives the values of the velocity increments in km.s<sup>-1</sup>. The largest values (blue lanes) of CVI are associated to the tails of its pdf. From Hily-Blant et al. [2008a].

## 6.2 Qualitative link with structures of high dissipation

The increments of the diagnostic quantities introduced above are expected to reach high values in regions where there are rapid variations of the LoS integrated velocity and the magnetic field orientations. If a structure of high dissipation is present in a part of the computational box, the strong gradients at its edges could be detected by high values of the increments of the diagnostic quantities if not erased but the LoS integration. In this section we present a qualitative link between structures of high dissipation and increments of projected diagnostic quantities.

In figures 6.3 to 6.5, integrated dissipation field and increment maps of the diagnostic quantities  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}, \delta Q$ and  $\delta \psi$  are displayed for a lag l = 3 pixels and integration depths of 1/64th, 1/8th and the whole box size. In the dissipation color-map, we use the same display mode as in chapter 4: only the bulk of the dissipation is shown: the top and bottom 10% of extreme values, based on the cumulative distribution function of the total dissipation are truncated. Increment maps present worm-like structure which, at least qualitatively, appears to be correlated to the integrated dissipation.

Figure 6.6 shows color maps of the integrated dissipation field overlaid with contours of the diagnostics  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}, \delta\psi, \delta U$  and  $\delta Q$ , for a lag l = 3. The contours of the diagnostics closely follow the integrated structures of high dissipation. We also note that the velocity and magnetic field diagnostics rarely coincide spatially



Figure 6.2: Map of the polarization angle dispersion function S at 353 GHz with 1 deg resolution and for lag  $\delta = 30'$ . The map is shown in  $\log_{10}$  scale over the range 0.1 deg < S < 70 deg. Only sky regions where the S/N on S is larger than 3 are shown (see Planck Collaboration Int. XIX, 2015, in press, A & A)

but they seem to be complementary in the sense that they trace different parts of the same structures of enhanced dissipation. Still, not all structures of high dissipation are captured. This is because of projection effects which cause some variations of velocity or magnetic field components to remain undetected. The CVI diagnostic traces only the sharp variations of  $v_z$  in the plane of the sky, and is unable to capture any variation of the other velocity components nor variations along the line of sight. Similarly, the  $\delta \psi$  diagnostic captures variations of the orientation of the projection of the magnetic field in the plane of the sky.  $\delta U$ ,  $\delta Q$ and  $\delta \psi$  all trace variations of the orientation of the magnetic field, but with different nuances as explicit in equations (6.7) to (6.9).

In a qualitative sense, the correlation of the contours with the integrated dissipation is better for smaller integration depths. Integration over larger volumes blurs out the correlation, although not entirely. The subset of the dissipation field that is traced by the increment diagnostics is smaller and smaller as the depth of the integration increases. Qualitatively also, the contours of the diagnostics for the different integration depths are clearly more coherent spatially at small depth than at larger depths.

Even though the structures in the contours of  $\delta \psi$  at large integration depth do not always correspond to projected structures of high dissipation, they still testify for coherent structures in the dissipation field. Indeed, it is shown below that if the phases of the velocity and the magnetic field are mixed randomly, the contours of  $\delta \psi$  and CVI lose most of their spatial coherence.

### 6.3 Quantitative link with structures of high dissipation

In this section we attempt a quantitative analysis of the correspondence between structures of high dissipation and increments of projected diagnostic quantities. One can introduce a quantitative criterion of how well a given diagnostic captures the dissipation by defining its efficiency as the ratio of the surface-averaged integrated dissipation contained within a given contour C of the diagnostic to the volume-averaged dissipation over the whole plane of sky P:

$$E_{\rm eff} = \frac{\langle \varepsilon_{\rm LoS} \rangle_C}{\langle \varepsilon_{\rm LoS} \rangle_P} \tag{6.10}$$



Figure 6.3: For an integration depth of 1/64th of the box. Top left: Dissipation field. Red: Ohmic dissipation. Green: viscous dissipation. Blue: ambipolar diffusion dissipation. Top right:  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$ . Bottom left:  $\delta Q$ . Bottom right:  $\delta \psi$ .



Figure 6.4: For an integration depth of 1/8th of the box. Top left: Dissipation field. Red: Ohmic dissipation. Green: viscous dissipation. Blue: ambipolar diffusion dissipation. Top right:  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$ . Bottom left:  $\delta Q$ . Bottom right:  $\delta \psi$ .



Figure 6.5: For an integration depth over the whole box. Top left: Dissipation field. Red: Ohmic dissipation. Green: viscous dissipation. Blue: ambipolar diffusion dissipation. Top right:  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$ . Bottom left:  $\delta Q$ . Bottom right:  $\delta \psi$ .





 $-\pi$  0

 $_{\pi}$  Diss. & Increments ad512-ot Lbox/8



Figure 6.6: Color maps of the dissipation field (Red: Ohmic, Green: viscous, Blue: ambipolar) overlaid with contours of the diagnostics  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$  (white),  $\delta\psi$  (blue),  $\delta U$  (red),  $\delta Q$  (green), for a lag l = 3 pxiels. Top left: Projection over 1/64th of the box. Top right: Projection over 1/8th of the box. Bottom left : Projection over the whole box.

If the diagnostic captures the integrated dissipation efficiently,  $E_{\text{eff}}$  is greater than unity, whereas for a randomly placed contour with no correlation with the integrated dissipation it is close to unity. If the contour C avoids the regions of high dissipation,  $E_{\text{eff}}$  is less than unity.

In the following, increment maps are normalized by their maximum value and contours are labeled by their level. Thus, contour level 0.5 is the contour at half the maximum value of the increment on the whole increment map. For a level close to one, the contour focuses on the strongest increment structure in the box: the efficiency is zero if the structure is off-center or very large if it corresponds to an actual structure of high dissipation. For a level close to zero, the contour encompasses almost the whole box and the efficiency is one.



Figure 6.7: Efficiency of  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$  as a function of the contour level. Red line: projection over the whole box. Green dotted line: projection over 1/8th of the box. Blue dashed line: projection oven 1/64th of the box.

In figure 6.7, the efficiency as a function of the contour level is increasing for the lowest levels, becomes staggered due to the low statistics of the highest contour levels. At large values of the contour level, only the most intense structures remain. If the peaks of these structures are located at an (x, y) position with a high value of integrated dissipation, a high efficiency is obtained. If the structures are slightly off the projected structures of high dissipation, the efficiency obtained is low. Hence we consider only contour levels  $\leq 0.5$ .



Figure 6.8: Efficiency of  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$  as a function of the lag l, for a contour level of 0.5. Red line: projection over the whole box. Green dotted line: projection over 1/8th of the box. Blue dashed line: projection over 1/64th of the box.



Figure 6.9: Efficiency of  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$  for different types of dissipation and a lag l = 1. Left: Projection over 1/64th of the box. Right: Projection over the whole box. Blue line: total dissipation. Green dotted line: viscous dissipation. Red dashed line: Ohmic dissipation. Green dash-dotted line: ambipolar diffusion dissipation.

Figure 6.8 shows that, as expected,  $E_{\text{eff}}$  peaks at small lags and for a small integration depth. At larger depths, the diagnostic power is blurred by the projection effects.

The efficiency depends on the nature of the dissipation. For instance, figure 6.9 illustrates the efficiency of  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$  at tracing various types of dissipation. As expected, it best traces viscous dissipation for small integration depths. For large integration depths it is a weak and unselective tracer of dissipation. Similarly (not shown)  $\delta Q$ ,  $\delta U$  and  $\delta \psi$  are good tracers of Ohmic dissipation at small integration depths. At large depths,  $\delta U$  and  $\delta Q$  become as weak and unselective tracers as  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$ . However,  $\delta \psi$  at large depths has an efficiency of one (i.e.: it is not efficient at detecting dissipation) for all types of dissipations.

Efficiency for a given nature of dissipation can also depend on the tracer. In figure 6.10, we examine the efficiency of our four diagnostics to trace the integrated Ohmic dissipation for two projection depths. As expected, for small integration depths,  $\delta Q$ ,  $\delta U$  and  $\delta \psi$  are significantly better tracers than  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$ . At large integration depths,  $\delta Q$ ,  $\delta U$  become comparable to  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$  and as mentioned above  $\delta \psi$  is inefficient. For viscous dissipation, the quantity  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$  is the best diagnostic and for A.D. dissipation, there is no good diagnostic amongst those we have studied (not shown here).

#### 6.4 Intermittency exponents: importance of initial conditions

One classical signature of the intermittent structure of a field is the presence of non-Gaussian, often exponential, wings in the pdf of its increments. Figure 6.11 presents the pdfs of the variables  $\delta\psi$ ,  $\delta Q$ ,  $\delta U$  and CVI for various lags l, integrated over the whole box. As commonly found for increments of intermittent fields, the pdfs are Gaussian at large lags and develop fat wings at small lags. In other words, extreme events at small scale are not so rare.

In this section we discuss the intermittency exponents of the structure functions of the projected diagnostic quantities. These exponents provide a means to quantify the spatial intermittency properties of the various projected fields.

The structure function of a projected diagnostic quantity, for example the polarization angle  $\psi$ , is defined as the moment of the increment with respect to the corresponding probability distribution

$$S_p^{\psi}(l) = \langle \delta \psi^p(\mathbf{x}, l) \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\delta \psi|^p \mathcal{P}_l(\delta \psi) \ d\delta \psi$$
(6.11)

where  $\mathcal{P}_l(\delta \psi)$  is the pdf of the increment  $\delta \psi$  for a specific lag l. The structure functions of the other quantities



Figure 6.10: Compared efficiency of different tracers of Ohmic dissipation for two integration depths. Left: Integration over 1/64th of the box. Right: Integration over the whole box. Blue line:  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$ . Green dotted line:  $\delta U$ . Red dashed line:  $\delta Q$ . Greed dash-dotted line:  $\delta \psi$ .

are defined similarly

$$S_{p}^{CV_{\varepsilon}}(l) = \langle |CVI_{\varepsilon}|^{p}(\mathbf{x}, l) \rangle,$$

$$S_{p}^{U}(l) = \langle |\delta U|^{p}(\mathbf{x}, l) \rangle,$$

$$S_{p}^{Q}(l) = \langle |\delta Q|^{p}(\mathbf{x}, l) \rangle$$
(6.12)

with an analogous definition for the weighted quantities. In practice, the pdfs  $\mathcal{P}_l(\delta X)$  for a variable X are computed as pdfs of signed values of all the increments with lags between l and l+1 pixels.

Figure 6.11 shows the pdfs of  $\mathcal{P}_l(\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon})$ ,  $\mathcal{P}_l(\delta U)$ ,  $\mathcal{P}_l(\delta Q)$  and  $\mathcal{P}_l(\delta \psi)$  integrated over the whole box for various lags l. As the lag l is decreased, the tails of the pdfs become more pronounced. This is identified as a signature of small-scale intermittency, because pronounced pdf tails are associated with an increased probability of extreme events. For large lags, the pdfs become increasingly Gaussian, with the exception of  $\mathcal{P}_l(\delta \psi)$  which becomes uniform (polarisation angles are independent from each other at large distances).

One way to quantify the intermittency properties of the above pdfs is to measure their moments of order p, which are none other than the structure functions introduced above. Because high order moments sample the tails of the pdf preferentially, high order structure functions are expected to characterize the small scale intermittency present in the projected fields. In the inertial range, structure functions of a variable X are expected to scale as

$$S_p^X(l) \propto l^{\zeta_p^X} \tag{6.13}$$

where the exponent  $\zeta_p^X$  is in general a non-linear function of the order p (cf. section 2.5). These exponents can be measured as logarithmic slopes:

$$\zeta_p^X = \frac{d\log S_p^X(l)}{d\log l}.\tag{6.14}$$

In numerical simulations or experiments where the extent of the inertial range is limited, one can try to extend the range of scales where a power-law relation holds by applying the method of extended self-similarity (ESS) introduced by Benzi et al. [1993]. This method consists in measuring the relative exponent

$$\zeta_p^{X*} = \frac{d\log S_p^X(l)}{dS_*^X(l)} \tag{6.15}$$

where  $S_*^X(l)$  is a reference structure function. In our case, we have adopted  $S_*^X(l) = S_3^X(l)$ , inspired by the case of incompressible hydrodynamics, where this choice is supported by the 4/5-ths law (cf. chapter 4).



Figure 6.11: Pdfs of the increments (normalised by their standard deviation) of diagnostic quantities integrated over the whole box, for various lags l. For clarity, they are artificially shifted vertically (their maximum value is set to 1/l). Top left:  $\mathcal{P}_l(\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon})$ . Top right:  $\mathcal{P}_l(\delta U)$ . Bottom left:  $\mathcal{P}_l(\delta Q)$ . Bottom right:  $\mathcal{P}_l(\delta \psi)$ .

Figure 6.12 shows the structure functions  $S_p^{\text{CV}_{\varepsilon}}(l)$  computed using ESS, with  $S_3^{\text{CV}_{\varepsilon}}(l)$  taken as a reference structure function. The region of power-law dependence is significantly extended in comparison with the computation without ESS (shown in the left panel).



Figure 6.12: Structure functions  $S_p^{CV_{\varepsilon}}(l)$  as a function of lag (*left*), and computed using ESS, with  $S_3^{CV_{\varepsilon}}(l)$  taken as a reference structure function (*right*). Vertical lines in the left panel denote the extent of the intertial range in the simulation.

Using these results, we compute the structure function exponents as the average slope of these lines and estimate the error using standard linear regression.

Figure 6.13 presents the ESS intermittency exponents for all diagnostics and all our simulations (see chapters 4 and 5). It is customary to characterize the level of intermittency by the departure from the straight line p/3 (commonly referred to as K41). Both ABC and OT simulations span a large range of possible intermittency exponents between K41 and the generalised She-Lévêque model with g = 3 and C = 1, just as we previously found for the 3D intermittency exponents in the corresponding simulations. There is however no one to one correspondence between the 3D exponents and their projected counterparts. Nevertheless, several trends emerge. The intermittency curves almost never cross each other. All diagnostics display more intermittency for high A.D. Reynolds number ( $Re_{AD} = 100$ ) than for low A.D. Reynolds number ( $Re_{AD} = 10$ ). In all cases,  $CVI_{\varepsilon}$  displays more intermittency than CVI.  $\delta Q$  and  $\delta U$  always follow each other except in two cases (ABC for incompressible MHD, and OT at Mach 4). For the incompressible runs with OT initial conditions, CVI also follow  $\delta Q$  and  $\delta U$ , while for ABC initial conditions, there are strong differences in the values of the exponents. Higher Mach numbers naturally display more intermittency than lower Mach numbers. To summarise, these figures illustrate the high sensitivity of observable intermittency exponents to all parameters of the simulations, and in particular to the initial conditions.

The detailed comparison of these intermittency exponents to those observed by Hily-Blant et al. [2008b] is made even more difficult since both our computed diagnostics CVI and  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}$  are greatly simplified with respect to the actual line formation. The CO lines result from a combination of non-linear thermal and chemical processes at the sites of dissipation, followed by complex radiative transfer and excitation of the molecule, not to mention instrumental noise. Nevertheless, our computations confirm that the CVI as measured are indeed a signature of intermittency, but it is too early to use them to discriminate between models.

### 6.5 Importance of coherence

In this section we investigate whether the diagnostics quantities are faithful tracers of the coherence of the structures of high dissipation present in the flow. A structure of high dissipation is considered coherent if it is localized in space and survives for several eddy turnover times. Coherence implies correlations between



Figure 6.13: Intermittency exponents computed using ESS *Left*: OT incompressible runs. *Right*: ABC incompressible runs. *Bottom*: compressible runs (at  $512^3$  resolution). The black thin line is p/3, commonly referred to as K41. The diamonds correspond to the generalised She-Lévêque model with g = 3 and C = 1. The only exponents observed to date are those of Hily-Blant et al. (2008), displayed here as blue triangles. They happen to be very close to g = 3 and C = 2.

the phases of the Fourier coefficients of the velocity and magnetic fields, and it is also linked to intermittency [Frisch, 1995].

For the purpose of investigating the role of coherence, we introduce the weakly phase-mixed fields  $\mathbf{u}', \mathbf{b}'$ and the strongly phase-mixed fields  $\mathbf{u}'', \mathbf{b}''$ . The weakly phase-mixed fields are defined as

$$f'(\mathbf{k}) = f(\mathbf{k}) \exp\left[2\pi i\phi(\mathbf{k})\right] \tag{6.16}$$

Here, f represents the Fourier transform of any component of the velocity or the magnetic field and  $\phi(\mathbf{k})$  is a random phase of uniform distribution in  $[0, 2\pi]$  that depends on the wave-vector. In weak phase mixing, the random phase function  $\phi(\mathbf{k})$  is the same for all components of the velocity and the magnetic field. Strong phase mixing is defined similarly, but now the random phase function is different for each component. We have found that weak phase mixing is sufficient to remove coherence, and for this reason we only discuss weak phase mixing results in this subsection.

Figure 6.14 shows a color-map of the integrated dissipation field in the case of weak phase mixing. The dissipation field has clearly lost the sheet-like structure which appears in figures 6.6. The alignment of the vectors **b** and  $\mathbf{j} = \nabla \times \mathbf{b}$  is destroyed, and this results in enhanced ambipolar diffusion dissipation, which is proportional to  $(\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{b})^2$ . This is why AD dissipation dominates the two other dissipation processes in this case. We have found that the above features do not change with the integration depth. Similarly, the viscous and ohmic dissipation fields have lost their sheet-like structure (figures 6.15 and 6.16). Figure 6.17 shows a color-map of the weighted centroid velocity increment  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{x}, l)$  for a lag l = 3, integrated over the whole box. Weak phase mixing has removed all filamentary structure from the CVI, except for that present at very small scales, and has reduced its intensity considerably. In addition, correlation with any of the dissipation fields is completely lost. Figure 6.18 shows a color-map of the weighted increment  $\delta \psi(\mathbf{x}, l)$  for a lag l = 3, integrated over the whole box. There is still some worm-like structure visible, but the structures are much smaller, more disrupted and all correlation to the integrated dissipation fields is lost.

The pdfs of the weighted centroid velocity increments (figure 6.19) still show exponential wings at small lags, but these wings are much steeper/narrower that those corresponding to the unmixed field. This suggests that an important part of the intermittent structure of the velocity field is lost after the application of weak phase mixing.

This is further supported by figure 6.20, where we present intermittency exponents for all variables in the case of weak phase mixing. Weak phase mixing is sufficient to remove all structure from the fields and bring the exponents very close to K41 values, which correspond to a non-intermittent field.

The above results indicate that the long worm-like structures observed in the diagnostics maps are the signature of coherent structures of high dissipation. In addition, the weakening of the tails of the pdfs of the centroid velocity increments after phase mixing implies that these structures are linked to intermittency. Thus, fields with a power-law energy spectrum and random phases, of which fractionated Brownian motion is an example, are not a good representation of the structures of high dissipation.





Figure 6.14: Color-map of the energy dissipation field in the case of weak phase mixing. Red: Ohmic dissipation. Green: viscous dissipation. Blue: ambipolar diffusion dissipation. A.D. dissipation dominates the rest (see text).



Figure 6.16: Color-map of the ohmic dissipation field.



Figure 6.18: Color-map of the weighted increment  $\delta \psi(\mathbf{x}, l)$  for a lag l = 3, projected over the whole box



Figure 6.15: Color-map of the viscous dissipation field.



Figure 6.17: Color-map of the weighted centroid velocity increment  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{x}, l)$  for a lag l = 3, projected over the whole box



Figure 6.19: Pdf of the weighted centroid velocity increment  $\text{CVI}_{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{x}, l)$  projected over the whole box for various lags l.



Figure 6.20: Intermittency exponents for all variables in the case of weak phase mixing (dashed curves) and without phase mixing (full curves).

# **Conclusions and perspectives**

Turbulence in the interstellar medium is a complex, multi-scale, multi-physics phenomenon where a wide range of processes take place: chemistry, radiation, hydrodynamics, magnetic field... In the context of this thesis, we focused on the magnetohydrodynamics of the turbulent motion, neglecting additional phenomena such as chemistry and radiation. We hope that even while limiting our study to the hydrodynamic process of turbulent energy dissipation, we are still able to make valuable contributions to the study of the complex ISM life-cycle.

Turbulence is a most challenging theoretical problem of nonlinear statistical physics, and analytical difficulties due to the interplay of nonlinearity and stochasticity leave its theory in an incomplete state, with scarce exact results. Classical turbulence theory is not able to contribute much by itself in the study of turbulent energy dissipation in the ISM, but it leads up naturally to the formulation of the much more useful theory of intermittency. In the context of this theory, a wide range of models are able to predict local bursts in the dissipation and their impact on the statistical properties of the velocity and magnetic fields, such as structure function exponents. Even though they focus on the properties of the inertial range and not on the properties of the dissipative range, these models are able to contribute to the study of ISM chemistry. This is because quantities such as the mean time between two bursts of dissipation along a Lagrangian trajectory of a fluid parcel, which are very important for chemical models, are properties of the inertial range and can be described in terms of standard intermittency models.

In the future, we plan to use the statistical analysis of the dynamical and geometrical properties of the structures of high dissipation to construct synthetic dissipation fields or time series along a Lagrangian trajectory. These can then be used as input for chemical models of the ISM, that simulate a detailed chemical network but are unable to accurately model turbulence because of severe time-scale constraints. Another important prospect is the study of the properties of the structures of high dissipation as a function of the magnetic Prandtl number. This parameter study will allow us to investigate whether the approximate equality of different kinds of dissipation continues to hold if the viscosity is different from the resistivity. Let us note here that the ISM is characterized by a huge value of the magnetic Prandtl number, which brings forward serious theoretical and numerical challenges.

### Incompressible models

Incompressible numerical models based on spectral methods are able to capture the intermittency properties of the velocity and magnetic fields. They have the interesting property to introduce very little numerical dissipation in comparison to grid-based codes. In the future, we plan to release the code ANK online. We believe that making this spectral code available will be a valuable contribution to the community.

Ambipolar diffusion greatly reduces the magnitude of the Lorentz force at small scales: because of the increase of magnetic and kinetic energy at small scales, we conclude that this is due to an efficient alignment of the vectors  $\mathbf{j}$  and  $\mathbf{b}$ . This reduction shifts the peak of ambipolar diffusion heating at larger scales. The position of the peak is close to the thickness of the sheets of strong dissipation. This shift of the peak presumably sets the characteristic scale of the regions of molecule formation amplified by ambipolar diffusion heating, and its observational signature may be traced by molecular emission maps of specific species in diffuse gas:  $\text{HCO}^+, \text{CH}^+$  and  $\text{SH}^+$ .

Qualitatively, dissipation seems to be concentrated on quasi two-dimensional sheet-like structures. Quantitatively, the high degree of intermittency is confirmed by the presence of a power-law tail in the pdf of the dissipation. This fact brings forward the importance of extreme heating events which are crucial for molecule formation in the ISM. Accordingly with the qualitative results, structure function exponents can be adequately fitted by a log-normal model which assumes Kolmogorov scaling in the inertial range and dissipative structures of dimension two. This rules out Iroshnikov-Kraichnan scaling based on turbulent dynamics dominated by Alfvén wave interaction in favor of dynamics based on interactions between eddies of neighboring size and vortex stretching. It also sets the geometry of the regions heated by turbulent dissipation in the ISM: they are sheets of dimension two. These results open interesting possibilities for qualitative and quantitative comparisons of numerical maps to observational maps of molecular emission.

## Compressible models

Compressible numerical models based on Godunov methods are able to account for an additional, independent type of energy dissipation: energy dissipation in shocks. This leads to an increased dissipation of kinetic energy in comparison to magnetic energy. Indeed, in the majority of the simulations performed in the context of this thesis, magnetic energy was found to dominate over kinetic energy throughout the evolution.

In the future, we would like to investigate numerically a wider range of Mach numbers and initial conditions: rms sonic Mach numbers up to 10, or even more, are relevant to the ISM. As far as initial conditions are concerned, we would like to investigate the influence on the turbulent dynamics of the ratio of dilatational to rotational energy present in the initial velocity field. An important, although preliminary, finding is that only subsets of the regions of high dissipation follow the density peaks: dissipation takes place in areas of relatively low density.

For most of the evolution, the heating is dominated by the rotational component, and not the dilatational one. This hints to a reduced relative importance of shock waves. However, the relative contribution of numerical heating is large; we have made dedicated efforts to estimate the level of numerical dissipation and have found that it can be locally as high as the physical heating. We plan to use the methods presented in the appendix to compute the ratio of physical (i.e. corrected for numerical dissipation) viscous dilatational heating to viscous rotational heating. This should provide a much more reliable diagnostic for the relative importance of shock waves, and compressibility effects in general, in comparison with the vortical dynamics.

Another prospect is the use of the first method described in the appendix in the following way: after extracting ridges of high viscous dissipation from a simulation data cube, we could fit models of isothermal shocks in order to better evaluate the shock contribution to the total dissipation. We have to note here that in general, efficient and accurate extraction of shocks as well as shock fitting in a three-dimensional context presents serious algorithmic challenges. This line of work will address the important question: what fraction of total dissipation is due to shocks?

#### Comparison to observations

In chapter 6, we attempted a comparison of numerical results with observations using increments as diagnostics of various projected quantities, namely the increments of the centroid velocity, polarization direction and the Stokes parameters. We focused here on using results from incompressible simulations in this observational context. In the future, we would like to use more results from compressible simulations in our comparisons to observations, in order to investigate the importance of compressibility effects.

The contours of the diagnostic quantities were found to follow the structures in dissipation field integrated along the line of sight. However, because of projection effects, not all structures of high dissipation are captured by the diagnostic quantities. In general, the correlation is better for smaller integration lengths. This correlation is of particular importance to observers, because it provides evidence for a link between contours of observed diagnostic quantities and regions of elevated heating due to turbulent dissipation in the ISM.

The pdfs of the increments of the diagnostic quantities exhibit growing exponential tails at small scales, a signature of small-scale intermittency. At larger scales, the pdfs become increasingly Gaussian. Intermittency in the pdfs is reflected on the dependence of the structure function exponents on their order. These facts open up interesting possibilities for comparison between simulations and observations, where the same properties

have been found. As an example of an interesting prospect, we mention the possibility of comparison with statistics of magnetic field diagnostics Q and U originating from observations of the Planck satellite.

As a future observational direction, we plan to use data cubes from our simulations to produce synthetic molecular spectra by simulation of the relevant radiative transfer processes. We can then compare these synthetic spectra to observational results. One important advantage here is that, contrary to most previous studies, we have access to the detailed spatial and velocity structure of the dissipation field which is crucial in the computation of radiative transfer in lines and in molecular line synthesis.

#### Coherent structures

The property of coherence is very important for the above results: indeed, if the Fourier phases of the velocity and magnetic fields are randomly mixed, the dissipation field, as well as the contours of the diagnostics, lose all of their structure and mutual correlation. This suggests that the worm-like structures in the projected maps are the signature of coherent structures of high dissipation, and these structures are indeed linked to intermittency. Fields with a power-law energy spectrum and random phases, which are candidates for providing input to chemical models, do not allow a good representation of the structures of high dissipation. Whether they are spatially coherent over a finite timescale that can be measured or spatially coherent as a propagating wave remains to be established.

As mentioned in Uritsky et al. [2010], the statistical analysis of the geometric and dynamical characteristics of high dissipation in the dissipative range admits an interpretation in terms of self-organized criticality, a fact which puts our study in a wider context. In this theory, a complex spatio-temporal phenomenon is interpreted in terms of *avalanches*; there is thus an incremental build-up of small-scale activity until the avalanche threshold is reached and a dissipative burst takes place.

In any case, our work shows, for the first time, that this level of spatio-temporal coherence corresponds well to that revealed by the statistical signatures of our kinematic and magnetic observables. It can be taken as a strong encouragement to further elaborate on the impact of these structures of intense dissipation on chemistry that proceeds swiftly, but also on reconnection of the magnetic field lines.

Our detailed knowledge of the geometry of the current sheets, which are identical to the structures of high Ohmic dissipation, opens up interesting possibilities for studies of magnetic reconnection. These studies could proceed by analyzing the topology of magnetic field lines in the vicinity of a current sheet. This investigation involves the challenge of extending our analysis of structures in the temporal domain, since magnetic reconnection is an inherently dynamical process.

# Appendix A

# Numerical dissipation in Godunov methods

We report here on the methods we used to recover the amount of numerical dissipation present in our compressible simulations.

In our compressible simulations, we have adopted twice the resolution of the incompressible ones (1020 vs 512), for the same dissipation coefficients (viscosity and resistivity). Indeed, there is a common belief that grid based methods need twice as many elements to obtain a resolving power equivalent to Fourier elements. This led us to run  $1020^3$  pixels simulations, which were about the most we could afford given our CPU time allowance.

In order to check whether our simulations are resolved with respect to dissipation, we run a 1D planar isothermal non-magnetized shock simulation with various resolutions. We adopt a viscosity  $\nu = 10^{-3}cL$  for a box length of unit L = 1, speed of sound c=1 and initial homogeneous left-directed inflow velocity u = 1 and homogeneous density  $\rho = 1$ . Boundary conditions are inflow on the right boundary and reflective wall on the left boundary. As the gas flows from right to left and hits the left boundary, a shock is produced at the wall and detaches from it as time proceeds. We look at the resulting shock at time t = 0.1L/c. In the shock frame, the resulting Mach number is about 1.61 for a  $\gamma = 5/3$  polytropic gas.

Shocks have a viscous spread on the order of  $\lambda_v = \nu / \max(c, |u|)$ . Our 3D simulation of decaying turbulence with  $1020^3$  pixels have box length  $L_{\text{box}} = 2\pi$  and viscosity  $\nu = 0.7 \times 10^{-3}$ : the corresponding resolution for the shock experiment is about n = 113 zones if we want the same number of zones in a viscous length  $\lambda_v$ . We hence run 1D shocks simulations where we vary the resolution in powers of two from n = 128 up to n = 2048. In each of these runs, we compare the physical viscous heating term  $\varepsilon_v = \nu \frac{4}{3}\rho(\partial_x u)^2$  to the actual solution (integrated numerically from the 1D steady-state equations).

Figure A.1 shows the irreversible heating in non-dimensional units at a close-up of the shock front. It demonstrates that the resolution convergence for the heating rate is very slow and fully obtained only for n = 2048 (see red, blue and green solid curves vs. solid black curve), which corresponds to about 20 zones in a viscous length  $\lambda_v$ . This would require a 18400<sup>3</sup> pixels box for the 3D turbulence simulation: way out of our capabilities. The situation closest to our 3D 1020<sup>3</sup> simulations is the red curve (n = 128): the viscous heating is largely underestimated and spread out.

Hence, we need to work a little bit if we want to use the results of our turbulence simulations to study dissipation. There are two sources of dissipation in our simulations: viscous (and Ohmic) dissipation due to the physical term we have introduced in Dumses, and numerical dissipation intrinsic to the scheme. The whole issue is to recover what amount of dissipation is produced by the scheme. We imagine here several methods to achieve this, in particular by considering variants of the energy conservation equation.

#### Method 0

We fit viscous isothermal shock models to the velocity and density profiles and we find a best fit value for the viscosity of  $\nu = 3.3 \times 10^{-3} cL$ . Then, we compute the viscous heating in the best fit shock model (black



Figure A.1:

dashed line on figure A.1). This method is impractical for any other dissipative structure than a planar shock, but in the present case it allows us to benchmark the other methods. In particular, the integral under both black lines is the same and is determined solely by the entrance conditions of the shock: the total irreversible heating through an isothermal shock does not depend on the value of  $\nu$ . We would like our method to at least recover this integral, if not the exact width of the shock.

#### Method 1

Consider the evolution equation of kinetic and magnetic energy:

 $\partial_t (\frac{1}{2}\rho u^2 + \frac{1}{2}B^2) + \boldsymbol{\nabla}.\boldsymbol{\mathcal{F}}_1 = -\boldsymbol{u}.\boldsymbol{\nabla}(p) - q$ 

where q is the total irreversible heating and where the flux  $\mathcal{F}_1$  reads:

 $\mathcal{F}_1 = \mathbf{u}(\frac{1}{2}\rho u^2) + (\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{u}) \times \mathbf{B} + \nu \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{u} + \eta \mathbf{J} \times \mathbf{B}.$ 

We compute the left hand side of equation (A) along a time step of the simulation, using the flux estimates of each dissipative half-step for the two dissipative contributions to  $\mathcal{F}_1$  and using a Lax-Friedrich estimate for its non-dissipative part (evaluated within the Godunov step). We estimate  $-u.\nabla(p)$  at the middle of the time step thanks to the same TVD (total variation diminishing) slopes used in the Godunov step. Finally, we recover q by subtraction of the left hand side. The heating measured thanks to this method 1 for n = 128and u = 1 is the blue dashed line on figure A.1. It overestimates the actual total heating by about 60%, but provides roughly the correct shape for the heating: positive and symmetric, only too wide spread compared to the exact solution. Note that the accuracy for the total heating is much better in higher Mach number shocks (the relative error falls down to only 13% for an inflow speed u = 4).

#### Method 2

$$\partial_t (\frac{1}{2}\rho u^2 + \frac{1}{2}B^2 + p\log\rho) + \boldsymbol{\nabla}.\boldsymbol{\mathcal{F}}_2 = -q$$
where
$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{F}}_2 = -q$$

 $\mathcal{F}_2 = \mathcal{F}_1 + \mathbf{u}p(\log \rho + 1).$ 

We compute the flux as in method 1 (the additional contribution is computed in the Godunov step using a Lax-Friedrich estimate). This method recovers the total heating through the shock with a much better accuracy (to within 4% for n = 128 and u = 1), but the shape of the heating is asymmetric, with strong negative values on the pre-shock side.

$ u_f$ or $\mu_f$ $/10^{-3}$	n = 128	n = 256	n = 512	n = 1024	n = 2048
cst. $\nu_0 = 10^{-3}, u = 1$	3.9(58%)	2.3~(54%)	1.5~(41%)	1.2 (25%)	1.1 (13%)
same, for $u = 4$	9.6 (-13%)	5.1 (-1%)	2.9~(1%)	1.9~(3%)	1.4~(4%)
cst. $\mu_0 = 10^{-3}, u = 1$	5.8~(60%)	3.2(57%)	2.0~(45%)	1.4(35%)	1.1 (20%)
same, for $u = 4$	26.7 (-6%)	13.4 (-2%)	7.0 (-3%)	3.8(-2%)	2.1 (-2%)
No visc. $u = 1$	3.3~(63%)	1.6~(63%)	0.8~(54%)	0.4~(60%)	0.2~(54%)
No visc. $u = 4$	8.8 (-21%)	4.3 (-3%)	2.1 (-4%)	1.1 (-4%)	0.5~(-6%)

Table A.1: Adjusted viscosity of shocks with constant  $\nu$ , constant  $\mu$  or no viscosity at all. In the case without viscosity, it is the adjusted constant  $\nu_f$  which is given, as it fits the shock profile much better. The percentages in parenthesis give the difference between the total irreversible heating as recovered from the method 1 and the theoretical one.

#### Method 3

 $\begin{array}{l} \partial_t(\frac{1}{2}\rho u^2+\frac{1}{2}B^2)+\boldsymbol{\nabla}.\boldsymbol{\mathcal{F}_3}=p\boldsymbol{\nabla}.\boldsymbol{u}-q\\ \text{where} \end{array}$ 

 $\mathcal{F}_3 = \mathcal{F}_1 + \mathbf{u}p.$ 

We evaluate q as in the previous two methods. The shape of the heating is positive but its shape is asymmetric and the total heating is grossly overestimated (by 180% for n = 128 and u = 1, not shown on figure A.1).

#### Conclusion

We adopt method 1 as the best compromise between methods 1, 2 and 3. With this method, we locally recover rather well the amount of heating, but we should be aware that the strongest bursts of dissipation are in reality about 4 times thinner than our simulations show. On the other hand, the slow convergence to the shock solution justifies our use of a moderate resolution associated to this recovering scheme: we would not gain much by running our simulations at twice the resolution. Finally, note that such a slow convergence could lure an unaware numericist into thinking his simulations are converged...

Although thanks to this method we gained access to the total numerical dissipation, we could not find an accurate way to separate the numerical dissipation of magnetic fields from the numerical dissipation of kinetic energy. In order to compute corrected values for the viscous heating and the ohmic heating, we simply shared between each of them the total numerical heating in proportion to their relative physical values, namely:

 $\varepsilon_v^{\text{corr.}} = q\varepsilon_v/(\varepsilon_v + \varepsilon_o)$  and conversely for  $\varepsilon_o^{\text{corr.}}$ . Whenever the numerical dissipation is negative (i.e.  $q < \varepsilon_v + \varepsilon_o$ ), we simply set  $\varepsilon_v^{\text{corr.}} = \varepsilon_v$  and  $\varepsilon_o^{\text{corr.}} = \varepsilon_o$ .

#### Additional notes

Method 0 can be used in various circumstances to estimate the effective viscosity of the scheme. We computed various shocks (u = 1 or u = 4) at various resolutions and with a variety of modes of dissipation: a physical viscosity with constant $\nu_0$  or with constant $\mu_0$ , or no viscosity at all. To each of these shocks, we fitted steady-state shocks model parametrised by either a constant dynamic viscosity  $\mu_f$  or a constant viscosity coefficient  $\nu_f$ . Table A.1 summarises the results of this short study.

The estimated  $\nu_f$  (or  $\mu_f$ ) gives an idea of the effective width of the shock compared to the physical width it should have.

The adjusted viscosity depends on the shock velocity u, with larger spread for higher velocities.

Constant  $\mu_0$  viscosity, as should be used in principle for an isothermal gas, is much harder to resolve due to the density dependence of the viscous length. The resulting fits are usually much worse, because the heating shape is asymmetric, with a sharper edge at higher densities on the post-shock side. This is felt especially at large velocity u.

Shocks without physical viscosity are much better adjusted by a constant  $\nu_f$  than by a constant  $\mu_f$ : it is tempting to associate the constant size of the zones to an effective mean free path. However, the best fit

value depends on the velocity of the shock: the length of the effective mean free path depends on the shock velocity... This non-linear effect of numerical dissipation is also seen in Lesaffre & Balbus (2007) in the case of the ZEUS3D code.

Interestingly, in the case of shocks at our fiducial resolution (n = 128), there is no obvious gain between adding a physical viscous term or letting the scheme take care of viscosity. However, we postulate that it makes a difference in the subsonic regions of the flow, where the scheme dissipation is in principle very small.

Finally, due to the form of  $\lambda_v = \nu / \max(c, |u|)$ , it is not equivalent to perform Mach 4 simulations by raising the r.m.s. velocity or by diminishing c, for a given vicous coefficient  $\nu$ . We decreased c from 1 to 1/4, everything else being kept fixed. That way, the resolution power of our scheme remains constant with respect to the shocks.

# Bibliography

- M. Andersson. Interstellar grain alignment. In A. Lazarian, E. M. Gouveia Dal Pino, and C. Melioli, editors, Magnetic Fields in Diffuse Media. Springer, 2015.
- F. Anselmet, Y. I. Gagne, E. J. Hopfinger, and R. A. Antonia. High-order velocity structure functions in turbulent shear flows. J. Fluid Mech, 140(63):63–89, 1984.
- F. Anselmet, R. A. Antonia, and L. Danaila. Turbulent flows and intermittency in laboratory experiments. *Planet. Space Sci.*, 49(12):1177–1191, 2001.
- R. Arratia, L. Goldstein, L. Gordon, et al. Poisson approximation and the chen-stein method. Stat. Sci., 5 (4):403–424, 1990.
- S. A. Balbus and C. Terquem. Linear Analysis of the Hall Effect in Protostellar Disks. ApJ, 552:235–247, May 2001. doi: 10.1086/320452.
- S. Banerjee and S. Galtier. Exact relation with two-point correlation functions and phenomenological approach for compressible magnetohydrodynamic turbulence. *Phys. Rev. E*, 87(1):013019, 2013.
- G. K. Batchelor. The theory of homogeneous turbulence. Cambridge university press, 1953.
- G. K. Batchelor and A. A. Townsend. The nature of turbulent motion at large wave-numbers. *Proc. R. Soc.* A, 199(1057):238–255, 1949.
- C. M. Bender and S. A. Orszag. Advanced mathematical methods for scientists and engineers I: Asymptotic methods and perturbation theory, volume 1. Springer, 1999.
- R. Benzi, S. Ciliberto, R. Tripiccione, C. Baudet, F. Massaioli, and S. Succi. Extended self-similarity in turbulent flows. *Phys. Rev. E*, 48:R29–R32, Jul 1993. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevE.48.R29.
- O. M. Blaes and S. A. Balbus. Local shear instabilities in weakly ionized, weakly magnetized disks. ApJ, 421:163–177, January 1994. doi: 10.1086/173634.
- S. Boldyrev, Å. Nordlund, and P. Padoan. Scaling relations of supersonic turbulence in star-forming molecular clouds. The Astrophysical Journal, 573(2):678, 2002.
- A. Brandenburg and E. G. Zweibel. The formation of sharp structures by ambipolar diffusion. ApJ, 427: L91–L94, June 1994. doi: 10.1086/187372.
- A. Brandenburg and E. G. Zweibel. Effects of Pressure and Resistivity on the Ambipolar Diffusion Singularity: Too Little, Too Late. ApJ, 448:734, August 1995. doi: 10.1086/176001.
- A. Brandenburg, A. Nordlund, R. F. Stein, and U. Torkelsson. Dynamo-generated Turbulence and Large-Scale Magnetic Fields in a Keplerian Shear Flow. ApJ, 446:741, June 1995. doi: 10.1086/175831.
- M. Brio and C. C. Wu. An upwind differencing scheme for the equations of ideal magnetohydrodynamics. J. Comput. Phys., 75(2):400–422, 1988.
- C. Canuto, M. Y. Hussaini, A. Quarteroni, and T. A. Zang. Spectral methods in fluid dynamics. Springer-Verlag, 1988.
- A. Clauset, C. R. Shalizi, and M. E. J. Newman. Power-Law Distributions in Empirical Data. SIAM Rev., 51:661–703, January 2009. doi: 10.1137/070710111.
- T. C. Corke, H. M. Nagib, and Y. G. Guezennec. A new view on origin, role and manipulation of large scales in turbulent boundary layers. *Interim Report Illinois Inst. of Tech., Chicago.*, 1, 1982.
- D. P. Cox. The Three-Phase Interstellar Medium Revisited. ARA&A, 43:337–385, September 2005. doi: 10.1146/annurev.astro.43.072103.150615.
- R. M. Crutcher. Magnetic Fields in Molecular Clouds. ARA&A, 50:29–63, September 2012. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-astro-081811-125514.
- T. Dombre, U. Frisch, M. Henon, J. M. Greene, and A. M. Soward. Chaotic streamlines in the ABC flows. J. Fluid Mech., 167:353–391, June 1986. doi: 10.1017/S0022112086002859.
- B. T. Draine. Physics of the Interstellar and Intergalactic Medium. Princeton University Press, 2011.
- B. T. Draine, W. G. Roberge, and A. Dalgarno. Magnetohydrodynamic shock waves in molecular clouds. ApJ, 264:485–507, January 1983. doi: 10.1086/160617.
- B. Dubrulle. Intermittency in fully developed turbulence: Log-poisson statistics and generalized scale covariance. Phys. Rev. Lett., 73(7):959, 1994.
- R. Ecke. The turbulence problem an experimentalists perspective. Los Alam. Sci., 29, 2005.
- A. S. Eddington. Diffuse matter in interstellar space. The Obs., 49:304–306, October 1926.
- B. G. Elmegreen. Energy dissipation in clumpy magnetic clouds. ApJ, 299:196–210, December 1985. doi: 10.1086/163692.
- B. G. Elmegreen and J. Scalo. Interstellar turbulence i: Observations and processes. ARA&A, 42(1):211–273, 2004. doi: 10.1146/annurev.astro.41.011802.094859.
- E. Falgarone and J.-L. Puget. The intermittency of turbulence in interstellar clouds: implications for the gas kinetic temperature and decoupling of heavy particles from the gas motions. A&A, 293:840–852, January 1995.
- C. Federrath, J. Roman-Duval, R. S. Klessen, W. Schmidt, and M.-M. Mac Low. Comparing the statistics of interstellar turbulence in simulations and observations. Solenoidal versus compressive turbulence forcing. A&A, 512:A81, March 2010a. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361/200912437.
- C. Federrath, J. Roman-Duval, R. S. Klessen, W. Schmidt, and M.-M. Mac Low. Comparing the statistics of interstellar turbulence in simulations and observations. Solenoidal versus compressive turbulence forcing. A&A, 512:A81, March 2010b. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361/200912437.
- C. Federrath, J. Schober, S. Bovino, and D. R. G. Schleicher. The Turbulent Dynamo in Highly Compressible Supersonic Plasmas. ApJ, 797:L19, December 2014. doi: 10.1088/2041-8205/797/2/L19.
- K. M. Ferrière. The interstellar environment of our galaxy. Rev. Mod. Phys., 73:1031–1066, October 2001. doi: 10.1103/RevModPhys.73.1031.
- D. R. Flower and G. Pineau des Forets. Non-thermal sputtering of interstellar grains in magnetohydrodynamic shocks. MNRAS, 275:1049–1056, August 1995.
- D. R. Flower, G. Pineau des Forets, and T. W. Hartquist. Theoretical studies of interstellar molecular shocks. I - General formulation and effects of the ion-molecule chemistry. MNRAS, 216:775–794, October 1985.
- C. Foias, O. Manley, R. Rosa, and R. Temam. *Navier-Stokes equations and turbulence*. Taylor & Francis, 2002.

- K. O. Friedrichs and P. D. Lax. Systems of conservation equations with a convex extension. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 68(8):1686–1688, 1971.
- U. Frisch. Turbulence: the legacy of A. N. Kolmogorov. Cambridge university press, 1995.
- U. Frisch and G. Parisi. On the singularity structure of fully developed turbulence. Les Houches, 1985.
- U. Frisch, P.-L. Sulem, and M. Nelkin. A simple dynamical model of intermittent fully developed turbulence. J. Fluid Mech., 87(04):719–736, 1978.
- S. Fromang and J. Papaloizou. MHD simulations of the magnetorotational instability in a shearing box with zero net flux. I. The issue of convergence. A&A, 476:1113–1122, December 2007. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361: 20077942.
- S. Fromang, P. Hennebelle, and R. Teyssier. A high order Godunov scheme with constrained transport and adaptive mesh refinement for astrophysical magnetohydrodynamics. A&A, 457:371–384, October 2006. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361:20065371.
- S. Fromang, J. Papaloizou, G. Lesur, and T. Heinemann. MHD simulations of the magnetorotational instability in a shearing box with zero net flux. II. The effect of transport coefficients. A&A, 476:1123–1132, December 2007. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361:20077943.
- B. M. Gaensler, M. Haverkorn, B. Burkhart, K. J. Newton-McGee, R. D. Ekers, A. Lazarian, N. M. McClure-Griffiths, T. Robishaw, J. M. Dickey, and A. J. Green. Low-mach-number turbulence in interstellar gas revealed by radio polarization gradients. *Nature*, 478(7368):214–217, 2011.
- G. Gallavotti. Some rigorous results about 3d navier-stokes. Les Houches, pages 45–81, 1992.
- S. Galtier and S. Banerjee. Exact relation for correlation functions in compressible isothermal turbulence. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 107(13):134501, 2011.
- B. Godard, E. Falgarone, and G. Pineau Des Forêts. Models of turbulent dissipation regions in the diffuse interstellar medium. A&A, 495:847–867, March 2009. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361:200810803.
- B. Godard, E. Falgarone, and G. Pineau des Forêts. Chemical probes of turbulence in the diffuse medium: the TDR model. A&A, 570:A27, October 2014. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361/201423526.
- S. K. Godunov. A difference method for numerical calculation of discontinuous solutions of the equations of hydrodynamics. *Matem. Sbor.*, 89(3):271–306, 1959.
- P. Goldreich and S. Sridhar. Toward a theory of interstellar turbulence. 2: Strong alfvenic turbulence. ApJ, 438:763–775, January 1995. doi: 10.1086/175121.
- D. Gottlieb and S. A. Orszag. Numerical analysis of spectral methods. SIAM, 1977.
- H. L. Grant, R. W. Stewart, and A. Moilliet. Turbulence spectra from a tidal channel. J. Fluid Mech., 12 (02):241–268, 1962.
- R. Grauer, J. Krug, and C. Marliani. Scaling of high-order structure functions in magnetohydrodynamic turbulence. *Phys. Lett. A*, 195(5):335–338, 1994.
- W. Heisenberg. On the theory of statistical and isotropic turbulence. Proc. R. Soc. A, pages 402–406, 1948.
- P. Hennebelle and E. Audit. On the structure of the turbulent interstellar atomic hydrogen. I. Physical characteristics. Influence and nature of turbulence in a thermally bistable flow. A&A, 465:431–443, April 2007. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361:20066139.
- P. Hily-Blant, J. Pety, and E. Falgarone. Small-Scale Dissipative Structures of Diffuse ISM Turbulence: I CO Diagnostics. In M. Haverkorn and W. M. Goss, editors, SINS - Small Ionized and Neutral Structures in the Diffuse Interstellar Medium, volume 365 of Astronomical Society of the Pacific Conference Series, page 184, July 2007.

- P. Hily-Blant, E. Falgarone, and J. Pety. Dissipative structures of diffuse molecular gas. III. Small-scale intermittency of intense velocity-shears. A&A, 481:367–380, April 2008a. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361:20078423.
- P. Hily-Blant, E. Falgarone, and J. Pety. Dissipative structures of diffuse molecular gas. III. Small-scale intermittency of intense velocity-shears. A&A, 481:367–380, April 2008b. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361:20078423.
- C. Hirsch. Numerical computation of internal and external flows: The fundamentals of computational fluid dynamics, volume 1. Butterworth-Heinemann, 2007.
- T. Hoang and A. Lazarian. Radiative torque alignment: essential physical processes. MNRAS, 388:117–143, July 2008. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2966.2008.13249.x.
- M. Hossain, Matthaeus W. H., and S. Ghosh. On computing high order galerkin products. Comput. Phys. Commun., 69(1):1 - 6, 1992. ISSN 0010-4655. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0010-4655(92)90123-G. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/001046559290123G.
- P. S. Iroshnikov. Turbulence of a conducting fluid in a strong magnetic field. Sov. Astron., 7:566, 1964.
- T. Ishihara, T. Gotoh, and Y. Kaneda. Study of high-reynolds number isotropic turbulence by direct numerical simulation. Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech., 41:165–180, 2009.
- Y. Kaneda and T. Ishihara. High-resolution direct numerical simulation of turbulence. J. Turbul., 2006.
- L. V. Keller and A. A. Friedmann. Differentialgleichung für die turbulente bewegung einer kompressiblen flüssigkeit. Proc. 1st Intern. Cong. Appl. Mech, pages 395–405, 1924.
- R. M. Kerr. Higher-order derivative correlations and the alignment of small-scale structures in isotropic numerical turbulence. J. Fluid Mech., 153:31–58, 1985.
- J. Kim, D. Ryu, T. W. Jones, and S. S. Hong. A multidimensional code for isothermal magnetohydrodynamic flows in astrophysics. ApJ, 514(1):506, 1999.
- A. Kolmogorov. The local structure of turbulence in incompressible viscous fluid for very large reynolds' numbers. In Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, volume 30, pages 301–305, 1941a.
- A. N. Kolmogorov. The local structure of turbulence in incompressible viscous fluid for very large reynolds numbersn]. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 30:299–303, 1941b.
- A. N. Kolmogorov. Dissipation of energy in locally isotropic turbulence. In Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, volume 32, pages 16–18, 1941c.
- A. N. Kolmogorov. A refinement of previous hypotheses concerning the local structure of turbulence in a viscous incompressible fluid at high reynolds number. J. Fluid Mech., 13(01):82–85, 1962.
- R. H. Kraichnan. Inertial-range spectrum of hydromagnetic turbulence. Phys. Fluids, 8(7):1385–1387, 1965. doi: 10.1063/1.1761412.
- A. G. Kritsuk, M. L. Norman, P. Padoan, and R. Wagner. The Statistics of Supersonic Isothermal Turbulence. ApJ, 665:416–431, August 2007. doi: 10.1086/519443.
- A. G. Kritsuk, S. D. Ustyugov, M. L. Norman, and P. Padoan. Simulations of Supersonic Turbulence in Molecular Clouds: Evidence for a New Universality. In N. V. Pogorelov, E. Audit, P. Colella, and G. P. Zank, editors, *Numerical Modeling of Space Plasma Flows: ASTRONUM-2008*, volume 406 of *Astronomical Society of the Pacific Conference Series*, page 15, April 2009.
- A. G. Kritsuk, A. Nordlund, D. Collins, P. Padoan, M. L. Norman, T. Abel, R. Banerjee, C. Federrath, M. Flock, D. Lee, P. S. Li, W.-C. Müller, R. Teyssier, S. D. Ustyugov, C. Vogel, and H. Xu. Comparing Numerical Methods for Isothermal Magnetized Supersonic Turbulence. *ApJ*, 737:13, August 2011. doi: 10.1088/0004-637X/737/1/13.

- T. Kudoh and S. Basu. Three-dimensional Simulation of Magnetized Cloud Fragmentation Induced by Nonlinear Flows and Ambipolar Diffusion. ApJ, 679:L97–L100, June 2008. doi: 10.1086/589618.
- T. Kudoh and S. Basu. Formation of Collapsing Cores in Subcritical Magnetic Clouds: Three-dimensional Magnetohydrodynamic Simulations with Ambipolar Diffusion. ApJ, 728:123, February 2011. doi: 10. 1088/0004-637X/728/2/123.
- L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz. *Electrodynamics of continuous media*, volume 364. Pergamon press Oxford, 1960.
- L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz. Fluid Mechanics: Volume 6 (Course Of Theoretical Physics). Butterworth-Heinemann, 1987.
- P. Lesaffre and S. A. Balbus. Exact shearing box solutions of magnetohydrodynamic flows with resistivity, viscosity and cooling. MNRAS, 381:319–333, October 2007. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2966.2007.12270.x.
- P. Lesaffre, G. Pineau des Forêts, B. Godard, P. Guillard, F. Boulanger, and E. Falgarone. Low-velocity shocks: signatures of turbulent dissipation in diffuse irradiated gas. A&A, 550:A106, February 2013. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361/201219928.
- M. Lesieur. Turbulence in fluids, volume 3. Kluwer academic publishers Dordrecht, 1997.
- R. J. LeVeque. Numerical methods for conservation laws, volume 132. Springer, 1992.
- P. S. Li, C. F. McKee, and R. I. Klein. The heavy-ion approximation for ambipolar diffusion calculations for weakly ionized plasmas. ApJ, 653(2):1280, 2006.
- P. S. Li, C. F. McKee, and R. I. Klein. The Heavy-Ion Approximation for Ambipolar Diffusion Calculations for Weakly Ionized Plasmas. ApJ, 653:1280–1291, December 2006. doi: 10.1086/508977.
- P. S. Li, C. F. McKee, R. I. Klein, and R. T. Fisher. Sub-Alfvénic Nonideal MHD Turbulence Simulations with Ambipolar Diffusion. I. Turbulence Statistics. ApJ, 684:380–394, September 2008. doi: 10.1086/589874.
- P. S. Li, C. F. McKee, and R. I. Klein. Sub-Alfvénic Non-ideal Magnetohydrodynamic Turbulence Simulations with Ambipolar Diffusion. III. Implications for Observations and Turbulent Enhancement. ApJ, 744:73, January 2012. doi: 10.1088/0004-637X/744/1/73.
- P. S. Li, A. Myers, and C. F. McKee. Ambipolar diffusion heating in turbulent systems. ApJ, 760(1):33, 2012.
- M.-M. Mac Low, M. L. Norman, A. Konigl, and M. Wardle. Incorporation of ambipolar diffusion into the ZEUS magetohydrodynamics code. ApJ, 442:726–735, April 1995. doi: 10.1086/175477.
- B. B. Mandelbrot. Possible refinement of the lognormal hypothesis concerning the distribution of energy dissipation in intermittent turbulence. In *Statistical models and turbulence*, pages 333–351. Springer, 1972.
- B. B. Mandelbrot. Negative fractal dimensions and multifractals. *Physica A*, 163(1):306–315, 1990.
- B. B. Mandelbrot. Random multifractals: negative dimensions and the resulting limitations of the thermodynamic formalism. Proc. R. Soc. A, 434(1890):79–88, 1991.
- P. Manneville. Instabilités, chaos et turbulence. Editions Ecole Polytechnique, 2004.
- J. Masson, R. Teyssier, C. Mulet-Marquis, P. Hennebelle, and G. Chabrier. Incorporating Ambipolar and Ohmic Diffusion in the AMR MHD Code RAMSES. ApJS, 201:24, August 2012. doi: 10.1088/0067-0049/ 201/2/24.
- C. F. McKee and J. P. Ostriker. A theory of the interstellar medium Three components regulated by supernova explosions in an inhomogeneous substrate. ApJ, 218:148–169, November 1977. doi: 10.1086/ 155667.

- C. F. McKee, P. S. Li, and R. I. Klein. Sub-Alfvénic Non-ideal MHD Turbulence Simulations with Ambipolar Diffusion. II. Comparison with Observation, Clump Properties, and Scaling to Physical Units. ApJ, 720: 1612–1634, September 2010. doi: 10.1088/0004-637X/720/2/1612.
- C. F. McKee, P. S. Li, and R. I. Klein. Sub-alfvnic non-ideal mhd turbulence simulations with ambipolar diffusion. ii. comparison with observation, clump properties, and scaling to physical units. ApJ, 720(2): 1612, 2010.
- L. Mestel and L. Spitzer, Jr. Star formation in magnetic dust clouds. MNRAS, 116:503, 1956.
- H. K. Moffatt. Field Generation in Electrically Conducting Fluids. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, London, New York, Melbourne, 1978.
- H. K. Moffatt and A. Tsinober. Helicity in laminar and turbulent flow. Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech., 24(1): 281–312, 1992.
- F. Moisy and J. Jiménez. Geometry and clustering of intense structures in isotropic turbulence. J. Fluid Mech., 513:111–133, August 2004. doi: 10.1017/S0022112004009802.
- F. Moisy and J. Jiménez. Geometry and clustering of intense structures in isotropic turbulence. J. Fluid Mech., 513:111–133, 2004.
- G. Momferratos, P. Lesaffre, E. Falgarone, and G. Pineau des Forêts. Turbulent energy dissipation and intermittency in ambipolar diffusion magnetohydrodynamics. MNRAS, 443:86–101, September 2014. doi: 10.1093/mnras/stu853.
- L. Monchick and J. Schaefer. Theoretical studies of H2-H2 collisions. II. Scattering and transport cross sections of hydrogen at low energies: Tests of a new ab initio vibrotor potential. J. Chem. Phys., 73: 6153–6161, December 1980. doi: 10.1063/1.440107.
- A. S. Monin and A. M. Yaglom. Statistical fluid mechanics: mechanics of turbulence, volume 1. Courier Dover Publications, 2007a.
- A. S. Monin and A. M. Yaglom. Statistical fluid mechanics: mechanics of turbulence, volume 2. Courier Dover Publications, 2007b.
- D. J. Mullan. The structure of transverse hydromagnetic shocks in regions oflow ionization. *MNRAS*, 153: 145, 1971.
- W.-C. Müller and D. Biskamp. Scaling properties of three-dimensional magnetohydrodynamic turbulence. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 84(3):475, 2000.
- F. Nakamura and Z.-Y. Li. Quiescent Cores and the Efficiency of Turbulence-accelerated, Magnetically Regulated Star Formation. ApJ, 631:411–428, September 2005. doi: 10.1086/432606.
- M. Nakamura, I. L. Tregillis, H. Li, and S. Li. A Numerical Model of Hercules A by Magnetic Tower: Jet/Lobe Transition, Wiggling, and the Magnetic Field Distribution. ApJ, 686:843–850, October 2008. doi: 10.1086/591222.
- E. A. Novikov. Intermittency and scale similarity in the structure of a turbulent plow: Pmm vol. 35, n 2, 1971, pp. 266–277. J. Appl. Math. Mech., 35(2):231–241, 1971.
- E. A. Novikov and R. W. Stewart. The intermittency of turbulence and the spectrum of energy dissipation fluctuations. *Izv. Geophys. Ser*, 3:408–413, 1964.
- A. M. Obukhov. Spectral energy distribution in a turbulent flow. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 32(1):22–24, 1941.
- A. M. Obukhov. Cr acad. sci. urss 32, 19 (1941). J. Fluid Mech, 13:77, 1962.

- J. S. Oishi and M.-M. Mac Low. The Inability of Ambipolar Diffusion to Set a Characteristic Mass Scale in Molecular Clouds. ApJ, 638:281–285, February 2006a. doi: 10.1086/498818.
- J. S. Oishi and M.-M. Mac Low. The Inability of Ambipolar Diffusion to Set a Characteristic Mass Scale in Molecular Clouds. ApJ, 638:281–285, February 2006b. doi: 10.1086/498818.
- L. Onsager. The distribution of energy in turbulence. Phys. Rev., 68(11-1):286-286, 1945.
- S. A. Orszag. Numerical simulation of incompressible flows within simple boundaries: accuracy. J. Fluid Mech, 49(1):75–112, 1971.
- S. A. Orszag and G. S. Patterson. Numerical simulation of three-dimensional homogeneous isotropic turbulence. Phys. Rev. Lett., 28:76–79, 1972.
- P. Padoan, E. Zweibel, and Å. Nordlund. Ambipolar Drift Heating in Turbulent Molecular Clouds. ApJ, 540:332–341, September 2000. doi: 10.1086/309299.
- P. Padoan, R. Jimenez, Å. Nordlund, and S. Boldyrev. Structure function scaling in compressible superalfvénic mhd turbulence. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 92(19):191102, 2004.
- G. Paladin and A. Vulpiani. Anomalous scaling laws in multifractal objects. Phys. Rep., 156(4):147–225, 1987.
- T. Passot and A. Pouquet. Numerical simulation of compressible homogeneous flows in the turbulent regime. J. Fluid Mech., 181:441–466, 1987.
- T. Passot, E. Vazquez-Semadeni, and A. Pouquet. A turbulent model for the interstellar medium. ii. magnetic fields and rotation. *ApJ*, 455:536, 1995.
- G. S. Patterson and S. A. Orszag. Spectral calculations of isotropic turbulence: Efficient removal of aliasing interactions. *Phys. Fluids*, 14(11):2538–2541, 1971a. doi: 10.1063/1.1693365.
- G. S. Patterson and S. A. Orszag. Spectral calculations of isotropic turbulence: Efficient removal of aliasing interactions. *Phys. Fluids*, 14:2538, 1971b.
- H. Politano and A. Pouquet. Model of intermittency in magnetohydrodynamic turbulence. Phys. Rev. E, 52:636–641, Jul 1995. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevE.52.636.
- H. Politano and A. Pouquet. Dynamical length scales for turbulent magnetized flows. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 25:273–276, 1998. doi: 10.1029/97GL03642.
- W. H. Press. Numerical recipes 3rd edition: The art of scientific computing. Cambridge university press, 2007.
- O. Reynolds. An experimental investigation of the circumstances which determine whether the motion of water shall be direct or sinuous, and of the law of resistance in parallel channels. Proc. R. Soc., 35 (224-226):84–99, 1883.
- L. F. Richardson. {Weather Prediction by Numerical Process}. Cambridge University Press, 1922.
- J. M. Scalo. Heating of dense interstellar clouds by magnetic ion slip A constraint on cloud field strengths. ApJ, 213:705–711, May 1977. doi: 10.1086/155200.
- Z.-S. She and E. Leveque. Universal scaling laws in fully developed turbulence. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 72:336–339, Jan 1994a. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.72.336.
- Z.-S. She and E. Leveque. Universal scaling laws in fully developed turbulence. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 72(3):336, 1994b.
- Z.-S. She and E. C. Waymire. Quantized energy cascade and log-poisson statistics in fully developed turbulence. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 74(2):262, 1995.

- E. D. Siggia. Numerical study of small-scale intermittency in three-dimensional turbulence. J. Fluid Mech., 107:375–406, 1981.
- S. R. Signorini and C. R. McClain. Environmental factors controlling the barents sea spring-summer phytoplankton blooms. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 36(10), 2009.
- I. I. Gikhman A. V. Skorokhod and I. Gikhman. *Introduction to the theory of random processes*. WB Saunders, Philadelphia, 1969.
- T. P. Snow and B. J. McCall. Diffuse Atomic and Molecular Clouds. ARA&A, 44:367–414, September 2006. doi: 10.1146/annurev.astro.43.072103.150624.
- L. Spitzer. Physical Processes in the Interstellar Medium. Wiley, May 1998.
- K. R. Sreenivasan. Fractals and multifractals in fluid turbulence. Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech., 23(1):539–604, 1991.
- K. R. Sreenivasan and R. A. Antonia. The phenomenology of small-scale turbulence. Annu. Rev. Fluid Mech., 29(1):435–472, 1997.
- P. Swings. Les constituants physiques de l'espace interstellaire. AnAp., 1:39, January 1938.
- G. I. Taylor. Statistical theory of turbulence. Proc. R. Soc. A, 151(873):421-444, 1935.
- R. Teyssier. Cosmological hydrodynamics with adaptive mesh refinement. A new high resolution code called RAMSES. A&A, 385:337–364, April 2002. doi: 10.1051/0004-6361:20011817.
- A. G. G. M. Tielens. The molecular universe. Rev. Mod. Phys., 85:1021-1081, Jul 2013. doi: 10.1103/ RevModPhys.85.1021. URL http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/RevModPhys.85.1021.
- E. F. Toro. *Riemann solvers and numerical methods for fluid dynamics: a practical introduction*. Springer, 2009.
- G. Tóth. Simulations of the Wardle Instability of C-Type Shock Waves. Ap&SS, 233:301–305, November 1995. doi: 10.1007/BF00627363.
- V. M. Uritsky, A. Pouquet, D. Rosenberg, P. D. Mininni, and E. F. Donovan. Structures in magnetohydrodynamic turbulence: Detection and scaling. *Phys. Rev. E*, 82:056326, Nov 2010. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevE.82.056326.
- E. Vazquez-Semadeni, T. Passot, and A. Pouquet. A turbulent model for the interstellar medium. 1: Threshold star formation and self-gravity. ApJ, 441:702–725, 1995.
- J. G. Vestuto, E. C. Ostriker, and J. M. Stone. Spectral Properties of Compressible Magnetohydrodynamic Turbulence from Numerical Simulations. ApJ, 590:858–873, June 2003. doi: 10.1086/375021.
- A. Vincent and M. Meneguzzi. The spatial structure and statistical properties of homogeneous turbulence. J. Fluid Mech., 225:1–20, 1991.
- M. I. Vishik and A. V. Fursikov. Mathematical problems of statistical hydromechanics, volume 9. Springer, 1988.
- Y. B. ZelDovich and Y. P. Raizer. *Physics of shock waves and high-temperature hydrodynamic phenomena*. Courier Dover Publications, 2012.
- E. G. Zweibel. Ambipolar drift in a turbulent medium. ApJ, 567(2):962, 2002.
- E. G. Zweibel and A. Brandenburg. Current sheet formation in the interstellar medium. ApJ, 478(2):563, 1997.
- E. G. Zweibel and K. Josafatsson. Hydromagnetic wave dissipation in molecular clouds. ApJ, 270:511–518, July 1983. doi: 10.1086/161144.